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Chapter 15 

Massachusetts Bay Colony 

Founded 

The Massachusetts Bay Colony (1628–1691), more formally 

The Colony of Massachusetts Bay, was an English settlement 

on the east coast of America around the Massachusetts Bay, 

the northernmost of the several colonies later reorganized as 

the Province of Massachusetts Bay. The lands of the settlement 

were in southern New England, with initial settlements on two 

natural harbors and surrounding land about 15.4 miles 

(24.8 km) apart—the areas around Salem and Boston, north of 

the previously established Plymouth Colony. The territory 

nominally administered by the Massachusetts Bay Colony 

covered much of central New England, including portions of 

Massachusetts, Maine, New Hampshire, and Connecticut.  

The Massachusetts Bay Colony was founded by the owners of 

the Massachusetts Bay Company, including investors in the 

failed Dorchester Company which had established a short-lived 

settlement on Cape Ann in 1623. 

The colony began in 1628 and was the company's second 

attempt at colonization. It was successful, with about 20,000 

people migrating to New England in the 1630s. The population 

was strongly Puritan, and governed largely by a small group of 

leaders strongly influenced by Puritan teachings. Its governors 

were elected by an electorate limited to freemen who had been 

formally admitted to the local church. As a consequence, the 
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colonial leadership showed little tolerance for other religious 

views, including Anglican, Quaker, and Baptist theologies.  

The colonists initially had good relationships with the local 

Indians, but frictions developed which led to the Pequot War 

(1636–38) and then to King Philip's War (1675–78), after which 

most of the Indians in southern New England made peace 

treaties with the colonists (apart from the Pequot tribe, whose 

survivors were largely absorbed into the Narragansett and 

Mohegan tribes following the Pequot War).  

The Massachusetts Bay Colony was economically successful, 

trading with England, Mexico and the West Indies. In addition 

to barter, transactions were done in English pounds, Spanish 

"pieces of eight", and wampum in the 1640s. A shortage of 

currency prompted the colony to call on the respected John 

Hull to establish a mint and serve as mintmaster and treasurer 

in 1652. The Hull Mint produced oak tree, willow tree, and 

pine tree shillings.  

Political differences with England after the English Restoration 

led to the revocation of the colonial charter in 1684. King 

James II established the Dominion of New England in 1686 to 

bring all of the New England colonies under firmer crown 

control. 

The Dominion collapsed after the Glorious Revolution of 1688 

deposed James, and the Massachusetts Bay Colony reverted to 

rule under its revoked charter until 1691, when a new charter 

was issued for the Province of Massachusetts Bay. 

This new province combined the Massachusetts Bay territories 

with those of the Plymouth Colony and proprietary holdings on 
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Nantucket and Martha's Vineyard. Sir William Phips arrived in 

1692 bearing the charter and formally took charge of the new 

province.  

History 

Before the arrival of European colonists on the eastern shore of 

New England, the area around Massachusetts Bay was the 

territory of several Algonquian-speaking peoples, including the 

Massachusetts, Nausets, and Wampanoags. The Pennacooks 

occupied the Merrimack River valley to the north, and the 

Nipmucs, Pocumtucs, and Mahicans occupied the western 

lands of Massachusetts, although some of those tribes were 

under tribute to the Mohawks, who were expanding 

aggressively from upstate New York. The total Indigenous 

population in 1620 has been estimated to be 7,000. This 

number was significantly larger as late as 1616; in later years, 

contemporaneous chroniclers interviewed Indigenous people 

who described a major pestilence which killed as many as two-

thirds of the population. The land-use patterns of the 

Indigenous people included plots cleared for agricultural 

purposes and woodland territories for hunting game. Land 

divisions among the tribes were well understood.  

During the early 17th century, several European explorers 

charted the area, including Samuel de Champlain and John 

Smith. Plans began in 1606 for the first permanent British 

settlements on the east coast of North America. On April 10, 

1606, King James I of England granted a charter forming two 

joint-stock companies. Neither of these corporations was given 

a name by this charter, but the territories were named as the 

"first Colony" and "second Colony", over which they were 
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respectively authorized to settle and to govern. Under this 

charter, the "first Colony" and the "second Colony" were to be 

ruled by a Council composed of 13 individuals in each colony. 

The charter provided for an additional council of 13 persons 

named "Council of Virginia" which had overarching 

responsibility for the combined enterprise.  

The "first Colony" ranged from the 34th- to 41st-degree 

latitude north; the "second Colony" ranged from the 38th- to 

45th-degree latitude. (Note that the "first Colony" and the 

"second Colony" overlapped. The 1629 charter of Charles I 

asserted that the second Colony ranged from 40th to 48th 

degrees north latitude, which reduced the overlap.) Investors 

from London were appointed to govern over any settlements in 

the "first Colony"; investors from the "Town of Plimouth in the 

County of Devon" were appointed to govern over any 

settlements in the "second Colony". The London Company 

proceeded to establish Jamestown. The Plymouth Company 

under the guidance of Sir Ferdinando Gorges covered the more 

northern area, including New England, and established the 

Sagadahoc Colony in 1607 in Maine. The experience proved 

exceptionally difficult for the 120 settlers, however, and the 

surviving colonists abandoned the colony after only one year. 

Gorges noted that "there was no more speech of settling 

plantations in those parts" for a number of years. English 

ships continued to come to the New England area for fishing 

and trade with the Indigenous population.  

Plymouth Colony 

In December 1620, a group of Pilgrims established Plymouth 

Colony just to the south of Massachusetts Bay, seeking to 



Pre–United States History: 1600–1699, Volume 3 

413 

 

preserve their cultural identity and attain religious freedom. 

Plymouth's colonists faced great hardships and earned few 

profits for their investors, who sold their interests to them in 

1627. Edward Winslow and William Bradford were two of the 

colony's leaders and were likely the authors of a work 

published in England in 1622 called Mourt's Relation. This 

book in some ways resembles a promotional tract intended to 

encourage further immigration. There were other short-lived 

colonial settlements in 1623 and 1624 at Weymouth, 

Massachusetts; Thomas Weston's Wessagusset Colony failed, 

as did an effort by Robert Gorges to establish an overarching 

colonial structure.  

Cape Ann settlement 

In 1623, the Plymouth Council for New England (successor to 

the Plymouth Company) established a small fishing village at 

Cape Ann under the supervision of the Dorchester Company, 

with Thomas Gardner as its overseer. This company was 

originally organized through the efforts of Puritan minister 

John White (1575–1648) of Dorchester, in the English county 

of Dorset. White has been called "the father of the 

Massachusetts Colony" because of his influence in establishing 

this settlement, even though he never emigrated. 

The Cape Ann settlement was not profitable, and the financial 

backers of the Dorchester Company terminated their support 

by the end of 1625. Their settlement was abandoned at 

present-day Gloucester, but a few settlers remained in the 

area, including Roger Conant, establishing a settlement a little 

further south at what is now Salem, near the village of the 

Naumkeag tribe.  



Pre–United States History: 1600–1699, Volume 3 

414 

 

Legal formation of the colony 

Archbishop William Laud was a favorite advisor of King Charles 

I and a dedicated Anglican, and he sought to suppress the 

religious practices of Puritans and other nonconforming beliefs 

in England. The persecution of many Puritans in the 1620s led 

them to believe that religious reform would not be possible 

while Charles was king, and many decided to seek a new life in 

the New World.  

John White continued to seek funding for a colony. On 19 

March 1627/8, the Council for New England issued a land 

grant to a new group of investors that included a few from the 

Dorchester Company. The land grant was for territory between 

the Charles River and Merrimack River that extended from "the 

Atlantick and westerne sea and ocean on the east parte, to the 

South sea on the west parte." 

The company to whom the grant was sold was styled "The New 

England Company for a Plantation in Massachusetts Bay". The 

company elected Matthew Cradock as its first governor and 

immediately began organizing provisions and recruiting 

settlers.  

The company sent approximately 100 new settlers with 

provisions to join Conant in 1628, led by Governor's Assistant 

John Endecott, one of the grantees. The next year, Naumkeag 

was renamed Salem and fortified by another 300 settlers led by 

Rev. Francis Higginson, one of the first ministers of the 

settlement. The first winters were difficult, with colonists 

struggling against starvation and disease, resulting in 

numerous deaths.  
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The company leaders sought a Royal Charter for the colony 

because they were concerned about the legality of conflicting 

land claims given to several companies (including the New 

England Company) for the little-known territories of the New 

World, and because of the increasing number of Puritans who 

wanted to join them. 

Charles granted the new charter on 4 March 1628/9, 

superseding the land grant and establishing a legal basis for 

the new English colony at Massachusetts, appointing Endecott 

as governor. It was not apparent whether Charles knew that 

the Company was meant to support the Puritan emigration, 

and he was likely left to assume that it was purely for business 

purposes, as was the custom. The charter omitted a significant 

clause: the location for the annual stockholders' meeting. 

Charles dissolved Parliament in 1629, whereupon the 

company's directors met to consider the possibility of moving 

the company's seat of governance to the colony. This was 

followed later that year by the Cambridge Agreement, in which 

a group of investors agreed to emigrate and work to buy out 

others who would not emigrate.  

The Massachusetts Bay Colony became the first English 

chartered colony whose board of governors did not reside in 

England. This independence helped the settlers to maintain 

their Puritan religious practices without interference from the 

king, Archbishop Laud, or the Anglican Church. The charter 

remained in force for 55 years; Charles II revoked it in 1684. 

Parliament passed legislation collectively called the Navigation 

Acts which attempted to prevent the colonists from trading 

with any nation other than England. Colonial resistance to 

those acts led King Charles to revoke the Massachusetts 
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charter and consolidate all the colonies in New England, New 

York, and New Jersey into the Dominion of New England.  

Territory claimed but never administered by the colonial 

government extended theoretically as far west as the Pacific 

Ocean. The Dutch colony of New Netherland disputed many of 

its territorial claims, arguing that they held rights to land 

beyond Rhode Island up to the western side of Cape Cod, under 

the jurisdiction of Plymouth Colony at the time.  

Colonial history 

A flotilla of ships sailed from England beginning in April 1630, 

sometimes known as the Winthrop Fleet. They began arriving 

at Salem in June and carried more than 700 colonists, 

Governor John Winthrop, and the colonial charter. Winthrop 

delivered his famous sermon "City upon a Hill" either before or 

during the voyage.  

Over the next ten years, about 20,000 Puritans emigrated from 

England to Massachusetts and the neighboring colonies during 

the Great Migration. Many ministers reacted to the repressive 

religious policies of England, making the trip with their 

congregations, among whom were John Cotton, Roger Williams, 

Thomas Hooker, and others. Religious divisions and the need 

for additional land prompted a number of new settlements that 

resulted in Connecticut Colony (by Hooker) and the Colony of 

Rhode Island and Providence Plantations (by Williams and 

others). 

Minister John Wheelwright was banished after the Antinomian 

controversy (like Anne Hutchinson), and he moved north to 

found Exeter, New Hampshire.  
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The advent of the Wars of the Three Kingdoms in 1639 brought 

a halt to major migration, and a significant number of men 

returned to England to fight in the war. Massachusetts 

authorities were sympathetic to the Parliamentary cause and 

had generally positive relationships with the governments of 

the English Commonwealth and the Protectorate of Oliver 

Cromwell. 

The colony's economy began to diversify in the 1640s, as the 

fur trading, lumber, and fishing industries found markets in 

Europe and the West Indies, and the colony's shipbuilding 

industry developed. The growth of a generation of people born 

in the colony and the rise of a merchant class began to slowly 

change the political and cultural landscape of the colony, even 

though its governance continued to be dominated by relatively 

conservative Puritans.  

Colonial support for the Commonwealth created tension after 

the throne was restored to Charles II in 1660. Charles sought 

to extend royal influence over the colonies, which 

Massachusetts resisted along with the other colonies. For 

example, the Massachusetts Bay colony repeatedly refused 

requests by Charles and his agents to allow the Church of 

England to become established, and the New England colonies 

generally resisted the Navigation Acts, laws that restricted 

colonial trade to England alone.  

The New England colonies were ravaged by King Philip's War 

(1675–76), when the Indigenous peoples of southern New 

England rose up against the colonists and were decisively 

defeated, although at great cost in life to all concerned. The 

Massachusetts frontier was particularly hard hit: several 
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communities in the Connecticut and Swift River valleys were 

abandoned. By the end of the war, most of the Indigenous 

population of southern New England made peace treaties with 

the colonists.  

Confrontation with England 

England had difficulty enforcing its laws and regulations in the 

Massachusetts Bay colony, as it was a joint-stock colony which 

was unlike the royal colonies and proprietary colonies that the 

English crown administered. Massachusetts Bay was largely 

self-governing with its own house of deputies, governor, and 

other self-appointed officers. The colony also did not keep its 

headquarters and oversight in London but moved them to the 

colony. The Massachusetts Bay colonists viewed themselves as 

something apart from their "mother country" of England 

because of this tradition of self-rule, coupled with the 

theocratic nature of New England Puritan society. The Puritan 

founders of Massachusetts and Plymouth saw themselves as 

having been divinely given their lands in the New World with a 

duty to implement and observe religious law.  

English colonists took control of New Netherland in 1664, and 

the crown sent royal commissioners to New England from the 

new Province of New York to investigate the status of the 

government and legal system of the colonies. These 

commissioners were to bring the New England colonies into a 

stronger connection with England, including allowing the 

crown to nominate the governor of the colony. The New 

England colonists refused, claiming that the King had no right 

to "supervise" Massachusetts Bay's laws and courts, and 

saying that they ought to continue as they were so long as they 
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remained within the legal rights and privileges of their charter. 

The Commissioners asked that the colony pay its obligated 20-

percent of all gold and silver found in New England, but the 

colonists responded that they were "not obligated to the king 

but by civility".  

Massachusetts Bay extended the right to vote only to Puritans, 

but the population of the colony was increasing and the non-

Puritan population was growing along with it; thus, tensions 

and conflicts were growing concerning the future direction of 

the colony. Many wealthy merchants and colonists wished to 

expand their economic base and commercial interests and saw 

the conservative Puritan leadership as thwarting that. Even 

among Puritan society, the younger generation wished to 

liberalize society in a way which would help with commerce. 

Those who wanted Massachusetts Bay and New England to be a 

place for religious observance and theocracy were most hostile 

to any change in governance. The Crown learned of these 

divisions and sought to include non-Puritans in the leadership 

in the hope of managing the colony.  

The charges of insubordination against the colony included 

denying the crown's authority to legislate in New England, 

asserting that Massachusetts Bay was governing in the 

Province of New Hampshire and Maine, and denying freedom of 

conscience. However, chief among the colonists' transgression 

of coining money (the pine tree shilling) and their violations of 

the Navigation Acts, passed by Parliament to regulate trade 

within the English colonial empire. These regulations 

determined whom the colonies could trade with and how trade 

could be conducted, and New England merchants were 

flaunting them by trading directly with European powers. This 
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infuriated many English merchants, commercial societies, and 

Royal committees who petitioned the King for action, claiming 

that the New England colonists were hurting their trade. The 

Lords of Trade's complaints were so serious that the King sent 

Edward Randolph to Boston in an attempt to rein in and 

regulate the colony. When he arrived in Boston, he found a 

colonial government which refused to give in to the royal 

demands.  

Randolph reported to London that the General Court of 

Massachusetts Bay claimed that the King had no right to 

interfere with their commercial dealings. In response, 

Randolph asked the crown to cut off all trade to and from the 

colony, and asked that further regulations be put in place. The 

crown did not wish to enforce such a harsh measure and risk 

alienating the moderate members of New England society who 

supported England, so the British offered conciliatory 

measures if Massachusetts Bay followed the law. 

Massachusetts Bay refused, and the Lords of Trade became 

wary of the colony's charter; they petitioned the crown to 

either revoke it or amend it. Randolph was made head of 

Customs and Surveyor General of New England, with his office 

in Boston. 

Despite this increased pressure, the General Court established 

laws which allowed merchants to circumvent Randolph's 

authority. Adding to Randolph's frustration was his reliance on 

the Admiralty Court to rule on the laws that he was attempting 

to enforce. The moderate faction of the General Court was 

supportive of Randolph and the changes that the crown wished 

to make, but the conservatives remained too powerful and 

blocked any attempt to side with England. However, as the 
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tensions mounted between the crown and Massachusetts Bay, 

and threats mounted of legal action against the colony, the 

General Court did pass laws which acknowledged certain 

English admiralty laws while still making allowance for self-

governance.  

Revocation of the charter 

Two delegates from Massachusetts Bay were sent to London to 

meet with the Lords of Trade when the crown threatened the 

colony with a quo warranto. The Lords demanded a 

supplementary charter to alleviate problems, but the delegates 

were under orders that they could not negotiate any change 

with the Charter and this enraged the Lords. The quo warranto 

was issued immediately. 

The King feared that this would stir problems within the colony 

and attempted to reassure the colonists that their private 

interests would not be infringed upon. The declaration did 

create problems, however, and the confrontations increased 

between the moderates and conservatives. The moderates 

controlled the office of Governor and the Council of Assistants, 

and the conservatives controlled the Assembly of Deputies. 

This political turmoil ended in compromise with the deputies 

voting to allow the delegates in London to negotiate and defend 

the colonial charter.  

When the warrant arrived in Boston, the General Court voted 

on what course the colony should take. The two options were 

to immediately submit to royal authority and dismantle their 

government or to wait for the crown to revoke their charter and 

install a new governmental system. The General Court decided 
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to wait out the crown. They lacked a legal basis to continue 

their government, yet it remained intact until its official 

revocation in 1686.  

Unifications and restoration 

James II of England united Massachusetts with the other New 

England colonies in the Dominion of New England in 1686. The 

dominion was governed by Sir Edmund Andros without any 

local representation beyond his own hand-picked councillors, 

and it was extremely unpopular throughout New England. 

Massachusetts authorities arrested Andros in April 1689 after 

the 1688 Glorious Revolution in England, and they re-

established government under the forms of the vacated charter. 

However, dissenters from the Puritan rule argued that the 

government lacked a proper constitutional foundation, and 

some of its actions were resisted on that basis.  

King William III issued a charter in 1691, despite efforts by 

Massachusetts agents to revive the old colonial charter. It was 

chiefly negotiated by Increase Mather in his role as the 

colony's ambassador-extraordinary, unifying Massachusetts 

Bay with Plymouth Colony, Martha's Vineyard, Nantucket, and 

territories that roughly encompass Maine, New Brunswick, and 

Nova Scotia to form the Province of Massachusetts Bay. This 

new charter additionally extended voting rights to non-

Puritans, an outcome that Mather had tried to avoid.  

Life 

Life could be quite difficult in the early years of the colony. 

Many colonists lived in fairly crude structures, including 
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dugouts, wigwams, and dirt-floor huts made using wattle and 

daub construction. Construction improved in later years, and 

houses began to be sheathed in clapboard, with thatch or 

plank roofs and wooden chimneys. Wealthier individuals would 

extend their house by adding a leanto on the back, which 

allowed a larger kitchen (possibly with a brick or stone 

chimney including an oven), additional rooms, and a sleeping 

loft. These houses were the precursors to what is now called 

the saltbox style of architecture. Interiors became more 

elaborate in later years, with plaster walls, wainscoting, and 

potentially expensive turned woodwork in the most expensive 

homes.  

Colonists arriving after the first wave found that the early 

towns did not have room for them. Seeking land of their own, 

groups of families would petition the government for land on 

which to establish a new town; the government would typically 

allow the group's leaders to select the land. These grants were 

typically about 40 square miles (10,000 ha), and were located 

sufficiently near other towns to facilitate defense and social 

support. The group leaders would also be responsible for 

acquiring native title to the lands that they selected. By this 

means, the colony expanded into the interior, spawning 

settlements in adjacent territories as well.  

The land within a town would be divided by communal 

agreement, usually allocating by methods that originated in 

England. Outside a town center, land would be allocated for 

farming, some of which might be held communally. Farmers 

with large plots of land might build a house near their 

properties on the outskirts of the town. A town center that was 

well laid out would be fairly compact, with a tavern, school, 
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possibly some small shops, and a meeting house that was used 

for civic and religious functions. The meeting house would be 

the center of the town's political and religious life. Church 

services might be held for several hours on Wednesday and all 

day Sunday. Puritans did not observe annual holidays, 

especially Christmas, which they said had pagan roots. Annual 

town meetings would be held at the meeting house, generally in 

May, to elect the town's representatives to the general court 

and to transact other community business. Towns often had a 

village green, used for outdoor celebrations and activities such 

as military exercises of the town's trainband or militia.  

Marriage and family life 

Many of the early colonists who migrated from England came 

with some or all of their family. It was expected that 

individuals would marry fairly young and begin producing 

offspring. Infant mortality rates were comparatively low, as 

were instances of childhood death. 

Men who lost their wives often remarried fairly quickly, 

especially if they had children needing care. Older widows 

would also sometimes marry for financial security. It was also 

normal for older widowed parents to live with one of their 

children. Due to the Puritan perception of marriage as a civil 

union, divorce did sometimes occur and could be pursued by 

both genders.  

Sexual activity was expected to be confined to marriage. Sex 

outside of marriage was considered fornication if neither 

partner was married, and adultery if one or both were married 

to someone else. Fornication was generally punished by fines 
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and pressure to marry; a woman who gave birth to an 

illegitimate child could also be fined. Adultery and rape were 

more serious crimes, and both were punishable by death. 

Rape, however, required more than one witness, and was 

therefore rarely prosecuted. Sexual activity between men was 

called sodomy, and was also punishable by death.  

Within the marriage, the husband was typically responsible for 

supplying the family's financial needs, although it was not 

uncommon for women to work in the fields and to perform 

some home labor (for example, spinning thread or weaving 

cloth) to supplement the family income. Women were almost 

exclusively responsible for seeing to the welfare of the 

children.  

Children were baptized at the local meeting house within a 

week of being born. The mother was usually not present 

because she was still recovering from the birth, and the child's 

name was usually chosen by the father. Names were 

propagated within the family, and names would be reused 

when infants died. If an adult died without issue, his (or her) 

name could be carried on when the siblings of the deceased 

named children in his or her memory.  

Most children received some form of schooling, something 

which the colony's founders believed to be important for 

forming a proper relationship with God. Towns were obligated 

to provide education for their children, which was usually 

satisfied by hiring a teacher of some sort. The quality of these 

instructors varied, from minimally educated local people to 

Harvard-educated ministers.  
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Government 

The structure of the colonial government changed over the 

lifetime of the charter. The Puritans established a theocratic 

government limited to church members. Winthrop, Dudley, the 

Rev. John Cotton, and other leaders sought to prevent 

dissenting religious views, and many were banished because of 

differing religious beliefs, including Roger Williams of Salem 

and Anne Hutchinson of Boston, as well as unrepentant 

Quakers and Anabaptists. By the mid-1640s, Massachusetts 

Bay Colony had grown to more than 20,000 inhabitants.  

The charter granted the general court the authority to elect 

officers and to make laws for the colony. Its first meeting in 

America was held in October 1630, but it was attended by only 

eight freemen. They formed the first council of assistants and 

voted (contrary to the terms of the charter) that they should 

elect the governor and deputy from among themselves. The 

general court determined at the next session that it would elect 

the governor and deputy.  

An additional 116 settlers were admitted to the general court 

as freemen in 1631, but most of the governing and judicial 

power remained with the council of assistants. They also 

enacted a law specifying that only those men who "are 

members of some of the churches" in the colony were eligible to 

become freemen and gain the vote. This restriction was not 

changed until after the English Restoration. The process by 

which individuals became members of one of the colony's 

churches involved a detailed questioning by the church elders 

of their beliefs and religious experiences; as a result, only 

individuals whose religious views accorded with those of the 
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church leadership were likely to become members and gain the 

ability to vote in the colony. After a protest over the imposition 

of taxes by a meeting of the council of assistants, the general 

court ordered each town to send two representatives known as 

deputies to meet with the court to discuss matters of taxation.  

Questions of governance and representation arose again in 

1634 when several deputies demanded to see the charter, 

which the assistants had kept hidden from public view. The 

deputies learned of the provisions that the general court 

should make all laws, and that all freemen should be members 

of the general court. They then demanded that the charter be 

enforced to the letter, which Governor Winthrop pointed out 

was impractical given the growing number of freemen. The 

parties reached a compromise and agreed that the general 

court would be made up of two deputies representing each 

town. Dudley was elected governor in 1634, and the general 

court reserved a large number of powers for itself, including 

those of taxation, distribution of land, and the admission of 

freemen.  

A legal case in 1642 brought about the separation of the 

council of assistants into an upper house of the general court. 

The case involved a widow's lost pig and had been overturned 

by the general court, but the assistants voted as a body to veto 

the general court's act. 

The consequence of the ensuing debate was that the general 

court voted in 1644 that the council of assistants would sit 

and deliberate separately from the general court (they had sat 

together until then), and both bodies must concur for any 

legislation to be passed. Judicial appeals were to be decided by 
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a joint session, since otherwise the assistants would be in the 

position to veto attempts to overturn their own decisions.  

Laws and judiciary 

In 1641, the colony formally adopted the Massachusetts Body 

of Liberties which Nathaniel Ward compiled. This document 

consisted of 100 civil and criminal laws based upon the social 

sanctions recorded in the Bible. These laws formed the nucleus 

of colonial legislation until independence and contained some 

provisions later incorporated into the United States 

Constitution, such as the ideas of equal protection and double 

jeopardy.  

On the other hand, Massachusetts Bay was the first colony to 

legalize slavery with provision 91 of the Massachusetts Body of 

Liberties which developed protections for people unable to 

perform public service. Another law was developed to protect 

married women, children, and people with mental disabilities 

from making financial decisions. Colonial law differentiated 

among types of mental disabilities, classifying them as 

"distracted persons," "idiots," and "lunaticks". In 1693, "poor 

laws" enabled communities to use the estates of people with 

disabilities to defer the cost of community support of those 

individuals. Many of these laws remained until the American 

Revolution.  

Many behaviors were frowned upon culturally which modern 

sensibilities might consider relatively trivial actions, and some 

led to criminal prosecution. These included sleeping during 

church services, playing cards, and engaging in any number of 

activities on the Sabbath. Conversely, there were laws which 
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reflected attitudes that are still endorsed by popular 

sensibilities in 21st century America, against things such as 

smoking tobacco, abusing one's mother-in-law, profane 

dancing, and pulling hair. Children, newcomers, and people 

with disabilities were exempt from punishment for such 

infractions.  

The colony's council of assistants sat as the final court of 

appeal and as the principal court for criminal issues of "life, 

limb, or banishment" and civil issues where the damages 

exceeded £100. Lesser offenses were heard in county courts or 

by commissioners appointed for hearing minor disputes. The 

lower courts were also responsible for issuing licenses and for 

matters such as probate. Juries were authorized to decide 

questions of both fact and law, although the court could decide 

if a jury failed to reach a decision. Sentences for offenses 

included fines and corporal punishments such as whipping and 

sitting in the stocks, with the punishments of banishment from 

the colony and death by hanging reserved for the most serious 

offenses. Evidence was sometimes based on hearsay and 

superstition. For example, the "ordeal of touch" was used in 

1646 in which someone accused of murder is forced to touch 

the dead body; if blood appears, the accused is deemed guilty. 

This was used to convict and execute a woman accused of 

murdering her newborn child. Bodies of individuals hanged for 

piracy were sometimes gibbeted (publicly displayed) on harbor 

islands visible to seagoing vessels.  

Notable criminal prosecutions 

One of the first to be executed in the colony was Dorothy 

Talbye, who was apparently delusional. She was hanged in 
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1638 for murdering her daughter, as the common law of 

Massachusetts made no distinction at the time between 

insanity (or mental illness) and criminal behavior. Midwife 

Margaret Jones was convicted of being a witch and hanged in 

1648 after the condition of patients allegedly worsened in her 

care.  

The colonial leadership was the most active in New England in 

the persecution of Quakers. In 1660, English Quaker Mary 

Dyer was hanged in Boston for repeatedly defying a law 

banning Quakers from the colony. Dyer was one of the four 

executed Quakers known as the Boston martyrs. Executions 

ceased in 1661 when King Charles II explicitly forbade 

Massachusetts from executing anyone for professing 

Quakerism.  

New England Confederation 

In 1643, Massachusetts Bay joined Plymouth Colony, 

Connecticut Colony, and New Haven Colony in the New 

England Confederation, a loose coalition organized primarily to 

coordinate military and administrative matters among the 

Puritan colonies. It was most active in the 1670s during King 

Philip's War. (New Hampshire had not yet been organized as a 

separate province, and both it and Rhode Island were excluded 

because they were not Puritan.)  

Economy and trade 

In the early years, the colony was highly dependent on the 

import of staples from England and was supported by the 

investments of a number of wealthy immigrants. Certain 
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businesses were quick to thrive, notably shipbuilding, 

fisheries, and the fur and lumber trades. As early as 1632, 

ships built in the colony began trading with other colonies, 

England, and foreign ports in Europe. By 1660, the colony's 

merchant fleet was estimated at 200 ships and, by the end of 

the century, its shipyards were estimated to turn out several 

hundred ships annually. In the early years, the fleet 

principally carried fish to destinations from the West Indies to 

Europe. It was common for a merchant to ship dried fish to 

Portugal or Spain, pick up wine and oil for transport to 

England, and then carry finished goods from England or 

elsewhere back to the colony. This and other patterns of trade 

became illegal following the introduction of the Navigation Acts 

in 1651, turning colonial merchants who continued these 

trading patterns into de facto smugglers. Many colonial 

authorities were merchants or were politically dependent on 

them, and they opposed being required by the crown to collect 

duties imposed by those acts. In 1652, Massachusetts General 

Court established the "Hull Mint" established by John Hull and 

Robert Sanderson producing the pine tree shilling.  

The fur trade only played a modest role in the colony's 

economy because its rivers did not connect its centers well 

with the Indians who engaged in fur trapping. Timber began to 

take on an increasingly important role in the economy, 

especially for naval purposes, after conflicts between England 

and the Dutch depleted England's supplies of ship masts.  

The colony's economy depended on the success of its trade, in 

part because its land was not as suitable for agriculture as 

that of other colonies such as Virginia, where large plantations 

could be established. The fishery was important enough that 
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those involved in it were exempted from taxation and military 

service. Larger communities supported craftsmen skilled in 

providing many of the necessities of 17th century life. Some 

income-producing activities took place in the home, such as 

carding, spinning, and weaving of wool and other fibers.  

Goods were transported to local markets over roads that were 

sometimes little more than widened Indian trails. Towns were 

required to maintain their roads, on penalty of fines, and the 

colony required special town commissions to lay out roads in a 

more sensible manner in 1639. Bridges were fairly uncommon, 

since they were expensive to maintain, and fines were imposed 

on their owners for the loss of life or goods if they failed. 

Consequently, most river crossings were made by ferry. Notable 

exceptions were a bridge across the Mystic River constructed in 

1638, and another over the Saugus River, whose upkeep costs 

were subsidized by the colony.  

The colonial government attempted to regulate the economy in 

a number of ways. On several occasions, it passed laws 

regulating wages and prices of economically important goods 

and services, but most of these initiatives did not last very 

long. The trades of shoe-making and coopering (barrel-making) 

were authorized to form guilds, making it possible to set price, 

quality, and expertise levels for their work. The colony set 

standards governing the use of weights and measures. For 

example, mill operators were required to weigh grain before 

and after milling, to ensure that the customer received back 

what he delivered (minus the miller's percentage).  

The Puritan dislike of ostentation led the colony to also 

regulate expenditures on what it perceived as luxury items. 
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Items of personal adornment, particularly lace and costly silk 

outerwear, were frowned about. Attempts to ban these items 

failed, and the colony resorted to laws restricting their display 

to those who could demonstrate £200 in assets.  

Demographics 

Most of the people who arrived during the first 12 years 

emigrated from two regions of England. Many of the colonists 

came from the county of Lincolnshire and East Anglia, 

northeast of London, and a large group also came from Devon, 

Somerset, and Dorset in the southwest of England. These areas 

provided the bulk of the migration, although colonists also 

came from other regions of England. The pattern of migration 

often centered around specific Nonconformist clergy who 

sought to leave England under threat from Archbishop Laud, 

who encouraged their flock to accompany them. One 

characteristic unique to the New England colonies (as 

distinguished from some of the other English colonies) was 

that most of the immigrants were emigrating for religious and 

political reasons, rather than economic ones.  

The preponderance of the immigrants were well-to-do gentry 

and skilled craftsmen. They brought with them apprentices and 

servants, the latter of whom were sometimes in indentured 

servitude. Few titled nobility emigrated, even though some 

supported the emigration politically and financially and also 

acquired land holdings in Massachusetts and other colonies. 

Merchants also represented a significant proportion of the 

immigrants, often the children of the gentry, and they played 

an important role in establishing the economy of the colony.  
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With the start of the English Civil War in 1642, emigration 

came to a comparative standstill, and some colonists even 

returned to England to fight for the Parliamentary cause. In 

the following years, most of the immigrants came for economic 

reasons; they were merchants, seamen, and skilled craftsmen. 

Following the revocation of the Edict of Nantes in 1685, the 

colony also saw an influx of French Protestant Huguenots. 

During the period of the charter colony, small numbers of 

Scots immigrated, but these were assimilated into the colony. 

The population of Massachusetts remained largely English in 

character until the 1840s.  

Slavery existed but was not widespread within the colony. 

Some Indians captured in the Pequot War were enslaved, with 

those posing the greatest threat being transported to the West 

Indies and exchanged for goods and slaves. Governor John 

Winthrop owned a few Indian slaves, and Governor Simon 

Bradstreet owned two black slaves. The Body of Liberties 

enacted in 1641 included rules governing the treatment and 

handling of slaves. Bradstreet reported in 1680 that the colony 

had 100 to 120 slaves, but historian Hugh Thomas documents 

evidence suggesting that there may have been a somewhat 

larger number.  

Geography 

The Massachusetts colony was dominated by its rivers and 

coastline. Major rivers included the Charles and Merrimack, as 

well as a portion of the Connecticut River, which has been 

used to transport furs and timbers to Long Island Sound. Cape 

Ann juts into the Gulf of Maine, providing harbors for 

fishermen plying the fishing banks to the east, and Boston's 
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harbor provided secure anchorage for seagoing commercial 

vessels. Development in Maine was restricted to coastal areas, 

and large inland areas remained under native control until 

after King Philip's War, particularly the uplands in what is now 

Worcester County.  

Boundaries 

The colonial charter specified that the boundaries were to be 

from three miles (4.8 km) north of the Merrimack River to three 

miles south of the southernmost point of the Charles River and 

thence westward to the "South Sea" (i.e., the Pacific Ocean). At 

the time, the course of neither of the rivers was known for any 

significant length, which eventually led to boundary disputes 

with the colony's neighbors. The colony's claims were large, 

but the practicalities of the time meant that they never 

actually controlled any land further west than the Connecticut 

River valley. The colony also claimed additional lands by 

conquest and purchase, further extending the territory that it 

administered.  

The southeastern boundary with the Plymouth Colony was first 

surveyed in 1639 and accepted by both colonies in 1640. It is 

known in Massachusetts as the "Old Colony Line", and is still 

visible as the boundary between Norfolk County to the north 

and Bristol and Plymouth Counties to the south.  

The northern boundary was originally thought to be roughly 

parallel to the latitude of the mouth of the Merrimack River, 

since the river was assumed to flow primarily west. This was 

found not to be the case and, in 1652, Governor Endicott sent 

a survey party to locate the northernmost point on the 
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Merrimack. At the point where the Pemigewasset River, the 

Merrimack's principal tributary, meets the Winnipesaukee 

River local Indians guided the party to the outlet of Lake 

Winnipesaukee, incorrectly claiming that as the Merrimack's 

source. The survey party carved lettering into a rock there 

(now called Endicott Rock), and its latitude was taken to be the 

colony's northern boundary. When extended eastward, this line 

was found to meet the Atlantic near Casco Bay in present-day 

Maine.  

Following this discovery, the colonial magistrates began 

proceedings to bring existing settlements under their authority 

in southern New Hampshire and Maine. 

This extension of the colonial claim conflicted with several 

proprietary grants owned by the heirs of John Mason and Sir 

Ferdinando Gorges. The Mason heirs pursued their claims in 

England, and the result was the formation of the Province of 

New Hampshire in 1679. The current boundary between 

Massachusetts and New Hampshire was not fixed until 1741. 

In 1678, the colony purchased the claims of the Gorges heirs, 

gaining control over the territory between the Piscataqua and 

Kennebec Rivers. The colony and later the province and state 

retained control of Maine until it was granted statehood in 

1820.  

The colony performed a survey in 1642 to determine its 

southern boundary west to the Connecticut River. This line, 

south of the present boundary, was protested by Connecticut, 

but stood until the 1690s, when Connecticut performed its own 

survey. Most of today's Massachusetts boundaries with its 

neighbors were fixed in the 18th century. The most significant 
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exception was the eastern boundary with Rhode Island, which 

required extensive litigation, including Supreme Court rulings, 

before it was finally resolved in 1862.  

Lands which had previously belonged to the Pequots to the 

southwest were divided after the Pequot War in present-day 

Rhode Island and eastern Connecticut. Claims were disputed 

in this area for many years, particularly between Connecticut 

and Rhode Island. Massachusetts administered Block Island 

and the area around present-day Stonington, Connecticut as 

part of these spoils of war, and was one of several claimants to 

land in what was known as Narragansett Country (roughly 

Washington County, Rhode Island). Massachusetts lost these 

territories in the 1660s, when Connecticut and Rhode Island 

received their royal charters.  

  



Chapter 16 

Winthrop Fleet 

The Winthrop Fleet was a group of 11 ships led by John 

Winthrop out of a total of 16 funded by the Massachusetts Bay 

Company which together carried between 700 and 1,000 

Puritans plus livestock and provisions from England to New 

England over the summer of 1630, during the first period of 

the Great Migration.  

Motivation 

The Puritan population in England had been growing for 

several years leading up to this time. They disagreed with the 

practices of the Church of England, whose rituals they viewed 

as superstitions. An associated political movement attempted 

to modify religious practice in England to conform to their 

views, and King James I wished to suppress this growing 

movement. Nevertheless, the Puritans eventually gained a 

majority in Parliament. James' son Charles came into direct 

conflict with Parliament, and viewed them as a threat to his 

authority. He temporarily dissolved Parliament in 1626, and 

again the next year, before dissolving it permanently in March 

1629. The King's imposition of Personal Rule gave many 

Puritans a sense of hopelessness regarding their future in that 

country, and many prepared to leave it permanently for life in 

New England, and a wealthy group of leaders obtained a Royal 

Charter in March 1629 for the Massachusetts Bay Colony.  
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A fleet of five ships had departed a month previously for New 

England that included approximately 300 colonists led by 

Francis Higginson. However, the colony leaders and the bulk of 

the colonists remained in England for the time being to plan 

more thoroughly for the success of the new colony. In October 

1629, the group who remained in England elected John 

Winthrop to be Governor of the Fleet and the Colony. Over the 

ensuing winter, the leaders recruited a large group of Puritan 

families, representing all manner of skilled labor to ensure a 

robust colony.  

Voyage 

The initial group (Arbella and her three escorts) departed 

Yarmouth, Isle of Wight on April 8, the remainder following in 

two or three weeks. Seven hundred men, women, and children 

were distributed among the ships of the fleet. The voyage was 

rather uneventful, the direction and speed of the wind being 

the main topic in Winthrop's journal, as it affected how much 

progress was made each day. There were a few days of severe 

weather, and every day was cold. The children were cold and 

bored, and there is a description of a game played with a rope 

that helped with both problems. Many were sick during the 

voyage.  

The Winthrop Fleet was a well-planned and financed expedition 

that formed the nucleus of the Massachusetts Bay Colony. 

They were not the first settlers of the area; there was an 

existing settlement at Salem, started in about 1626 and 

populated by a few hundred Puritans governed by John 

Endicott, most of whom had arrived in 1629. Winthrop 

superseded Endicott as Governor of the Colony upon his 
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arrival in 1630. The flow of Puritans to New England continued 

for another ten years, during a period known as the Great 

Migration.  

Ships 

Winthrop's journal lists the 11 ships in his fleet:  

• Arbella: The flagship, designated "Admiral" in the 

consortship; named for Lady Arbella, wife of Isaac 

Johnson (see below) 

• Talbot: Designated "Vice Admiral"; Henry Winthrop 

sailed on this ship, John Winthrop's son and first 

husband of Elizabeth Fones 

• Ambrose: Designated "Rear Admiral" 

• Jewel: Designated a "Captain" 

• Mayflower (not the Mayflower of the Pilgrims) 

• Whale 

• Success 

• Charles 

• William and Francis 

• Hopewell 

• Trial 

Six other ships arrived at Massachusetts Bay in 1630 for a 

total of seventeen that year.  

Notable passengers 

Nine leading men applied for the charter for the Massachusetts 

Bay Colony and came to New England in Winthrop's Fleet.  
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• John Winthrop, Governor, and his sons Henry 

Winthrop and two minors 

• Sir Richard Saltonstall, three sons, and two 

daughters 

• Isaac Johnson and his wife Lady Arabella, daughter 

of Thomas Clinton, 3rd Earl of Lincoln 

• Rev. George Phillips, co-founder of Watertown 

• Charles Fiennes 

• Thomas Dudley, his wife, two sons, and four 

daughters 

• William Coddington, a Governor of Rhode Island 

Colony and his wife 

• William Pynchon and his wife and three daughters 

• William Vassall, for whom Vassalboro, Maine was 

named, and his wife 

• John Revell, merchant, who lent money to the 

Plymouth Colony, and who was chosen assistant to 

the Massachusetts Bay Colony 

• Captain Thomas Wiggin, the first Governor of the 

Province of New Hampshire 

Ezekiel Richardson, COnverse and Mousall were some of the 

original founders of Woburn ( from Charlestown). Other 

passengers of historical significance include:  

• Robert Abell 

• Stephen Bachiler Founder of Hampton, New 

Hampshire 

• Simon Bradstreet and his wife Anne Bradstreet 

• Jehu Burr, ancestor of Aaron Burr 

• Samuel Cole, purveyor of the first tavern in the new 

world 
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• Edward Convers 

• Thomas Mayhew 

• Allan Perley 

• Robert Seeley 

• Isaac Stearns 

• John Taylor 

• Captain John Underhill 

• John Wilson, first minister of the First Church of 

Boston 

• Captain Edward Johnson, a leading figure in colonial 

Massachusetts and one of the founders of Woburn, 

Massachusetts 

A complete list of passengers is maintained by The Winthrop 

Society, a hereditary organization of descendants of the 

Winthrop Fleet and later Great Migration ships that arrived 

before 1634.  

Manor of Rensselaerswyck 

The Manor of Rensselaerswyck, Manor Rensselaerswyck, Van 

Rensselaer Manor, or just simply Rensselaerswyck (Dutch: 

RensselaerswijckDutch pronunciat ion: [ˈrɛnsəlaːrsˌʋɛik]), was the 

name of a colonial estate—specifically, a Dutch patroonship 

and later an English manor—owned by the van Rensselaer 

family that was located in what is now mainly the Capital 

District of New York in the United States.  

The estate was originally deeded by the Dutch West India 

Company in 1630 to Kiliaen van Rensselaer, a Dutch merchant 

and one of the company's original directors. 
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Rensselaerswyck extended for miles on each side of the Hudson 

River near present-day Albany. It included most of what are 

now the present New York counties of Albany and Rensselaer, 

as well as parts of Columbia and Greene counties.  

Under the terms of the patroonship, the patroon had nearly 

total jurisdictional authority, establishing civil and criminal 

law, villages, a church (in part to record vital records, which 

were not done by the state until the late 19th century). 

Tenant farmers were allowed to work on the land, but had to 

pay rent to the owners, and had no rights to property. In 

addition, the Rensselaers harvested timber from the property.  

The patroonship was maintained intact by Rensselaer 

descendants for more than two centuries. It was split up after 

the death of Stephen van Rensselaer III in 1839. His son 

Stephen Van Rensselaer IV, the 10th and last patroon, received 

the bulk of his holdings; son William received some lands east 

of the Hudson.  

At his death, Steven van Rensselaer III's land holdings made 

him the tenth-richest American in history to date. Under his 

sons tenant farmers began protesting the manor system, part 

of a sweeping challenge in New York State. 

Under financial, judicial, and political pressure from this anti-

rent movement Stephen IV and William sold off most of their 

land, ending the patroonship in the 1840s. For length of 

operations, it was the most successful patroonship established 

under the West India Company system.  
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Establishing patroonships 

Upon discovery of the Albany area by Henry Hudson in 1609, 

the Dutch claimed the area and set up two forts to anchor it: 

Fort Nassau in 1614 and Fort Orange in 1624, both named for 

the Dutch noble House of Orange-Nassau. This established a 

Dutch presence in the area, formally called New Netherland. In 

June 1620, the Dutch West India Company was established by 

the States-General and given enormous powers in the New 

World. In the name of the States-General, it had the authority 

to make contracts and alliances with princes and natives, build 

forts, administer justice, appoint and discharge governors, 

soldiers, and public officers, and promote trade in New 

Netherland.  

In order to attract capitalists to the colony, the managers of 

the West India Company, offered certain exclusive privileges to 

the members of the company in 1630. The terms of the charter 

stated that any member who founded a colony of fifty adults in 

New Netherland within four years of the charter's writing 

would be acknowledged as a patroon of the territory to be 

colonized. The only restriction was that the colony had to be 

outside the island of Manhattan.  

To meet such cases, the West India Company adopted the 

Charter of Freedoms and Exemptions for the agricultural 

colonization of its American province. The chief features of this 

charter stated that lands for each colony could extend 16 miles 

(26 km) in length if confined to one side of a navigable river or 

8 miles (13 km) if both sides were occupied. Additionally, the 

lands could extend into the countryside and even be enlarged if 

more immigrants were to settle there.  
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Each patroon would have the chief command within their 

respective patroonship, having the sole rights to fish and hunt. 

If a city were to be founded within its boundaries, the patroon 

would have the power and authority to establish officers and 

magistrates. Each patroonship was free of taxes and tariffs for 

ten years following its founding.  

A contract to settle under a patroonship was enforceable: no 

colonists could leave the colony during their term of service 

without the written consent of the patroon, and the West India 

Company pledged itself to do everything in its power to 

apprehend and deliver up all fugitives from the patroon's 

service.  

Colonists of a patroonship were limited by the West India 

Company in some instances. For example, fur trading was 

illegal for colonists; it was reserved as a Company monopoly. 

But, patroonships had the right to trade anywhere from 

Newfoundland to Florida, on the understanding that traders 

were to stop at Manhattan to possibly trade there first.  

Each patroon was required to "satisfy the Indians of that place 

for the land", proscribing that the land must be bought (or 

bartered) from the local Indians, and not just taken. 

Additionally, the Company agreed to defend all colonists, 

whether free or in service, from all aggressors, and supply the 

patroonship— for free —"with as many blacks as it possibly 

can... for [no] longer [a] time than it shall see fit".  
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Founding the Manor 

Kiliaen van Rensselaer, a pearl and diamond merchant of 

Amsterdam, was one of the original directors of the West India 

Company and one of the first to take advantage of the new 

settlement charter. On January 13, 1629, van Rensselaer sent 

notification to the Directors of the Company that he, in 

conjunction with fellow Company members Samuel Godyn and 

Samuel Blommaert, sent Gillis Houset and Jacob Jansz Cuyper 

to determine satisfactory locations for settlement. This took 

place even before the Charter of Freedoms and Exemptions was 

ratified, but was done in agreement with a draft of the Charter 

from March 28, 1628. On April 8, 1630, a representative for 

van Rensselaer purchased a large tract of land from its 

American Indian owners adjacent to Fort Orange, on the west 

side of the Hudson River. It extended from Beeren Island north 

to Smack's Island and extended "two day's journey into the 

interior."  

In the meantime, van Rensselaer made vigorous preparations 

to send out tenants. Early in the spring, several emigrants, 

with their farm implements and cattle, were sent out from the 

Netherlands under Wolfert Gerritson, who was designated the 

overseer of farms. These pioneers of the manor embarked at 

the island of Texel in the ship Eendragt, or Unity, under 

Captain John Brouwer. In a few weeks, they arrived at Fort 

Orange and began the development and settlement of the 

Manor of Rensselaerswyck.  

A few weeks after the arrival of the first colonists, the 

patroon's special agent, Gillis Hassett, secured a grant of land 

from the Indians, lying mostly to the north of Fort Orange and 
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extending up the river to an Indian structure called Monemins 

Castle. This was situated on Haver Island at the confluence of 

the Mohawk and Hudson rivers. This and the earlier purchase 

completed the bounds of the manor on the west side of the 

Hudson.  

Each tenant was required to swear an oath of loyalty to the 

patroon, without question. The following is the oath stated by 

each tenant:  

I, <name>, promise and swear that I shall be true and faithful 

to the noble Patroon and Co-directors, or those Commissioners 

and Council, subjecting myself to the good and faithful 

inhabitant or Burgher, without exciting any opposition, 

tumult, or noise; but on the contrary, as a loyal inhabitant, to 

maintain and support offensively and of the Colonie. And with 

reverence and fear of the Lord, and uplifting of both the first 

fingers of the right hand, I say — SO TRULY HELP ME GOD 

ALMIGHTY. 

At that time, the land on the east side of the river, extending 

north from Castle Island to the Mohawk River was then the 

private property of an Indian chief named Nawanemitt. This 

territory was called "Semesseck" by the Indians, and described 

in the grant as "lying on the east side of the aforesaid river, 

opposite the Fort Orange, as well above as below, and from 

Poetanock, the millcreek, northward to Negagonee, being about 

twelve miles, large measure."  

These purchases took place on August 8, and August 13, 1630, 

respectively, confirmed by the council at Manhattan, and 

patents formally issued therefor. Fort Orange and the land 

immediately around its walls, still remained under the 
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exclusive jurisdiction of the West India Company. It eventually 

developed as the city of Albany, which was never under the 

direct dominion of the patroon.  

But this large purchase by van Rensselaer excited the jealousy 

of other capitalists. He soon divided his estate around and 

near Fort Orange into five shares, in an effort to advance more 

rapidly the growth of the colony. 

Two of these shares he retained, together with the title and 

honors of the original patroon. One share was given to 

Johannes de Laet, another was given to Samuel Godyn, and the 

last to Samuel Bloommaert; these three men were influential 

members of the Amsterdam chamber of the West India 

Company. 

On the ancient map of the colony, "Bloommaert's Burt" is 

located at the mouth of what is now called Patroon Creek. "De 

Laet's Island" was the original name of van Rensselaer Island, 

opposite Albany. "De Laet's Burg" equates to Greenbush. 

"Godyn's Islands" are a short distance below, on the east 

shore. These three separate patroonships were subsequently 

purchased and dissolved into Rensselaerswyck proper by 1685.  

Government 

The government of the Manor of Rensselaerswyck was vested in 

a general court, which exercised executive, legislative or 

municipal, and judicial functions. This court was composed of 

two commissioners, styled "Gecommitteerden", and two 

councilors, called "Gerechts-persoonen", or "Schepenen". These 

last equated to our modern justices of the peace. There was 
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also a colonial secretary, a "Schout-fiscaal", or sheriff, and a 

"Gerechts-bode", court messenger or constable.  

The magistrates held their offices for a year, the court 

appointing their successors. The most important office in the 

colony was the schout-fiscaal, or sheriff. Jacob Albertsen 

Planck was the first sheriff of Rensselaerswyck. 

Arent van Curler, who immigrated as assistant commissary, 

was soon after his arrival promoted to commissary-general, or 

superintendent of the colony. He also served as colonial 

secretary until 1642, when he was succeeded by Anthony de 

Hooges.  

Culture 

The population of the colony of Rensselaerswyck in its early 

days consisted of three classes: freemen on top, who emigrated 

from Holland at their own expense; farmers next; and farm 

servants sent by the patroon at the bottom of the caste system.  

The first patroon judiciously applied his large resources to the 

advancement of his interests, and was quick to assist people 

on the estate. He initially defined several farms on both sides 

of the river, on which he ordered houses, barns, and stables to 

be erected. 

The patroon paid to stock these farms with cattle, horses, and 

sometimes with sheep, and furnished the necessary wagons, 

plows, and other implements. So the early farmer entered upon 

his land without being embarrassed by want of capital.  
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Sustaining the Manor 

History is almost certain that Kiliaen van Rensselaer never 

visited his land in New Netherland. The Van Rensselaer Bowier 

Manuscripts, a collection of translated primary documents from 

that time, state,  

The present letters show beyond the possibility of doubt that 

Kiliaen van Rensselaer did not visit his colony in person 

between 1630 and 1643, and the records preserved among the 

Rensselaerswyck manuscripts make it equally certain that he 

did not do so between the last named date and his death… 

Upon van Rensselaer's death in the 1640s, 

The estate was inherited by his eldest son Jan Baptist, who 

acquired the title of patroon. He died in 1658 and his younger 

brother Jeremias van Rensselaer became patroon. 

Acknowledging the surrender of New Amsterdam and Fort 

Orange to England in 1664 following a surprise incursion by 

the English during a time of peace (which led to the Second 

Anglo–Dutch War), Jeremias took the oath of allegiance to the 

King of England that October. In 1666, he also built the 

original Manor House, also known as Fort Crailo for its 

defensive reinforcement, located north of Fort Orange. The 

Manor House was the seat of the patroonship and the home of 

the patroon until 1765. 

Jeremias died in 1674 and the estate was passed on to his 

oldest son, Kiliaen Van Rensselaer, grandson to the first 

patroon, his namesake. Kiliaen was eleven when his father 

died. The estate was managed on his behalf, and he did not 

acquire the title of Lord of the Manor until he was twenty-one. 
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Maria van Cortlandt van Rensselaer, Jeremias's wife and 

Kiliaen's mother was the administrator and treasurer of the 

Manor of Rensselaerswyck until 1687.  

In 1683, one year before Kiliaen became Lord of the Manor, 

New York Governor Thomas Dongan established Albany 

County, one of the original twelve counties in New York. 

The county was to "containe the Towns of Albany, the Collony 

Renslaerwyck, Schonecteda, and all the villages, 

neighborhoods, and Christian Plantacons on the east side of 

Hudson River from Roelof Jansen's Creeke, and on the west 

side from Sawyer's Creeke to the Sarraghtoga." In 1685, 

Governor Dongan granted a patent for Rensselaerswyck, 

making it a legal entity. The patent included a detailed 

description of its boundaries, stating:  

...the banks of Hudsons River... beginning att the south end... 

or Berrent Island on Hudsons River and extending northwards 

up along both sides of the said Hudsons River unto A place 

heretofore Called the Kahoos or the Great Falls of the said 

River & extending itselfe east and west all along from each side 

of the said river backwards into the woods twenty fouer english 

miles As Also A Certaine tract of land situate lyeing and being 

on the east side of Hudsons River beginning at the Creeke by 

Major Abraham States and soe Along the said River southward 

to the south side of Vastrix Island by a creek called 

Waghankasigh stretching from thence with an easterly line into 

the woods twenty fouer english miles to a place called 

Wawanaquaisick And from thence northward to the head of the 

said Creeke by Major Abrahams States as Aforesaid. 
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One year later in 1686, Albany was chartered as a city under 

the Dongan Charter, authored by Governor Dongan. During 

Kiliaen's tenure as patroon, he served in many political 

appointed positions in Albany, including assessor, justice, and 

supervisor, and represented Rensselaerswyck in the New York 

General Assembly. In 1704, Kiliaen split Rensselaerswyck into 

two portions, the southern portion, or "Lower Manor" 

(comprising Greenbush and Claverack), placed under the eye of 

his brother Hendrick. The northern portion retained the title 

Rensselaerswyck.  

Hendrick von Rensselaer lived in Albany until a year after 

receiving the Lower Manor, representing Rensselaerswyck in 

the General Assembly from 1705 until 1715, just as his 

brother had from 1693 to 1704.  

Kiliaen died in 1719 and the patroonship passed on to his 

oldest son Jeremias. Jeremias died in 1745 and the estate 

passed to his brother Stephen. Stephen, sickly at the time, 

died two years later in 1747 at the age of forty. The estate was 

passed on to his son, Stephen van Rensselaer II, who was five 

when his father died. Stephen II was active in the Albany 

County Militia and active in restructuring loose land leases 

created by his predecessors. One of his land deals was made in 

the eastern region of Rensselaerswyck; the Town of 

Stephentown in southeastern Rensselaer County was named 

for him. He also rebuilt the Manor House in 1765. 

Stephen II died in 1769 at the age of 27 as one of the richest 

men in the region. The Manor passed on to his eldest son 

Stephen van Rensselaer III, who was five at the time of his 

father's death. The estate was controlled by Abraham Ten 
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Broeck until Stephen III's twenty-fifth birthday. Stephen III 

attended school in Albany and then New Jersey and Kingston 

during the Revolution. He graduated from Harvard College in 

1782.  

Stephen van Rensselaer III became well known for his many 

achievements. In 1825, he was elected Grand Master of the 

New York State Grand Masonic Lodge. He was elected to the 

New York State Assembly in 1789 and was re-elected until 

chosen by the legislature for the New York State Senate in 

1791. In 1795 he was elected Lieutenant Governor of New York. 

He was elected to the United States House of Representatives 

in 1822, serving until 1829. He was also commissioned a 

Lieutenant General in the New York State Militia, and led an 

unsuccessful invasion of Canada at Niagara in the War of 

1812. His most lasting achievement was to found, with Amos 

Eaton, the Rensselaer School, which developed into the 

present-day Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute.  

Anti-rent movement and downfall 

Stephen III lived to be 75, dying in 1839. He is remembered as 

"The Good Patroon" and also "The Last Patroon" because he 

was legally the last patroon of Rensselaerswyck. At the time of 

his death, Stephen III was worth about $10 million (about 

$88 billion in 2007 dollars) and is noted as being the tenth-

richest American in history.  

The spectacle of a landed gentleman living in semi-feudal 

splendor among his 3,000 tenants was an anachronism to a 

postwar generation that had become acclimated to Jacksonian 

democracy. Stephen III's leniency toward his tenants had 
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created a serious problem for his heirs. His will directed them 

to collect and apply the back rents (approximately $400,000) 

toward the payment of the patroon's debts. As soon as the rent 

notices went out, the farmers organized committees and held 

public meetings in protest. Stephen IV, who had inherited the 

"West Manor" (Albany County), refused to meet with a 

committee of anti-renters and turned down their written 

request for a reduction of rents. His brusque refusal infuriated 

the farmers. On July 4, 1839, a mass meeting at Berne called 

for a declaration of independence from landlord rule but raised 

the amount the tenants were willing to pay.  

The answer to this proposal was soon forthcoming. The 

executors of the estate secured writs of ejectment in suits 

against tenants in arrears. Crowds of angry tenants 

manhandled Sheriff Michael Archer and his assistants and 

turned back a posse of 500 men. Sheriff Archer called upon 

Governor William H. Seward for military assistance. Seward's 

proclamation calling on the people not to resist the 

enforcement of the law and the presence of several hundred 

militiamen failed to cow the tenants, who persisted in their 

refusal to pay rent. The sheriff evicted a few, but he could not 

dispossess an entire township.  

By 1844 the anti-rent movement had grown from a localized 

struggle against the van Rensselaer family to a full-fledged 

revolt against leasehold tenure throughout eastern New York, 

where other major manors existed. Virtual guerrilla warfare 

broke out. Riders disguised as Indians and wearing calico 

gowns ranged through the countryside, terrorizing the agents 

of the landlords. In late 1844, Governor William Bouck sent 

three companies of militia to Hudson, where anti-renters 
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threatened to storm the jail and release their leader, Big 

Thunder (Dr. Smith A. Boughton, in private life). The following 

year Governor Silas Wright was forced to declare Delaware 

County in a state of insurrection after an armed rider had 

killed undersheriff Osman N. Steele August 7, 1845 at an 

eviction sale.  

The anti-renters organized town, county, and state committees, 

published their own newspapers, held conventions, and elected 

their own spokesmen to the legislature. The success of 

candidates endorsed by anti-renters in 1845 caused politicians 

in both parties to show a "wonderful anxiety" to "give the Anti-

renters all they ask." The legislature abolished the right of the 

landlord to seize the goods of a defaulting tenant and taxed the 

income which landlords derived from their rent. Shortly 

thereafter, the Constitutional Convention of 1846 prohibited 

any future lease of agricultural land which claimed rent or 

service for a period longer than twelve years. Yet neither the 

convention nor the legislature was willing to disturb existing 

leases.  

The anti-renters played politics with remarkable success in the 

years between 1846 and 1851. They elected friendly sheriffs 

and local officials who virtually paralyzed the efforts of the 

landlords to collect rents. They threw their weight to the 

candidates of either major party who would support their 

cause. The bitter rivalries between and within the Whig and 

Democratic parties enabled the anti-renters to exert more 

influence than their numbers warranted. As a result, they had 

a small but determined bloc of anti-rent champions in the 

Assembly and the Senate who kept landlords uneasy by 

threatening to pass laws challenging land titles.  
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The anti-rent endorsement of John Young, the Whig candidate 

for governor in 1846, proved decisive. Governor Young 

promptly pardoned several anti-rent prisoners and called for 

an investigation of title by the Attorney General. The courts 

eventually ruled the statute of limitations prevented any 

questioning of the original titles. Declaring that the holders of 

perpetual leases were in reality freeholders, the Court of 

Appeals outlawed the "quarter sales," i.e., the requirement in 

many leases that a tenant who disposed of his farm should pay 

one-fourth of the money to the landlord.  

Assailed by a concerted conspiracy not to pay rent and 

harassed by taxes and investigations of the Attorney General, 

the landed proprietors gradually sold out their interests. In 

August 1845, seventeen large landholders announced that they 

were willing to sell. Later that year, Stephen IV agreed to sell 

his rights in the Helderberg townships. His brother, William, 

who had inherited the "East Manor" in Rensselaer County, also 

sold out his rights in over 500 farms in 1848. Finally, in the 

1850s, two speculators purchased the remaining leases from 

the van Rensselaers.  

  



Chapter 17 

Province of Maryland Founded 

The Province of Maryland was an English and later British 

colony in North America that existed from 1632 until 1778, 

when it joined the other twelve of the Thirteen Colonies in 

rebellion against Great Britain and became the U.S. state of 

Maryland. Its first settlement and capital was St. Mary's City, 

in the southern end of St. Mary's County, which is a peninsula 

in the Chesapeake Bay and is also bordered by four tidal 

rivers.  

The province began as a proprietary colony of the English Lord 

Baltimore, who wished to create a haven for English Catholics 

in the new world at the time of the European wars of religion. 

Although Maryland was an early pioneer of religious toleration 

in the English colonies, religious strife among Anglicans, 

Puritans, Catholics, and Quakers was common in the early 

years, and Puritan rebels briefly seized control of the province. 

In 1689, the year following the Glorious Revolution, John 

Coode led a rebellion that removed Lord Baltimore, a Catholic, 

from power in Maryland. Power in the colony was restored to 

the Baltimore family in 1715 when Charles Calvert, 5th Baron 

Baltimore, insisted in public that he was a Protestant.  

Despite early competition with the colony of Virginia to its 

south, and the Dutch colony of New Netherland to its north, 

the Province of Maryland developed along very similar lines to 

Virginia. Its early settlements and population centers tended to 

cluster around the rivers and other waterways that empty into 
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the Chesapeake Bay and, like Virginia, Maryland's economy 

quickly became centered on the cultivation of tobacco, for sale 

in Europe. 

The need for cheap labor, and later with the mixed farming 

economy that developed when tobacco prices collapsed, led to a 

rapid expansion of indentured servitude, penal transportation, 

and forcible immigration and enslavement of Africans. 

Maryland received a larger felon quota than any other 

province.  

The Province of Maryland was an active participant in the 

events leading up to the American Revolution, and echoed 

events in New England by establishing committees of 

correspondence and hosting its own tea party similar to the 

one that took place in Boston. By 1776 the old order had been 

overthrown as Maryland citizens signed the Declaration of 

Independence, forcing the end of British colonial rule.  

Origins in the 17th Century 

Founding charter 

The Catholic George Calvert, 1st Baron Baltimore, (1579–

1632), former Secretary of State to His Majesty, King Charles I, 

wished to create a haven for English Catholics in the New 

World. After having visited the Americas and founded a colony 

in the future Canadian province of Newfoundland called 

"Avalon", he convinced the King to grant him a second territory 

in more southern, temperate climes. Upon Baltimore's death in 

1632 the grant was transferred to his eldest son Cecil, the 2nd 

Baron Baltimore.  
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On 20 June 1632, Charles granted the original charter for 

Maryland, a proprietary colony of about twelve million acres 

(49,000 km²), to the 2nd Baron Baltimore. Some historians 

view this grant as a form of compensation for the 2nd Lord 

Baltimore's father's having been stripped of his title of 

Secretary of State upon announcing his Roman Catholicism in 

1625. The charter offered no guidelines on religion, although it 

was assumed that Catholics would not be molested in the new 

colony.  

Whatever the reason for granting the colony specifically to Lord 

Baltimore, however, the King had practical reasons to create a 

colony north of the Potomac in 1632. The colony of New 

Netherland begun by England's great imperial rival in this era, 

the United Provinces, specifically claimed the Delaware River 

valley and was vague about its border with Virginia. Charles 

rejected all the Dutch claims on the Atlantic seaboard, but was 

anxious to bolster English claims by formally occupying the 

territory. The new colony was named after the devoutly 

Catholic Henrietta Maria of France, the Queen Consort, by an 

agreement between the 1st Lord Baltimore and King Charles I.  

Colonial Maryland was considerably larger than Maryland. The 

original charter granted the Calverts a province with a 

boundary line that started "from the promontory or headland, 

called Watkin's Point, situate upon the bay aforesaid near the 

river Wighco on the West, unto the main ocean on the east; 

and between that boundary on the south, unto that part of the 

bay of Delaware on the north, which lyeth under the 40th 

degree of north latitude from the aequinoctial, where New 

England is terminated." The boundary line would then continue 

westward along the fortieth parallel "unto the true meridian of 
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the first fountain of the river Pattowmack". From there, the 

boundary continued south to the southern bank of the Potomac 

River, continue along the southern river bank to the 

Chesapeake Bay, and "thence by the shortest line unto the 

aforesaid promontory, or place, called Watkin's Point." 

Based on this deceptively imprecise description of the 

boundary, the land may have comprised up to 18,750 square 

miles (48,600 km), 50% larger than today’s State.   

Early settlement 

• In Maryland, Baltimore sought to create a haven for 

English Catholics and to demonstrate that Catholics 

and Protestants could live together peacefully, even 

issuing the Act Concerning Religion in matters of 

religion. The 1st Lord Baltimore was himself a 

convert to Catholicism, a considerable political 

setback for a nobleman in 17th century England, 

where Roman Catholics could easily be considered 

enemies of the crown and potential traitors to their 

country. Like other aristocratic proprietors, he also 

hoped to turn a profit on the new colony.  

The Calvert family recruited Catholic aristocrats and 

Protestant settlers for Maryland, luring them with generous 

land grants and a policy of religious toleration. To try to gain 

settlers, Maryland used what is known as the headright 

system, which originated in Jamestown. Settlers were given 50 

acres (20 ha) of land for each person they brought into the 

colony, whether as settler, indentured servant, or slave.  
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Of the 200 or so initial settlers who traveled to Maryland on 

the ships Ark and Dove, the majority were Protestant. On 

November 22, 1633, Lord Baltimore sent the first settlers to 

the new colony, and after a long voyage with a stopover to 

resupply in Barbados, the Ark and the Dove landed on 25 

March 1634 (thereafter celebrated as "Maryland Day"), at 

Blackistone Island, thereafter known as St. Clement's Island, 

off the northern shore of the Potomac River, upstream from its 

confluence with the Chesapeake Bay and Point Lookout. The 

new settlers were led by Lord Baltimore's younger brother the 

Honorable Leonard Calvert, whom Baltimore had delegated to 

serve as governor of the new colony.  

The Native Americans in Maryland were a peaceful people who 

welcomed the English. At the time of the founding of the 

Maryland colony, approximately forty tribes consisting of 8,000 

– 10,000 people lived in the area. They were fearful of the 

colonists’ guns, but welcomed trade for metal tools. The Native 

Americans who were living in the location where the colonists 

first settled were called the Yaocomico Indians. The colonists 

gave the Yaocomico Indians cloth, hatchets, and hoes in 

exchange for the right to settle on the land. The Yaocomico 

Indians allowed the English settlers to live in their houses, a 

type of longhouse called a witchott. The Indians also taught 

the colonists how to plant corn, beans, and squash, as well as 

where to find food such as clams and oysters. 

Here at St. Clement's Island they raised a large cross, and led 

by Jesuit Father Andrew White celebrated Mass. The new 

settlement was called "St. Mary's City" and it became the first 

capitol of Maryland. It remained so for sixty years until 1695 

when the colony's capital was moved north to the more central, 
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newly established "Anne Arundel's Town (also briefly known as 

"Providence") and later renamed as "Annapolis".  

More settlers soon followed. The tobacco crops that they had 

planted from the outset were very successful and quickly made 

the new colony profitable. However, given the incidence of 

malaria and typhoid, life expectancy in Maryland was about 10 

years less than in New England.  

"Historic St. Mary's City" (a historic preservationist/tourism 

agency) has been established to protect what is left of the 

ruins of the original 17th century village, and several 

reconstructed, government buildings, little of which remained 

intact. With the exception of several periods of rebellion by 

early Protestants and later colonists, the colony/province 

remained under the control of the several Lords Baltimore until 

1775–1776, when it joined with other colonies in rebellion 

against Great Britain and eventually became the independent 

and sovereign U.S. State of Maryland.  

Relations with the Susquehannock 

In 1642, the Province of Maryland declared war on the 

indigenous Susquehannock nation (Conestoga peoples). The 

Susquehannock (with the help of the colony of New Sweden) 

defeated Maryland in 1644. As a result, the Conestoga traded 

almost exclusively with New Sweden to the north while the 

colony was young. The Susquehannocks remained in an 

intermittent state of war with Maryland until a peace treaty 

was concluded in 1652, but would become allies in the 

following decades. Records from this era are poor and accounts 

of these early conflicts are incomplete.  
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In the peace treaty of 1652 the Susquehannock ceded to 

Maryland large territories on both shores of the Chesapeake 

Bay in return for arms and for safety on their southern flank. 

This decision was also related to the unrest among Native 

Americans caused by the Beaver Wars of the late 1650s, in 

which the Haudenosaunee (Iroquois) swept south and west 

against other tribes and territories to expand their hunting 

grounds for the fur trade. With the help of Maryland's arms, 

the Susquehannock fought off the Iroquois Confederacy 

effectively, and a brief peace followed. In 1666 the 

Susquehannock decisively defeated two tribes of the Five 

Nations of the Iroquois, recasting the power relationships in 

the upper Susquehanna Valley and those into the lower parts 

of New York. This kept the colony free of incursions by the 

warlike Iroquois. However, the buffer of the Susquehannock 

nation soon failed to protect the colony from the threat of the 

powerful Iroquois: the Susquehannock tribe became decimated 

by an epidemic. They went from being a regional power to 

nearly extinct in the first years of the 1870s. In a later peace 

with the colonial governments of Virginia and Maryland, the 

Iroquois agreed in a treaty to absorb their remaining distant 

cousins, and the remaining Susquehannock people became a 

mere shadow of their former power. By 1878 only 300 or so 

remained in the Wyoming Valley.  

Border disputes 

With Virginia 

In 1629, George Calvert, 1st Lord Baltimore "driven by 'the 

sacred duty of finding a refuge for his Roman Catholic 

brethren," applied to Charles I for a royal charter to establish 
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a colony south of Virginia. He also wanted a share of the 

fortunes being made in tobacco in Virginia, and hoped to 

recoup some of the financial losses he had sustained in his 

earlier colonial venture in Newfoundland.  

In 1631, William Claiborne a Puritan from Virginia received a 

royal trading commission granting him the right to trade with 

the natives on all lands in the mid-Atlantic where there was 

not already a patent in effect. Claiborne established a trading 

post on Kent Island on 28 May 1631.  

Meanwhile, back in London, the Privy Council persuaded the 

1st Lord Baltimore that he be granted a charter for lands north 

of the Virginia colony, in order to put pressure on the Dutch 

settlements further north along the Delaware and Hudson 

Rivers. Calvert agreed, but died in 1632 before the charter was 

formally signed by King Charles I. The Royal Grant and Charter 

for the new colony of Maryland was then granted to his son, 

Cecilius Calvert, 2nd Baron Baltimore, on 20 June 1632. This 

placed Claiborne on Calvert land. Claiborne refused to 

recognize Lord Baltimore's charter and rights.  

Following the arrest of one of his agents for trading in 

Maryland waters without a license in 1635, Claiborne fitted out 

an armed ship, and there ensued a naval battle on April 23, 

1635 by the mouth of the Pocomoke River during which 3 

Virginians were killed. Following this battle, Leonard Calvert 

captured Kent Island by force in February 1638.  

In 1644, during the English Civil War Claiborne led an 

uprising of Protestants in what came to be called the 

Plundering Time, also known as "Claiborne and Ingle's 

Rebellion" and retook Kent Island. Meanwhile, privateer 
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Captain Richard Ingle (Claiborne's co-commander) seized 

control of St. Mary's City, the capital of the Maryland colony. 

Catholic Governor Calvert escaped to the Virginia Colony which 

remained nominally loyal to the crown until 1652. The 

Protestant pirates began plundering the property of anyone 

who did not swear allegiance to the English Parliament, mainly 

Catholics. The rebellion was put down in 1647 by Governor 

Calvert.  

A Parliamentary victory in England renewed old tensions 

leading to the Battle of the Severn, now present-day Annapolis, 

in 1655 between moderate Protestants and Catholics loyal to 

Lord Baltimore under the command of William Stone and 

Puritans loyal to the Commonwealth of England from the 

settlement of "Providence" under the command of Captain 

William Fuller. 17 of Stones men and two Puritans were killed, 

resulting in victory for the Puritans.  

The issue of the ongoing Claiborne grievance was finally settled 

by an agreement reached in 1657. Lord Baltimore provided 

Claiborne amnesty for all of his offenses, Virginia laid aside 

any claim it had to Maryland territory, and Claiborne was 

indemnified with extensive land grants in Virginia for his loss 

of Kent Island.  

"Multiple colonial charters, two negotiated settlements by the 

states in 1785 and 1958, an arbitrated agreement in 1877, and 

several Supreme Court decisions have defined how Maryland 

and Virginia would deal with the Potomac River as a boundary 

line, and shaped the boundary on the Eastern Shore 

(separating Accomack County in Virginia from 

Worcester/Somerset counties in Maryland)."  
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With Pennsylvania 

The border dispute with Pennsylvania continued and led to 

Cresap's War, a conflict between settlers from Pennsylvania 

and Maryland fought in the 1730s. Hostilities erupted in 1730 

with a series of violent incidents prompted by disputes over 

property rights and law enforcement, and escalated through 

the first half of the decade, culminating in the deployment of 

military forces by Maryland in 1736 and by Pennsylvania in 

1737. The armed phase of the conflict ended in May 1738 with 

the intervention of King George II, who compelled the 

negotiation of a cease-fire. A provisional agreement had been 

established in 1732.  

Maryland lost some of its original territory to Pennsylvania in 

the 1660s when King Charles II granted the Penn family, 

owners of Pennsylvania, a tract that overlapped the Calvert 

family's Maryland grant. For 80 years the powerful Penn and 

Calvert families had feuded over overlapping Royal grants. 

Surveyors Charles Mason and Jeremiah Dixon mapped the 

Maryland-Pennsylvania border in 1767, setting out the Mason–

Dixon line.  

With New York 

In 1672, Lord Baltimore declared that Maryland included the 

settlement of Whorekills on the west shore of the Delaware 

Bay, an area under the jurisdiction of the Province of New York 

(as the British had renamed New Netherland after taking 

possession in 1664). A force was dispatched which attacked 

and captured this settlement. New York could not immediately 
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respond because New York was soon recaptured by the Dutch. 

This settlement was restored to the Province of New York when 

New York was recaptured from the Dutch in November, 1674.  

Government 

The Lords Baltimore 

• George Calvert, 1st Baron Baltimore (1579–1631), 

Secretary of State under King James I, applied in 

1629 for charter to establish a colony in the Mid-

Atlantic area of North America, but died five weeks 

before it was issued. 

• Caecilius Calvert, 2nd Baron Baltimore (1605–1675), 

inherited both his father's title and his charter, 

which was granted in 1632. He was named for Sir 

Robert Cecil, first Earl of Salisbury, principal 

Secretary of State to Queen Elizabeth, whom Calvert 

had met during an extended trip to Europe between 

1601 and 1603. Rather than go to the colony 

himself, Baltimore stayed behind in England to deal 

with the political opposition raised by supporters of 

the Virginia Colony and sent his next younger 

brother Leonard in his stead. Caecilius never 

travelled to Maryland. 

• Charles Calvert, 3rd Baron Baltimore (1637–1715), 

sailed to Maryland in 1661 as a young man of 24, 

becoming the first member of the Calvert family to 

take personal charge of the colony. He was appointed 

deputy governor by his father and, when the 2nd 

Lord Baltimore died in 1675, Charles inherited 

Maryland, becoming governor in his own right. 
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During his tenure the price of tobacco began to 

decline, causing economic hardship especially among 

the poor. A hurricane in 1667 devastated the tobacco 

crop. In 1684, the 3rd Lord Baltimore travelled to 

England in regard to a border dispute with William 

Penn. He never returned to Maryland. In his absence 

the Protestant Revolution of 1689 took control of the 

colony. That year the family's royal charter was also 

withdrawn, and Maryland became a Royal Colony. 

• Benedict Calvert, 4th Baron Baltimore (1679–1715) 

understood that the chief impediment to the 

restoration of his family's title to Maryland was the 

question of religion. In 1713 he converted to 

Anglicanism, despite his father cutting off his 

support. He also withdrew his son Charles from a 

Jesuit school, largely for political reasons. 

Henceforth father and son would worship within the 

Church of England, much to the disgust of his father 

Charles Calvert, 3rd Baron Baltimore, who 

maintained his Catholic faith despite the political 

drawbacks, until his death in February 1715. 

Benedict became the Fourth Lord Baltimore upon his 

father's death in February 1715 and immediately 

petitioned King George I to reinstate the family's 

charter. However, the 4th Lord Baltimore survived 

his father by only two months, dying himself in April 

1715. 

• Charles Calvert, 5th Baron Baltimore (1699–1751) 

was the great-grandson of Charles II of England 

through his maternal grandmother, Charlotte Lee, 

Countess of Lichfield, the illegitimate daughter of the 

king's mistress, Barbara Palmer, 1st Duchess of 
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Cleveland. The Province of Maryland was restored to 

the control of the Calvert family by King George I 

when around 1715 Charles Calvert, 5th Baron 

Baltimore, swore publicly that he was a Protestant 

and had embraced the Anglican faith. 

• Frederick Calvert, 6th Baron Baltimore (1731–1771) 

inherited from his father the title Baron Baltimore 

and the Proprietary Governorship of the Province of 

Maryland in 1751. The 6th Lord Baltimore wielded 

immense power in Maryland, which was then a 

colony of the Kingdom of Great Britain, administered 

directly by the Calverts. Frederick's inheritance 

coincided with a period of rising discontent in 

Maryland, amid growing demands by the legislative 

assembly for an end to his family's authoritarian 

rule. Frederick, however, remained aloof from the 

colony and never set foot in it in his lifetime. He 

lived a life of leisure, writing verse and regarding the 

Province of Maryland as little more than a source of 

revenue. The colony was ruled through governors 

appointed by the 6th Lord Baltimore. His frequent 

travels made him difficult to contact and meant that 

Maryland was largely ruled without him. His 

personal life was extremely scandalous by the 

standards of the time, and this contributed to 

growing unrest in his colony. In 1758, his wife "died 

from a hurt she received by a fall out of a Phaeton 

carriage" while accompanied by her husband. 

Although Frederick was suspected of foul play, no 

charges were ever brought. 
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Frederick died in 1771, by which time relations between 

Britain and her American colonies were fast deteriorating. In 

his will, Frederick left his proprietary Palatinate of Maryland to 

his eldest illegitimate son, Henry Harford, then aged just 13. 

The colony, perhaps grateful to be rid of Frederick at last, 

recognized Harford as Calvert's heir. 

However, the will was challenged by the family of Frederick's 

sister, Louisa Calvert Browning, who did not recognize 

Harford's inheritance. Before the case could grind its way 

through the Court of Chancery, Maryland had become engulfed 

by the American Revolution and by 1776 was at war with 

Britain. Henry Harford would ultimately lose almost all his 

colonial possessions.  

Proprietarial rule 

Lord Baltimore held all the land directly from the King for the 

payment of "two Indian arrowheads annually and one fifth of 

all gold and silver found in the colony." Maryland's foundation 

charter was drafted in feudal terms and based on the practices 

of the ancient County Palatine of Durham, which existed until 

1646. He was given the rights and privileges of a Palatine lord, 

and the extensive authority that went with it. The Proprietor 

had the right and power to establish courts and appoint judges 

and magistrates, to enforce all laws, to grant titles, to erect 

towns, to pardon all offenses, to found churches, to call out 

the fighting population and wage war, to impose martial law, to 

convey or lease the land, and to levy duties and tolls.  

However, as elsewhere in English North America, English 

political institutions were re-created in the colonies, and the 
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Maryland General Assembly fulfilled much the same function 

as the House of Commons of England. An act was passed 

providing that:  

• "from henceforth and for ever everyone being of the 

council of the Province and any other gentleman of 

able judgement summoned by writ (and the Lord of 

every Manor within this Province after Manors be 

erected) shall and may have his voice, seat, and 

place in every General Assembly. together with two 

or more able and sufficient men for the hundred as 

the said freedmen or the major part of them ... shall 

think good". 

In addition, the Lord Proprietor could summon any delegates 

whom he was pleased to select.  

In some ways the General Assembly was an improvement upon 

the institutions of the mother country. In 1639, noting that 

Parliament had not been summoned in England for a decade, 

the free men of Maryland passed an act to the effect that 

"assemblies were to be called once in every three years at the 

least," ensuring that their voices would be regularly heard. 

Due to immigration, by 1660 the population of the Province 

had gradually become predominantly Protestant. Political 

power remained concentrated in the hands of the largely 

Catholic elite. 

Most councilors were Catholics and many were related by blood 

or marriage to the Calverts, enjoying political patronage and 

often lucrative offices such as commands in the militia or 

sinecures in the Land Office.  
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Religious conflict 

Although Maryland was an early pioneer of religious toleration 

in the British colonies, religious strife among Anglicans, 

Puritans, Roman Catholics, and Quakers was common in the 

early years, and Puritan rebels briefly seized control of the 

province. In 1644 the dispute with William Claiborne led to 

armed conflict. Claiborne seized Kent Island while his 

associate, the pro-Parliament Puritan Richard Ingle, took over 

St. Mary's. Both used religion as a tool to gain popular 

support. From 1644 to 1646, the so-called "Plundering Time" 

was a period of civil unrest aggravated by the tensions of the 

English Civil War (1641–1651). Leonard Calvert returned from 

exile with troops, recaptured St. Mary's City, and eventually 

restored order.  

In 1649 Maryland passed the Maryland Toleration Act, also 

known as the Act Concerning Religion, a law mandating 

religious tolerance for trinitarian Christians. Passed on 21 

September 1649 by the assembly of the Maryland Colony, it 

was the first law requiring religious tolerance in the English 

North American colonies. In 1654, after the Third English Civil 

War (1649–1651), Parliamentary (Puritan) forces assumed 

control of Maryland for a time.  

When dissidents pressed for an established church, Caecilius 

Calvert's noted that Maryland settlers were "Presbyterians, 

Independents, Anabaptists, and Quakers, those of the Church 

of England as well as the Romish being the fewest ... it would 

be a most difficult task to draw such persons to consent unto a 

Law which shall compel them to maintaine ministers of a 

contrary perswasion to themselves."  
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The Protestant Revolution of 1689 

In 1689, Maryland Puritans, by now a substantial majority in 

the colony, revolted against the proprietary government, in 

part because of the apparent preferment of Catholics like 

Colonel Henry Darnall to official positions of power. Led by 

Colonel John Coode, an army of 700 Puritans defeated a 

proprietarial army led by Colonel Darnall. Darnall later wrote: 

"Wee being in this condition and no hope left of quieting the 

people thus enraged, to prevent effusion of blood, capitulated 

and surrendered." 

The victorious Coode and his Puritans set up a new 

government that outlawed Catholicism, and Darnall was 

deprived of all his official roles. Coode's government was, 

however, unpopular; and William III installed a Crown-

appointed governor in 1692. This was Lionel Copley who 

governed Maryland until his death in 1694 and was replaced 

by Francis Nicholson.  

After this "Protestant Revolution" in Maryland, Darnall was 

forced, like many other Catholics, to maintain a secret chapel 

in his home in order to celebrate the Roman Catholic Mass. In 

1704, an Act was passed "to prevent the growth of Popery in 

this Province", preventing Catholics from holding political 

office.  

Full religious toleration would not be restored in Maryland 

until the American Revolution, when Darnall's great-grandson 

Charles Carroll of Carrollton, arguably the wealthiest Catholic 

in Maryland, signed the American Declaration of Independence.  
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Plantations and economy 

Early settlements and population centers tended to cluster 

around the rivers and other waterways that empty into 

Chesapeake Bay. In the 17th century, most Marylanders lived 

in rough conditions on small farms. While they raised a variety 

of fruits, vegetables, grains, and livestock, the main cash crop 

was tobacco, which soon dominated the province's economy.  

The Province of Maryland developed along lines very similar to 

those of Virginia. Tobacco was used as money, and the colonial 

legislature was obliged to pass a law requiring tobacco planters 

to raise a certain amount of corn as well, in order to ensure 

that the colonists would not go hungry. Like Virginia, 

Maryland's economy quickly became centered around the 

farming of tobacco for sale in Europe. 

The need for cheap labor to help with the growth of tobacco, 

and later with the mixed farming economy that developed when 

tobacco prices collapsed, led to a rapid expansion of 

indentured servitude and, later, forcible immigration and 

enslavement of Africans.  

By 1730 there were public tobacco warehouses every fourteen 

miles. Bonded at £1,000 sterling, each inspector received from 

£25 to £60 as annual salary. Four hogsheads of 950 pounds 

were considered a ton for London shipment. Ships from English 

ports did not need port cities; they called at the wharves of 

warehouses or plantations along the rivers for tobacco and the 

next year returned with goods the planters had ordered from 

the shops of London.  
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Outside the plantations, much land was operated by 

independent farmers who rented from the proprietors, or owned 

it outright. They emphasized subsistence farming to grow food 

for their large families. Many of the Irish and Scottish 

immigrants specialized in rye-whiskey making, which they sold 

to obtain cash.  

The 18th century 

Maryland developed into a plantation colony by the 18th 

century. In 1700 there were about 25,000 people and by 1750 

that had grown more than 5 times to 130,000. By 1755, about 

40% of Maryland's population was black. Maryland planters 

also made extensive use of indentured servants and penal 

labor. An extensive system of rivers facilitated the movement of 

produce from inland plantations and farms to the Atlantic 

coast for export. Baltimore, on the Patapsco River, leading to 

the Chesapeake Bay, was the second-most important port in 

the 18th-century South, after Charleston, South Carolina.  

Dr. Alexander Hamilton (1712–1756) was a Scottish-born 

doctor and writer who lived and worked in Annapolis. Leo 

Lemay says his 1744 travel diary Gentleman's Progress: The 

Itinerarium of Dr. Alexander Hamilton is "the best single 

portrait of men and manners, of rural and urban life, of the 

wide range of society and scenery in colonial America."  

The Abbé Claude C. Robin, a chaplain in the army of General 

Rochambeau, who travelled through Maryland during the 

Revolutionary War, described the lifestyle enjoyed by families 

of wealth and status in the colony:  
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• [Maryland houses] are large and spacious 

habitations, widely separated, composed of a number 

of buildings and surrounded by plantations 

extending farther than the eye can reach, cultivated 

... by unhappy black men whom European avarice 

brings hither. ...Their furniture is of the most costly 

wood, and rarest marbles, enriched by skilful and 

artistic work. Their elegant and light carriages are 

drawn by finely bred horses, and driven by richly 

apparelled slaves." 

In the late colonial period, the southern and eastern portions 

of the Province continued in their tobacco economy, but as the 

American Revolution approached, northern and central 

Maryland increasingly became centers of wheat production. 

This helped drive the expansion of interior farming towns like 

Frederick and Maryland's major port city of Baltimore.  

The American Revolution 

Up to the time of the American Revolution, the Province of 

Maryland was one of two colonies that remained an English 

proprietary colony, Pennsylvania being the other. Maryland 

declared independence from Britain in 1776, with Samuel 

Chase, 

William Paca, Thomas Stone, and Charles Carroll of Carrollton 

signing the Declaration of Independence for the colony. In the 

1776–77 debates over the Articles of Confederation, 

Maryland delegates led the party that insisted that states with 

western land claims cede them to the Confederation 
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government, and in 1781 Maryland became the last state to 

ratify the Articles of Confederation. It accepted the United 

States Constitution more readily, ratifying it on 28 April 1788.  

Maryland also gave up some territory to create the new District 

of Columbia after the American Revolution.  

  



Chapter 18 

Connecticut Colony Founded by 

Thomas Hooker 

The Connecticut Colony or Colony of Connecticut, originally 

known as the Connecticut River Colony or simply the River 

Colony, was an English colony in New England which became 

the state of Connecticut. It was organized on March 3, 1636 as 

a settlement for a Puritan congregation, and the English 

permanently gained control of the region in 1637 after 

struggles with the Dutch. The colony was later the scene of a 

bloody war between the colonists and Pequot Indians known as 

the Pequot War. Connecticut Colony played a significant role in 

the establishment of self-government in the New World with its 

refusal to surrender local authority to the Dominion of New 

England, an event known as the Charter Oak incident which 

occurred at Jeremy Adams' inn and tavern.  

Two other English settlements in the State of Connecticut were 

merged into the Colony of Connecticut: Saybrook Colony in 

1644 and New Haven Colony in 1662.  

Leaders 

Governor John Haynes of the Massachusetts Bay Colony led 

100 people to Hartford in 1636. He and Puritan minister 

Thomas Hooker are often considered the founders of the 

Connecticut colony. Hooker delivered a sermon to his 

congregation on May 31, 1638, on the principles of 
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government, and it influenced those who wrote the 

Fundamental Orders of Connecticut later that year. The 

Fundamental Orders may have been drafted by Roger Ludlow of 

Windsor, the only trained lawyer living in Connecticut in the 

1630s; they were transcribed into the official record by 

secretary Thomas Welles. The Revolution John Davenport and 

merchant Theophilus Eaton led the founders of the New Haven 

Colony, which was absorbed into Connecticut Colony in the 

1660s.  

In the colony's early years, the governor could not serve 

consecutive terms, so the governorship rotated for 20 years 

between John Haynes and Edward Hopkins, both of whom were 

from Hartford. George Wyllys, Thomas Welles, and John 

Webster, also Hartford men, sat in the governor's chair for 

brief periods in the 1640s and 1650s.  

John Winthrop the Younger of New London was the son of the 

founder of the Massachusetts Bay Colony, and he played an 

important role in consolidating separate settlements into a 

single colony on the Connecticut River. He also served as 

Governor of Connecticut from 1659 to 1675, and he was 

instrumental in obtaining the colony's 1662 charter which 

incorporated New Haven into Connecticut. His son Fitz-John 

Winthrop also governed the colony for 10 years starting in 

1698.  

Major John Mason was the military leader of the early colony. 

He was the commander in the Pequot War, a magistrate, and 

the founder of Windsor, Saybrook, and Norwich. He was also 

Deputy Governor under Winthrop. Roger Ludlow was an 

Oxford-educated lawyer and former Deputy Governor of the 
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Massachusetts Bay Colony. He petitioned the General Court for 

rights to settle the area, and he led the March Commission in 

settling disputes over land rights. He is credited as drafting 

the Fundamental Orders of Connecticut (1650) in collaboration 

with Hooker, Winthrop, and others. He was also the first 

Deputy Governor of Connecticut.  

William Leete of Guilford served as governor of New Haven 

Colony before its merger into Connecticut, and he also served 

as governor of Connecticut following Winthrop's death in 1675. 

He is the only man to serve as governor of both New Haven and 

Connecticut. Robert Treat of Milford served as governor of the 

colony, both before and after its inclusion in the Dominion of 

New England under Sir Edmund Andros. His father Richard 

Treat was one of the original patentees of the colony. Roger 

Wolcott was a weaver, statesman, and politician from Windsor, 

and he served as governor from 1751 to 1754. Oliver Wolcott 

was a signer of the Declaration of Independence and also of the 

Articles of Confederation, as a representative of Connecticut 

and the nineteenth governor. He was a major general for the 

Connecticut Militia in the Revolutionary War serving under 

George Washington.  

Religion 

The original colonies along the Connecticut River and in New 

Haven were established by separatist Puritans who were 

connected with the Massachusetts and Plymouth colonies. 

They held Calvinist religious beliefs similar to the English 

Puritans, but they maintained that their congregations needed 

to be separated from the English state church. They had 

immigrated to New England during the Great Migration. In the 
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middle of the 17th century, the government restricted voting 

rights with a property qualification and a church membership 

requirement. Congregationalism was the established church in 

the colony by the time of the American Revolutionary War.  

Economic and social history 

The economy began with subsistence farming in the 17th 

century and developed with greater diversity and an increased 

focus on production for distant markets, especially the British 

colonies in the Caribbean. The American Revolution cut off 

imports from Britain and stimulated a manufacturing sector 

that made heavy use of the entrepreneurship and mechanical 

skills of the people. In the second half of the 18th century, 

difficulties arose from the shortage of good farmland, periodic 

money problems, and downward price pressures in the export 

market. 

In agriculture, there was a shift from grain to animal products. 

The colonial government attempted to promote various 

commodities as export items from time to time, such as hemp, 

potash, and lumber, in order to bolster its economy and 

improve its balance of trade with Great Britain.  

Connecticut's domestic architecture included a wide variety of 

house forms. They generally reflected the dominant English 

heritage and architectural tradition.  

Thomas Hooker 

Thomas Hooker (July 5, 1586 – July 7, 1647) was a prominent 

English colonial leader, who founded the Colony of Connecticut 
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after dissenting with Puritan leaders in Massachusetts. He was 

known as an outstanding speaker and an advocate of universal 

Christian suffrage.  

Called today "the Father of Connecticut", Rev. Thomas Hooker 

was a towering figure in the early development of colonial New 

England. He was one of the great preachers of his time, an 

erudite writer on Christian subjects, the first minister of 

Cambridge, Massachusetts, one of the first settlers and 

founders of both the city of Hartford and the state of 

Connecticut, and cited by many as the inspiration for the 

"Fundamental Orders of Connecticut", which some have called 

the world's first written democratic constitution establishing a 

representative government.  

Life 

Hooker was likely born in Leicestershire at "Marfield" 

(Marefield or possibly Markfield) or Birstall. He went to Dixie 

Grammar School at Market Bosworth. Family genealogist 

Edward Hooker linked Thomas Hooker to the Hooker family in 

Devon which produced the theologian and clergyman Richard 

Hooker. Other Hooker genealogists, however, have traced 

Thomas Hooker to Leicestershire. Positive evidence linking 

Thomas to Leicestershire is lacking since the Marefield parish 

records from before 1610 perished. Any link to the Rev. 

Richard is likewise lacking since the Rev. Thomas's personal 

papers were disposed of and his house destroyed after his 

death.  

In March 1604, he entered Queens' College, Cambridge as a 

sizar but migrated to Emmanuel College. He received his 
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Bachelor of Arts in 1608 and his Master of Arts in 1611. In 

1609 he was elected to a Dixie fellowship at Emmanuel.  

Hooker was appointed to St George's Church, Esher, Surrey in 

1620, where he earned a reputation as an excellent speaker 

and became noted for his pastoral care of Mrs. Joan Drake, the 

wife of the patron. She was a depressive whose stages of 

spiritual regeneration became a model for his later theological 

thinking. While associated with the Drake household, he 

married Susannah Garbrand, Mrs. Drake's woman-in-waiting 

(April 3, 1621) in Amersham, Mrs. Drake's birthplace.  

Around 1626, Hooker became a lecturer or preacher at what 

was then St. Mary's parish church, Chelmsford (now 

Chelmsford Cathedral) and curate to its rector, John 

Michaelson. However, in 1629 Archbishop William Laud 

suppressed church lecturers, and Hooker retired to Little 

Baddow where he kept a school. His leadership of Puritan 

sympathizers brought him a summons to the Court of High 

Commission. Forfeiting his bond, Hooker fled to Rotterdam in 

the Netherlands, and considered a position in the English 

Reformed Church, Amsterdam, as assistant to its senior 

pastor, the Rev. John Paget. From the Netherlands, after a 

clandestine trip to England to put his affairs in order, he 

immigrated to the Massachusetts Bay Colony aboard the 

Griffin.  

Hooker arrived in Boston and settled in Newtown (later 

renamed Cambridge), where he became the pastor of the 

earliest established church there, known to its members as 

"The Church of Christ at Cambridge." His congregation, some 

of whom may have been members of congregations he had 
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served in England, became known as "Mr. Hooker's Company". 

For a time he lived in Watertown, Massachusetts, but felt that 

the towns were too close together. When the General Court of 

Massachusetts allowed residents to split off and found new 

communities, his group was among the first to go.  

Voting in Massachusetts was limited to freemen, individuals 

who had been formally admitted to their church after a 

detailed interrogation of their religious views and experiences. 

Hooker disagreed with this limitation of suffrage, putting him 

at odds with the influential pastor John Cotton. Owing to his 

conflict with Cotton and discontented with the suppression of 

Puritan suffrage and at odds with the colony leadership, 

Hooker and the Rev. Samuel Stone led a group of about 100 

who, in 1636, founded the settlement of Hartford, named for 

Stone's place of birth, Hertford in England.  

This led to the founding of the Connecticut Colony. Hooker 

became more active in politics in Connecticut. The General 

Court representing Wethersfield, 

Windsor and Hartford met at the end of May 1638 to frame a 

written constitution in order to establish a government for the 

commonwealth. Hooker preached the opening sermon at First 

Church of Hartford on May 31, declaring that "the foundation 

of authority is laid in the free consent of the people."  

On January 14, 1639, freemen from these three settlements 

ratified the "Fundamental Orders of Connecticut" in what John 

Fiske called "the first written constitution known to history 

that created a government. 
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It marked the beginnings of American democracy, of which 

Thomas Hooker deserves more than any other man to be called 

the father. The government of the United States today is in 

lineal descent more nearly related to that of Connecticut than 

to that of any of the other thirteen colonies."  

In recognition of this, near Chelmsford Cathedral, Essex, 

England, where he was town lecturer and curate, there is a 

blue plaque fixed high on the wall of a narrow alleyway, 

opposite the south porch, that reads: "Thomas Hooker, 1586–

1647, Curate at St. Mary's Church and Chelmsford Town 

Lecturer 1626–29. Founder of the State of Connecticut, Father 

of American Democracy."  

Death and legacy 

The Rev. Hooker died during an "epidemical sickness" on July 

7, 1647, at the age of 61, two days after his 61st birthday. The 

location of his grave is unknown, although he is believed to be 

buried in Hartford's Ancient Burying Ground where there is a 

crypt right now, there also is a plaque on the back of the 

church as well. Because there was no known portrait of him, 

the statue of him that stands nearby, in front of Hartford's Old 

State House, was sculpted from the likenesses of his 

descendants.  

However, the city is not without a sense of humor regarding its 

origins. Each year in October, organizations and citizens of 

Hartford dress up in outrageous costumes to celebrate Hooker 

Day with the Hooker Day Parade. T-shirts sold in the Old State 

House proclaim "Hartford was founded by a Hooker."  
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Views 

Thomas Hooker strongly advocated extended suffrage to 

include Puritan worshippers, a view which would lead him and 

his followers to colonize Connecticut. He also promoted the 

concept of a government that must answer to the people, 

stating: "[T]hey who have the power to appoint officers and 

magistrates, it is in their power, also, to set the bounds and 

limitations of the power and place unto which they call them" 

through "the privilege of election, which belongs to the people 

according to the blessed will and law of God". Thomas Hooker 

argued for greater religious tolerance towards all Christian 

denominations.  

Hooker defended the calling of synods by magistrates, and 

attended a convention of ministers in Boston whose purpose 

was to defend Congregationalism. Hooker later published A 

Survey of the Summed of Church-Discipline in defense of 

Congregationalism, and applied its principles to politics and 

government.  

Thomas Hooker was a prominent proponent of the doctrine of 

preparationism, which taught that by making use of the means 

of grace, a "person seeking conversion might dispose himself 

toward receiving God's grace." He believed that much of God's 

favor needed to be re-earned by men. To Hooker, sin was the 

most crafty of enemies, defeating grace on most occasions. He 

disagreed with many of the predecessor theologies of Free 

Grace theology, preferring a more muted view on the subject. 

He focused on preparation for heaven and following the 

moralist character.  
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Family 

Thomas Hooker came to the colonies with his second wife, 

Suzanne. Nothing is known of his first wife.  

His son Samuel, likely born at Cambridge, Massachusetts, 

graduated from Harvard College in 1653. He became minister 

of Farmington, 

Connecticut, where his descendants lived for many 

generations. Of Rev. Samuel Hooker, Cotton Mather wrote in 

Magnalia Christi Americana: "Thus we have to this day among 

us our dead Hooker, yet living in his worthy son Samuel 

Hooker, an able, faithful, useful minister at Farmington, in the 

Colony of Connecticut."  

His daughter Mary married Rev. Roger Newton who was a 

founder and first minister of Farmington, Connecticut. He later 

went on to be minister in Milford, Connecticut.  

John Hooker, son of Rev. Samuel and grandson of Rev. 

Thomas, served as Speaker of the Connecticut Assembly, and 

previously as Judge of the state supreme court. James Hooker, 

brother of John and son of Rev. Samuel, also became a 

prominent political figure in Connecticut. He married the 

daughter of William Leete of Guilford, Connecticut, and 

subsequently settled there. James Hooker served as the first 

probate judge, and later as speaker of the Connecticut colonial 

assembly. Rev. Thomas's granddaughter Mary Hooker, the 

daughter of Rev. Samuel, married the Rev. James Pierpont. 

Their daughter Sarah Pierpont married the Rev. Jonathan 

Edwards.  
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Other descendants of Thomas Hooker include Henry Hooker, 

John Hooker, Arthur Atterbury, Charles Atterbury Mary Hooker 

Pierpont, William Howard Taft, Timothy Dwight V, Aaron Burr, 

William Gillette, William Huntington Russell, Edward H. 

Gillette, George Catlin, Emma Willard, J.P. Morgan, Rev. 

Joshua Leavitt, Roger Hooker Leavitt, Hart Leavitt, Frank 

Nelson Doubleday, John Turner Sargent, Thom Miller, Adonijah 

Rockwell and Nathan Watson. On May 16, 1890, descendants 

of Thomas Hooker held their first reunion at Hartford, 

Connecticut.  

Famous Hooker descendants 

• Allen Butler Talcott, painter 

• John Butler Talcott, industrialist and founder of the 

New Britain Museum of American Art 

Works 

• The Application of Redemption. 1659. 

• A Brief Exposition of the Lord's Prayer. London: Moses 

Bell. 1645. 

• The Christian's Two Chief Lessons: Self-Denial and 

Self-Trial. 

• The Covenant of Grace Opened. 

• The Danger of Desertion Or A Farewell Sermon of Mr. 

Thomas Hooker. 

• An Exposition of the Principles of Religion. 1645. 

• Hooker, Thomas (1629). The Poor Doubting Christian 

Drawn to Christ. 

• The Saint's Dignity and Duty. 1651. 
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• The Soul's Exaltation. London: John Haviland. 1638. 

• The Soul's Humiliation. International Outreach. 

• The Soul's Ingrafting into Christ. 1637. 

• The Soul's Preparation for Christ: Or, A Treatise of 

Contrition, Wherein is discovered How God breaks the 

heart, and wounds the Soul, in the conversion of a 

Sinner to Himself The Soul's Preparation for Christ. 

1632. 

• A Survey Of The Summe Of Church-Discipline: 

Wherein The Way Of The Churches Of New England Is 

Warranted Out Of The Word. London: John Bellamy. 

1648. 

  



Chapter 19 

Colony of Rhode Island and 

Providence Plantations Founded 

by Roger Williams 

The Colony of Rhode Island and Providence Plantations was 

one of the original Thirteen Colonies established on the east 

coast of America, bordering the Atlantic Ocean. It was founded 

by Roger Williams. It was an English colony from 1636 until 

1707, and then a colony of Great Britain until the American 

Revolution in 1776, when it became the State of Rhode Island 

and Providence Plantations.  

Early America 

• The land that became the English colony was first

home to the Narragansett Indians, which led to the

name of the modern town of Narragansett, Rhode

Island. European settlement began around 1622 with

a trading post at Sowams, now the town of Warren,

Rhode Island.

Roger Williams was a Puritan theologian and linguist who 

founded Providence Plantations in 1636 on land given to him 

by Narragansett sachem Canonicus. He was exiled under 

religious persecution from the Massachusetts Bay Colony; he 

and his fellow settlers agreed on an egalitarian constitution 

providing for majority rule "in civil things," with liberty of 
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conscience on spiritual matters. He named the settlement 

Providence Plantation, believing that God had brought them 

there. (The term "plantation" was used in the 17th century to 

mean an agricultural colony.) Williams named the islands in 

the Narragansett Bay after Christian virtues: Patience, 

Prudence, and Hope Islands.  

In 1637, another group of Massachusetts dissenters purchased 

land from the Indians on Aquidneck Island, which was called 

Rhode Island at the time, and they established a settlement 

called Pocasset. 

The group included William Coddington, John Clarke, and 

Anne and William Hutchinson, among others. That settlement, 

however, quickly split into two separate settlements. Samuel 

Gorton and others remained to establish the settlement of 

Portsmouth (which formerly was Pocasset) in 1638, while 

Coddington and Clarke established nearby Newport in 1639. 

Both settlements were situated on Rhode Island (Aquidneck).  

The second plantation settlement on the mainland was Samuel 

Gorton's Shawomet Purchase from the Narragansetts in 1642. 

As soon as Gorton settled at Shawomet, however, the 

Massachusetts Bay authorities laid claim to his territory and 

acted to enforce their claim. After considerable difficulties with 

the Massachusetts Bay General Court, Gorton traveled to 

London to enlist the help of Robert Rich, 2nd Earl of Warwick, 

head of the Commission for Foreign Plantations. Gorton 

returned in 1648 with a letter from Rich, ordering 

Massachusetts to cease molesting him and his people. In 

gratitude, he changed the name of Shawomet Plantation to 

Warwick.  
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Cromwell interregnum 

In 1651, William Coddington obtained a separate charter from 

England setting up the Coddington Commission, which made 

him life governor of the islands of Rhode Island and Conanicut 

in a federation with Connecticut Colony and Massachusetts 

Bay Colony. Protest, open rebellion, and a further petition to 

Oliver Cromwell in London led to the reinstatement of the 

original charter in 1653.  

Sanctuary for religious freedom 

Following the 1660 restoration of royal rule in England, it was 

necessary to gain a Royal Charter from King Charles II. 

Charles was a Catholic sympathizer in staunchly Protestant 

England, and he approved of the colony's promise of religious 

freedom. He granted the request with the Royal Charter of 

1663, uniting the four settlements together into the Colony of 

Rhode Island and Providence Plantations. In the following 

years, many persecuted groups settled in the colony, notably 

Quakers and Jews. The Rhode Island colony was very 

progressive for the time, passing laws abolishing witchcraft 

trials, imprisonment for debt, and most capital punishment. 

The colony also passed the first anti-slavery law in America on 

May 18, 1652, though the practice remained widespread in 

Rhode Island and there exists no evidence that the legislation 

was ever enforced.  

Rhode Island remained at peace with local Indians, but the 

relationship was more strained between other New England 

colonies and certain tribes and sometimes led to bloodshed, 
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despite attempts by the Rhode Island leadership to broker 

peace. During King Philip's War (1675–1676), both sides 

regularly violated Rhode Island's neutrality. The war's largest 

battle occurred in Rhode Island on December 19, 1675 when a 

force of Massachusetts, Connecticut, and Plymouth militia 

under General Josiah Winslow invaded and destroyed the 

fortified Narragansett village in the Great Swamp. The 

Narragansetts also invaded and burned several towns in Rhode 

Island, including Providence. 

Roger Williams knew both Metacom (Philip) and Canonchet as 

children. He was aware of the tribe's activities and promptly 

sent letters informing the Governor of Massachusetts of enemy 

movements. Providence Plantations made some efforts at 

fortifying the town, and Williams even started training recruits 

for protection. In one of the final actions of the war, troops 

from Connecticut killed King Philip (Metacom) in Mount Hope, 

Rhode Island.  

Dominion of New England 

In the 1680s, Charles II sought to streamline administration of 

the English colonies and to more closely control their trade. 

The Navigation Acts passed in the 1660s were widely disliked, 

since merchants often found themselves trapped and at odds 

with the rules. However, many colonial governments, 

Massachusetts principally among them, refused to enforce the 

acts, and took matters one step further by obstructing the 

activities of the Crown agents. Charles' successor James II 

introduced the Dominion of New England in 1686 as a means 

to accomplish these goals. Under its provisional president 

Joseph Dudley, the disputed "King's Country" (present-day 
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Washington County) was brought into the dominion, and the 

rest of the colony was brought under dominion control by 

Governor Sir Edmund Andros. 

The rule of Andros was extremely unpopular, especially in 

Massachusetts. The 1688 Glorious Revolution deposed James 

II and brought William III and Mary II to the English throne; 

Massachusetts authorities conspired in April 1689 to have 

Andros arrested and sent back to England. With this event, the 

dominion collapsed and Rhode Island resumed its previous 

government.  

The bedrock of the economy continued to be agriculture – 

especially dairy farming – and fishing; lumber and shipbuilding 

also became major industries. Slaves were introduced at this 

time, although there is no record of any law re-legalizing slave 

holding. Ironically, the colony later prospered under the slave 

trade, by distilling rum to sell in Africa as part of a profitable 

triangular trade in slaves and sugar between Africa, America, 

and the Caribbean.  

American Revolutionary period 

Leading figures in the colony were involved in the 1776 launch 

of the American Revolutionary War which delivered American 

independence from the British Empire, such as former royal 

governors Stephen Hopkins and Samuel Ward, as well as John 

Brown, Nicholas Brown, William Ellery, the Reverend James 

Manning, and the Reverend Ezra Stiles, each of whom had 

played an influential role in founding Brown University in 

Providence in 1764 as a sanctuary for religious and intellectual 

freedom.  
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On May 4, 1776, Rhode Island became the first of the 13 

colonies to renounce its allegiance to the British Crown, and 

was the fourth to ratify the Articles of Confederation between 

the newly sovereign states on February 9, 1778. 

It boycotted the 1787 convention that drew up the United 

States Constitution, and initially refused to ratify it. It 

relented after Congress sent a series of constitutional 

amendments to the states for ratification, the Bill of Rights 

guaranteeing specific personal freedoms and rights; clear 

limitations on the government's power in judicial and other 

proceedings; and explicit declarations that all powers not 

specifically delegated to Congress by the Constitution are 

reserved for the states or the people. On May 29, 1790, Rhode 

Island became the 13th state and the last of the former 

colonies to ratify the Constitution.  

Boundaries 

The boundaries of the colony underwent numerous changes, 

including repeated disputes with Massachusetts and 

Connecticut Colonies who contested for control of territory 

later awarded to Rhode Island. Rhode Island's early compacts 

did not stipulate the boundary on the eastern shore of 

Narrangansett Bay, and did not include any of Washington 

County, land that belonged to the Narragansett people. 

The original settlements were at Providence, Warwick, Newport, 

and Portsmouth, and the territory was expanded by purchasing 

land from the Narragansetts westward toward Connecticut and 

the smaller islands in Narrangasett Bay. 
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Block Island was settled in 1637 after the Pequot War, became 

a part of the colony in 1664, and was incorporated in 1672 as 

New Shoreham.  

Western boundary 

The western boundary with Connecticut was defined 

ambiguously as the "Narragansett River" in the Connecticut 

charter, which was decided by arbitrators in 1663 to be the 

Pawcatuck River from its mouth to the Ashaway River mouth, 

from which a northward line was drawn to the Massachusetts 

line. This resolved a long-standing dispute concerning the 

former Narragansett lands which were also claimed by 

Connecticut and Massachusetts, although the dispute 

continued until 1703, when the arbitration award was upheld. 

After repeated surveys, a mutually agreeable line was defined 

and surveyed in 1728.  

Eastern boundary 

The eastern boundary was also an area of dispute with 

Massachusetts. Overlapping charters had awarded an area 

extending three miles inland to both Plymouth and Rhode 

Island east of Narragansett Bay; this area was awarded to 

Rhode Island in 1741, establishing Rhode Island's jurisdiction 

over Barrington, Warren, Bristol, Tiverton, and Little Compton 

which Massachusetts had claimed. Also adjudicated in the 

1741 decision was the award of most of Cumberland to Rhode 

Island from Massachusetts. The final establishment of the 

boundaries north of Barrington and east of the Blackstone 

River occurred almost a century after American independence, 

requiring protracted litigation and multiple US Supreme Court 
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decisions. In the final decision, a portion of Tiverton was 

awarded to Massachusetts to become part of Fall River, and 

2/3 of Seekonk (Now eastern Pawtucket and East Providence) 

was awarded to Rhode Island in 1862.  

Northern boundary 

Rhode Island's northern border with Massachusetts also 

underwent a number of changes. Massachusetts surveyed this 

line in 1642, but subsequent surveys by Massachusetts, Rhode 

Island, and Connecticut agreed that it was placed too far 

south. In 1718-19, commissioners for Rhode Island and 

Massachusetts agreed on roughly that line anyway (except the 

section east of the Blackstone River, which remained disputed 

until 1741), and this is where the line remains today.  

Demographics 

From 1640 to 1774, the population of Rhode Island grew from 

300 to 59,607, but then declined during the American 

Revolutionary War to 52,946 in 1780. After William Coddington 

and a group of 13 other men bought Aquidneck Island from 

Narragansett Indians in 1639, the population of Newport, 

Rhode Island grew from 96 in 1640 to 7,500 in 1760 (making 

Newport the fifth-largest city in the Thirteen Colonies at the 

time), and Newport grew further to 9,209 by 1774. The black 

population in the colony grew from 25 in 1650 to 3,668 in 

1774 (ranging between 3 and 10 percent of the population), 

and like the state as a whole, declined to 2,671 (or 5 percent of 

the population) by 1780. In 1774, Indians accounted for 1,479 

of the inhabitants of the colony (or 3 percent).  
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Rhode Island was the only New England colony without an 

established church. In 1650, of the 109 places of worship with 

regular services in the eight British American colonies 

(including those without resident clergy), only 4 were located 

in Rhode Island (2 Baptist and 2 Congregational), while there 

was a small Jewish enclave in Newport by 1658. Following the 

First Great Awakening (1730–1755), the number of regular 

places of worship in Rhode Island grew to 50 in 1750 (30 

Baptist, 12 Congregational, 7 Anglican, and 1 Jewish), with the 

colony gaining an additional 5 regular places of worship by 

1776 (26 Baptist, 11 Friends, 9 Congregational, 5 Episcopal, 1 

Jewish, 1 New Light Congregational, 1 Presbyterian, and 1 

Sandemanian).  

Puritan mass migration to New England began following the 

issuance of the royal charter for the Massachusetts Bay 

Company by Charles I of England in 1629 and continued until 

the beginning of the English Civil War in 1642, while following 

the war's conclusion in 1651, immigration to New England 

leveled off and the population growth owed almost entirely to 

natural increase rather than immigration or slave importations 

for the remainder of the 17th century and through the 18th 

century. Mass migration from New England to the Province of 

New York and the Province of New Jersey began following the 

surrender of New Netherland by the Dutch Republic at Fort 

Amsterdam in 1664, and the population of New York would 

continue to expand more so by in-migration by families from 

New England (including Rhode Island) in the 18th century 

rather than from natural increase.  

Despite the initial Puritan mass migration also having a 2:1 

male sex-imbalance like the British colonization of the 
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Chesapeake Colonies, unlike the Southern Colonies in the 17th 

century, most Puritan immigrants to New England migrated as 

families (as approximately two-thirds of the male Puritan 

immigrants to New England were married rather than 

unmarried indentured servants), and in late 17th century New 

England, 3 percent of the population was over the age of 65 

(while only 1 percent in the Chesapeake was in 1704). By the 

American Revolutionary War, only 2 percent of the New 

England colonial labor force were bonded or convict laborers 

and another 2 percent were black slaves, while 9 percent of the 

colonial black population in New England were free persons of 

color (as compared with only 3 percent in the Southern 

Colonies). In February 1784, the Rhode Island General 

Assembly passed a gradual emancipation law that increased 

the ratio of the free black population in Rhode Island to 78 

percent by the 1790 U.S. Census and that would ultimately 

eliminate slavery in Rhode Island by 1842.  

Roger Williams 

Roger Williams (c. 21 December 1603 – between 27 January 

and 15 March 1683) was a Puritan minister, theologian, and 

author who founded Providence Plantations, which became the 

Colony of Rhode Island and later the U.S. state of Rhode 

Island. He was a staunch advocate for religious freedom, 

separation of church and state, and fair dealings with Native 

Americans.  

Williams was expelled by the Puritan leaders from the 

Massachusetts Bay Colony for spreading "new and dangerous 

ideas," and established Providence Plantations in 1636 as a 

refuge offering what he termed "liberty of conscience." In 1638, 
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he founded the First Baptist Church in America, in Providence. 

Williams studied the indigenous languages of New England and 

published the first book-length study of a native North 

American language in English.  

Early life 

• Roger Williams was born in or near London between 

1602 and 1606, with many historians citing 1603 as 

the probable year of his birth. The exact details of 

Williams' birth are unknown as his birth records 

were destroyed when St. Sepulchre's Church burned 

during the Great Fire of London. His father was 

James Williams (1562–1620), a merchant tailor in 

Smithfield, and his mother was Alice Pemberton 

(1564–1635).  

At an early age, Williams had a spiritual conversion, of which 

his father disapproved. As an adolescent, he apprenticed under 

Sir Edward Coke, (1552–1634) the famous jurist, and was 

educated at Charterhouse School under Coke's patronage. 

Williams later attended Pembroke College, Cambridge, where 

he received a Bachelor of Arts in 1627. Williams demonstrated 

a facility with languages, acquiring familiarity with Latin, 

Hebrew, Greek, Dutch, and French at an early age. Years later, 

he tutored John Milton in Dutch and Native American 

languages in exchange for refresher lessons in Hebrew.  

Williams took holy orders in the Church of England in 

connection with his studies, but he became a Puritan at 

Cambridge and thus ruined his chance for preferment in the 

Anglican church. After graduating from Cambridge, he became 
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the chaplain to Sir William Masham. In April 1629, Williams 

proposed marriage to Jane Whalley, the niece of Lady Joan 

(Cromwell) Barrington, but she declined. Later that year, he 

married Mary Bernard (1609–76), the daughter of Rev. Richard 

Bernard, a notable Puritan preacher and author, at the Church 

of High Laver, in Epping Forest, a few miles east of London. 

Together Mary and Roger had six children, all born in America: 

Mary, Freeborn, Providence, Mercy, Daniel, and Joseph.  

Williams knew that Puritan leaders planned to migrate to the 

New World. He did not join the first wave of settlers, but later 

decided that he could not remain in England under the 

administration of Archbishop William Laud. Williams regarded 

the Church of England as corrupt and false, and he had 

arrived at the Separatist position by 1630; on December 1, 

Williams and his wife boarded the Boston-bound Lyon in 

Bristol.  

Life in America 

Arrival in Boston 

On February 5, 1631, the Lyon anchored in Nantasket, outside 

of the Puritan settlement of Boston. Upon his arrival, the 

church of Boston offered Williams the opportunity to serve 

during the vacancy of Rev. John Wilson, who had returned to 

England to accompany his wife to the colony. Williams declined 

the position on grounds that it was "an unseparated church." 

In addition, he asserted that civil magistrates must not punish 

any sort of "breach of the first table" of the Ten 

Commandments such as idolatry, Sabbath-breaking, false 

worship, and blasphemy, and that individuals should be free to 
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follow their own convictions in religious matters. These three 

principles later became central tenets of Williams' teachings 

and writings.  

Salem and Plymouth 

As a Separatist, Williams considered the Church of England 

irredeemably corrupt and believed that one must completely 

separate from it to establish a new church for the true and 

pure worship of God. The Salem church was also inclined to 

Separatism, and they invited him to become their teacher. In 

response, leaders in Boston vigorously protested, leading 

Salem to withdraw its offer. As the summer of 1631 ended, 

Williams moved to Plymouth Colony where he was welcomed, 

and informally assisted the minister. At Plymouth, he regularly 

preached; according to the colony's governor, William Bradford, 

"his teachings were well approved."  

After a time, Williams decided that the Plymouth church was 

not sufficiently separated from the Church of England. 

Furthermore, his contact with the Narragansett Indians had 

caused him to question the validity of colonial charters that 

did not include legitimate purchase of Indian land. Governor 

Bradford later wrote that Williams fell "into some strange 

opinions which caused some controversy between the church 

and him."  

In December 1632, Williams wrote a lengthy tract that openly 

condemned the King's charters and questioned the right of 

Plymouth to the land without first buying it from the Native 

Americans. He even charged that King James had uttered a 

"solemn lie" in claiming that he was the first Christian 
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monarch to have discovered the land. Williams moved back to 

Salem by the fall of 1633 and was welcomed by Rev. Samuel 

Skelton as an unofficial assistant.  

Litigation and exile 

The Massachusetts Bay authorities were not pleased at 

Williams' return. In December 1633, they summoned him to 

appear before the General Court in Boston to defend his tract 

attacking the King and the charter. The issue was smoothed 

out, and the tract disappeared forever, probably burned. In 

August 1634, Williams became acting pastor of the Salem 

church, the Rev. Skelton having died. In March 1635, he was 

again ordered to appear before the General Court, and he was 

summoned yet again for the Court's July term to answer for 

"erroneous" and "dangerous opinions." The Court finally 

ordered that he be removed from his church position.  

This latest controversy welled up as the town of Salem 

petitioned the General Court to annex some land on 

Marblehead Neck. The Court refused to consider the request 

unless the church in Salem removed Williams. The church felt 

that this order violated their independence, and sent a letter of 

protest to the other churches. However, the letter was not read 

publicly in those churches, and the General Court refused to 

seat the delegates from Salem at the next session. Support for 

Williams began to wane under this pressure, and he withdrew 

from the church and began meeting with a few of his most 

devoted followers in his home.  

Finally, in October 1635, the General Court tried Williams and 

convicted him of sedition and heresy. They declared that he 
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was spreading "diverse, new, and dangerous opinions" and 

ordered that he be banished. The execution of the order was 

delayed because Williams was ill and winter was approaching, 

so he was allowed to stay temporarily, provided that he ceased 

publicly teaching his opinions. He failed to do so, and the 

sheriff came in January 1636, only to discover that he had 

slipped away three days earlier during a blizzard. He traveled 

55 miles through the deep snow, from Salem to Raynham, 

Massachusetts where the local Wampanoags offered him 

shelter at their winter camp. Sachem Massasoit hosted 

Williams there for the three months until spring.  

Settlement at Providence 

In the spring of 1636, Williams and a number of others from 

Salem began a new settlement on land which he had bought 

from Massasoit in Rumford, Rhode Island. After settling 

however, authorities of Plymouth Colony asserted that Williams 

and his followers were within their land grant and expressed 

concern that his presence there might anger the leaders of 

Massachusetts Bay Colony.  

Accordingly, Williams, accompanied by Thomas Angell crossed 

the Seekonk River, in search of a new location suitable for 

settlement. Upon reaching the shore, Williams and Angell were 

met by indigenous Narragansett people who greeted them with 

the words "What cheer, Netop" (transl.  Hello, friend). The 

settlers then continued eastward along the Providence River, 

where they encountered a cove and freshwater spring. Finding 

the area suitable for settlement, Williams acquired the tract 

from sachems Canonicus and Miantonomi. Here, Williams and 

his followers established a new, permanent settlement. Under 
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the belief that divine providence had brought them there, the 

settlers named the settlement "Providence."  

Williams wanted his settlement to be a haven for those 

"distressed of conscience," and it soon attracted a collection of 

dissenters and otherwise-minded individuals. From the 

beginning, a majority vote of the heads of households governed 

the new settlement, but only in civil things. Newcomers could 

also be admitted to full citizenship by a majority vote. In 

August 1637, a new town agreement again restricted the 

government to civil things. In 1640, 39 freemen (men who had 

full citizenship and voting rights) signed another agreement 

that declared their determination "still to hold forth liberty of 

conscience." Thus, Williams founded the first place in modern 

history where citizenship and religion were separate, providing 

religious liberty and separation of church and state. This was 

combined with the principle of majoritarian democracy.  

In November 1637, the General Court of Massachusetts 

disarmed, disenfranchised, and forced into exile some of the 

Antinomians, including the followers of Anne Hutchinson. John 

Clarke was among them, and he learned from Williams that 

Aquidneck (Rhode) Island might be purchased from the 

Narragansetts; Williams helped him to make the purchase, 

along with William Coddington and others, and they 

established the settlement of Portsmouth. In spring 1638, some 

of those settlers split away and founded the nearby settlement 

of Newport, also situated on Aquidneck Island.  

In 1638, Williams and about twelve others were baptized and 

formed a congregation. Today, Williams' congregation is 

recognized as the First Baptist Church in America.  
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Pequot War and relations with Native Americans 

In the meantime, the Pequot War had broken out. 

Massachusetts Bay asked for Williams' help, which he gave 

despite his exile, and he became the Bay colony's eyes and 

ears, and also dissuaded the Narragansetts from joining with 

the Pequots. Instead, the Narragansetts allied themselves with 

the Colonists and helped to crush the Pequots in 1637–38. The 

Narragansetts thus became the most powerful Native American 

tribe in southern New England.  

Williams formed firm friendships and developed deep trust 

among the Native American tribes, especially the 

Narragansetts. He was able to keep the peace between the 

Native Americans and the Colony of Rhode Island and 

Providence Plantations for nearly 40 years by his constant 

mediation and negotiation. 

He twice surrendered himself as a hostage to the Native 

Americans to guarantee the safe return of a great sachem from 

a summons to a court: Pessicus in 1645 and Metacom ("King 

Philip") in 1671. Williams was trusted by the Native Americans 

more than any other Colonist, and he proved trustworthy.  

However, the other New England colonies began to fear and 

mistrust the Narragansetts and soon came to regard the Rhode 

Island colony as a common enemy. 

In the next three decades, Massachusetts, Connecticut, and 

Plymouth exerted pressure to destroy both Rhode Island and 

the Narragansetts. In 1643, the neighboring colonies formed a 

military alliance called the United Colonies which pointedly 

excluded the towns around Narragansett Bay. 
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The object was to put an end to the heretic settlements, which 

they considered an infection. In response, Williams traveled to 

England to secure a charter for the colony.  

Return to England and charter matters 

A Key into the Language of America 

Williams arrived in London in the midst of the English Civil 

War. Puritans held power in London, and he was able to obtain 

a charter through the offices of Sir Henry Vane the Younger, 

despite strenuous opposition from Massachusetts' agents. 

His first published book A Key into the Language of America 

proved crucial to the success of his charter, albeit indirectly. 

Published in 1643 in London, the book combined a phrase-

book with observations about life and culture as an aid to 

communicate with the Native Americans of New England. In its 

scope, the book covered everything from salutations to death 

and burial. Williams also sought to correct the attitudes of 

superiority displayed by the colonists towards Native 

Americans:  

Boast not proud English, of thy birth & blood;  

Thy brother Indian is by birth as Good. Of one blood God made 

Him, and Thee and All,  

As wise, as fair, as strong, as personal. 

Printed by Gregory Dexter, the book was the first book-length 

study of a native North American language in the English 
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language. In England, the book was well received by readers 

who were curious about the indigenous people of the New 

World.  

The Bloudy Tenent 

Williams secured his charter from Parliament for Providence 

Plantations in July 1644, after which he published his most 

famous book The Bloudy Tenent of Persecution for Cause of 

Conscience. The publication produced a great uproar; between 

1644 and 1649, at least 60 pamphlets were published 

addressing the work's arguments. Parliament responded to 

Williams on August 9, 1644, by ordering the public hangman 

to burn all copies. By this time, however, Williams was already 

en route to New England, where he arrived with his charter in 

September.  

It took Williams several years to unify the settlements of 

Narragansett Bay to unite under a single government given the 

opposition of William Coddington. The four villages finally 

united in 1647 into the Colony of Rhode Island and Providence 

Plantations. Freedom of conscience was again proclaimed, and 

the colony became a safe haven for people who were persecuted 

for their beliefs, including Baptists, Quakers, and Jews. Still, 

the divisions between the towns their powerful personalities 

did not bode well for the colony. Coddington disliked Williams, 

and did not enjoy his position of subordinated under the new 

charter government. Accordingly, Coddington sailed to England 

and returned to Rhode Island in 1651 with his own patent 

making him "Governor for Life" over Aquidneck and Conanicut 

Islands.  
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As a result, Providence, Warwick, and Coddington's opponents 

on Aquidneck dispatched Roger Williams and John Clarke to 

England, seeking to cancel Coddington's commission. Williams 

sold his trading post at Cocumscussec (near Wickford, Rhode 

Island) to pay for his journey even though it provided his 

primary source of income. Williams and Clarke succeeded in 

rescinding Coddington's patent, with Clarke remaining in 

England for the following decade to protect the colonists' 

interests and secure a new charter. Williams returned to 

America in 1654 and was immediately elected the colony's 

president. He subsequently served in many offices in town and 

colonial governments.  

Slavery 

Williams did not write extensively about slavery but 

demonstrated disapproval of perpetual chattel slavery.  

During his life, Williams supported, facilitated, and 

participated in the slavery of indigenous peoples who were 

captured during war. Williams also served as a slave catcher; 

when enslaved Pequot people escaped bondage, Williams 

worked for their recapture. Of the slaves Williams worked to 

recapture, one Pequot girl reported that "sexually assaulted by 

fellow servants and then beaten by her master."  

In 1641, Massachusetts Bay Colony passed laws sanctioning 

slavery. In response, under William's leadership, the 

Providence Plantations passed a 1652 law restricting the 

amount of time for which enslaved persons could be held. The 

law established terms for slavery that mirrored those of 

servitude; bondage was to be limited in duration and not 
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passed down to children. Upon the unification of Providence 

Plantations with Aquidneck Island, residents of the latter 

refused to accept this law, making it a dead letter. For the next 

century, 

Newport served as the economic and political center of the 

Colony. Newport entered the African slave trade in 1700, after 

Williams' death, and became the leading port for American 

ships carrying slaves in the colonial American triangular trade 

until the American Revolutionary War.  

Relations with the Baptists 

Ezekiel Holliman baptized Williams in late 1638. A few years 

later, Dr. John Clarke established the First Baptist Church in 

Newport, 

Rhode Island, and both Roger Williams and John Clarke 

became the founders of the Baptist faith in America. Williams 

did not affiliate himself with any church, but he remained 

interested in the Baptists, agreeing with their rejection of 

infant baptism and most other matters. Both enemies and 

admirers sometimes called him a "Seeker," associating him 

with a heretical movement that accepted Socinianism and 

Universal Reconciliation, but Williams rejected both of these 

ideas.  

King Philip's War and death 

King Philip's War (1675–1676) pitted the colonists against 

indigenous peoples—including the Narragansett with which 

Williams had perviously maintained good relations. Williams, 
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although in his 70s, was elected captain of Providence's 

militia. On March 29, 1676, Narragansett warriors led by 

Canonchet burned Providence; among the structures destroyed 

were Williams' home.  

Burial 

Williams died sometime between January 16 and March 16, 

1683 and was buried on his own property. Fifty years later, his 

house collapsed into the cellar and the location of his grave 

was forgotten.  

According to the National Park Service, in 1860, Providence 

residents determined to raise a monument in his honor "dug 

up the spot where they believed the remains to be, they found 

only nails, teeth, and bone fragments. They also found an 

apple tree root," which they thought followed the shape of a 

human body; the root followed the shape of a spine, split at the 

hips, bent at the knees, and turned up at the feet. The Rhode 

Island Historical Society has cared for this tree root since 1860 

as representative of Rhode Island's founder. Since 2007, the 

root has been displayed at the John Brown House.  

The few remains discovered alongside the root were reinterred 

in Prospect Terrace Park in 1939 at the base of a large stone 

monument.  

Separation of church and state 

Williams was a staunch advocate of separation of church and 

state. He was convinced that civil government had no basis for 

meddling in matters of religious belief. He declared that the 
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state should concern itself only with matters of civil order, not 

with religious belief, and he rejected any attempt by civil 

authorities to enforce the "first Table" of the Ten 

Commandments, those commandments that deal with an 

individual's relationship with and belief in God. Williams 

believed that the state must confine itself to the 

commandments dealing with the relations between people: 

murder, theft, adultery, lying, and honoring parents. Williams 

wrote of a "hedge or wall of Separation between the Garden of 

the Church and the Wilderness of the world." Thomas Jefferson 

later used the metaphor in his 1801 Letter to Danbury Baptists.  

Williams considered the state's sponsor of religious beliefs or 

practice "forced worship", declaring "Forced worship stinks in 

God's nostrils." He also believed Constantine the Great to be a 

worse enemy to Christianity than Nero because the subsequent 

state involvement in religious matters corrupted Christianity 

and led to the death of the Christian church. He described the 

attempt of the state to pass laws concerning an individual's 

religious beliefs as "rape of the soul" and spoke of the "oceans 

of blood" shed as a result of trying to command conformity. 

The moral principles in the Scriptures ought to inform the civil 

magistrates, he believed, but he observed that well-ordered, 

just, and civil governments existed even where Christianity was 

not present. Thus, all governments had to maintain civil order 

and justice, but Williams decided that none had a warrant to 

promote or repress any religious views. Most of his 

contemporaries criticized his ideas as a prescription for chaos 

and anarchy, and the vast majority believed that each nation 

must have its national church and could require that 

dissenters conform.  
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Writings 

Williams's career as an author began with A Key into the 

Language of America (London, 1643), written during his first 

voyage to England. His next publication was Mr. Cotton's Letter 

lately Printed, Examined and Answered (London, 1644; 

reprinted in Publications of the Narragansett Club, vol. ii, along 

with John Cotton's letter which it answered). His most famous 

work is The Bloudy Tenent of Persecution for Cause of 

Conscience (published in 1644), considered by some to be one 

of the best defenses of liberty of conscience.  

An anonymous pamphlet was published in London in 1644 

entitled Queries of Highest Consideration Proposed to Mr. Tho. 

Goodwin, Mr. Phillip Nye, Mr. Wil. Bridges, Mr. Jer. Burroughs, 

Mr. Sidr. Simpson, all Independents, etc. which is now ascribed 

to Williams. 

These "Independents" were members of the Westminster 

Assembly; their Apologetical Narration sought a way between 

extreme Separatism and Presbyterianism, and their 

prescription was to accept the state church model of 

Massachusetts Bay.  

Williams published The Bloody Tenent yet more Bloudy: by Mr. 

Cotton's Endeavor to wash it white in the Blood of the Lamb; of 

whose precious Blood, spilt in the Bloud of his Servants; and of 

the Blood of Millions spilt in former and later Wars for 

Conscience sake, that most Bloody Tenent of Persecution for 

cause of Conscience, upon, a second Tryal is found more 

apparently and more notoriously guilty, etc. (London, 1652) 

during his second visit to England. This work reiterated and 
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amplified the arguments in Bloudy Tenent, but it has the 

advantage of being written in answer to Cotton's A Reply to Mr. 

Williams his Examination (Publications of the Narragansett 

Club, vol. ii.).  

Other works by Williams include:  

• The Hireling Ministry None of Christ's (London, 1652) 

• Experiments of Spiritual Life and Health, and their 

Preservatives (London, 1652; reprinted Providence, 

1863) 

• George Fox Digged out of his Burrowes (Boston, 1676) 

(discusses Quakerism with its different belief in the 

"inner light," which Williams considered heretical) 

A volume of his letters is included in the Narragansett Club 

edition of Williams' Works (7 vols., Providence, 1866–74), and a 

volume was edited by J. R. Bartlett (1882).  

• The Correspondence of Roger Williams, 2 vols., Rhode 

Island Historical Society, 1988, edited by Glenn W. 

LaFantasie. 

Brown University's John Carter Brown Library has long housed 

a 234-page volume referred to as the "Roger Williams Mystery 

Book". 

The margins of this book are filled with notations in 

handwritten code, believed to be the work of Roger Williams. In 

2012, Brown University undergraduate Lucas Mason-Brown 

cracked the code and uncovered conclusive historical evidence 

attributing its authorship to Williams. Translations are 

revealing transcriptions of a geographical text, a medical text, 
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and 20 pages of original notes addressing the issue of infant 

baptism. Mason-Brown has since discovered more writings by 

Williams employing a separate code in the margins of a rare 

edition of the Eliot Indian Bible.  

Legacy 

Williams' defense of the Native Americans, his accusations that 

Puritans had reproduced the "evils" of the Anglican Church, 

and his insistence that England pay the Native Americans for 

their land all put him at the center of many political debates 

during his life. He was considered an important historical 

figure of religious liberty at the time of American 

independence, and he was a key influence on the thinking of 

the Founding Fathers.  

Tributes 

Tributes to Williams include:  

• The 1936 commemorative Rhode Island Tercentenary 

half dollar 

• Roger Williams National Memorial, a park in 

downtown Providence established in 1965 

• Roger Williams Park, Providence, Rhode Island, and 

the Roger Williams Park Zoo 

• Roger Williams University in Bristol, Rhode Island 

• Roger Williams Dining Hall at the University of 

Rhode Island 

• Roger Williams Inn, the main dining hall at the 

American Baptists' Green Lake Conference Center, 

founded in 1943 in Green Lake, Wisconsin 
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• Rhode Island's representative statue in the National 

Statuary Hall Collection in the United States Capitol, 

added in 1872 

• A depiction of him on the International Monument to 

the Reformation in Geneva, along with other 

prominent reformers 

• A Lesser Feast (with Anne Hutchinson) on the 

liturgical calendar of the Episcopal Church on 5 

February 

• Roger Williams Middle School, a public school in 

Providence 

• Pembroke College in Brown University was named for 

Williams' alma mater 

  



Chapter 20 

Harvard College Founded 

Harvard College is the undergraduate college of Harvard 

University, an Ivy League research university in Cambridge, 

Massachusetts. Founded in 1636, Harvard College is the 

original school of Harvard University, the oldest institution of 

higher learning in the United States and among the most 

prestigious in the world.  

Part of the Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Harvard College is 

Harvard University's traditional undergraduate program, 

offering AB and SB degrees. It is highly selective, with fewer 

than five percent of applicants being offered admission in 

recent years. Harvard College students participate in more 

than 450 extracurricular organizations and nearly all live on 

campus—first-year students in or near Harvard Yard, and 

upperclass students in community-oriented "houses".  

The college has produced many distinguished alumni, 

including high-ranking politicians, renowned scholars, and 

business leaders.  

Harvard College, around which Harvard University eventually 

grew, was founded in 1636 in Cambridge, Massachusetts, 

making it the oldest institution of higher learning in the United 

States.  

For centuries, its graduates dominated Massachusetts' clerical 

and civil ranks and beginning in the 19th century its stature 

became national, then international, as a dozen graduate and 
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professional schools were formed alongside the nucleus 

undergraduate College. Historically influential in national roles 

are the schools of medicine (1782), law (1817) and business 

(1908) as well as the Harvard Graduate School of Arts and 

Sciences (1890).  

Since the late 19th century Harvard has been one of the most 

prestigious schools in the world, its library system and 

financial endowment larger than those of any other.  

Colonial origins 

With some 17,000 Puritans migrating to New England by 1636, 

Harvard was founded in anticipation of the need for training 

clergy for the new commonwealth, a "church in the wilderness". 

Harvard was established in 1636 by vote of the Great and 

General Court of the Massachusetts Bay Colony. In 1638, the 

school received a printing press—the only press at the time in 

what is now the United States, until Harvard acquired a second 

in 1659.  

On March 13, 1639, the college was renamed Harvard College 

after clergyman John Harvard, a University of Cambridge 

alumnus who had willed the new school £779 pounds sterling 

and his library of some 400 books.  

The colony charter creating the Harvard Corporation was 

granted in 1650 at the beginning of the English Interregnum. 

When the college's first president Henry Dunster abandoned 

Puritanism in favor of the English Baptist faith in 1654, he 

provoked a controversy that highlighted two distinct 

approaches to dealing with dissent in the Massachusetts Bay 



Pre–United States History: 1600–1699, Volume 3 

519 

 

Colony. The colony's Puritan leaders, whose own religion was 

born of dissent from mainstream Church of England, generally 

worked for reconciliation with members who questioned 

matters of Puritan theology, but responded much more harshly 

to outright rejection of Puritanism.  

Dunster's conflict with the colony's magistrates began when he 

failed to have his infant son baptized, believing as an adherent 

of the Believers baptism of English Baptists and/or 

Anabaptists that only adults should be baptized. Efforts to 

restore Dunster to Puritan orthodoxy failed and his apostasy 

proved untenable to colony leaders who had entrusted him in 

his job as Harvard's president to uphold the colony's religious 

mission, thus he represented a threat to the stability of 

society. Dunster exiled himself in 1654 and moved to nearby 

Plymouth Colony, where he died in 1658. Because it had been 

illegal for the colony to establish a college, Charles II rescinded 

the Massachusetts Bay Colony charter in 1684 by writ of scire 

facias.  

In 1692, the leading Puritan divine Increase Mather became 

president of Harvard. One of his acts was replacing pagan 

classics with books by Christian authors in ethics classes and 

maintaining a high standard of discipline. 

The Harvard "Lawes" of 1642 and the "Harvard College Laws of 

1700" testify to its original high level of discipline. Students 

were required to observe rules of pious decorum inconceivable 

in the 19th century and ultimately to prove their fitness for the 

bachelor's degree by showing that they could "read the original 

of the Old and New Testament into the Latin tongue, and 

resolve them logically". Harvard's leadership and alumni 
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(including Increase Mather and his son Cotton Mather) played 

a central role in the Salem Witch Trials 1692–1693.  

The town of Dedham was found in 1636, the same year as the 

college. The first minister of the First Church and Parish in 

Dedham, John Allen, served as an overseer, and every minister 

through 1861 was connected to the university. Given its 

population and modest means, the support the community 

provided to the college was generous. Allen donated two cows, 

presumably to provide milk for the president and tutors.  

During Harvard's early years, the town of Cambridge 

maintained order on campus and provided economic support, 

as the local Puritan minister had direct oversight of Harvard 

and ensured the orthodoxy of its leadership. By 1700, Harvard 

was strong enough to regulate and discipline its own people 

and to a large extent the direction in which support and 

assistance flowed was reversed, Harvard now providing 

financial support for local economic expansion, improvements 

to public health and construction of local roads, 

meetinghouses and schools.  

18th century 

The early motto of Harvard was Veritas Christo et Ecclesiae, 

meaning "Truth for Christ and the Church". In the early 

classes, half the graduates became ministers (though by the 

1760s the proportion was down to 15%) and ten of Harvard's 

first twelve presidents were ministers. Systematic theological 

instruction was inaugurated in 1721 and by 1827 Harvard 

became a nucleus of theological teaching in New England.  
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The end of Mather's presidency in 1701 marked the start of a 

long struggle between orthodoxy and liberalism. Harvard's first 

secular president was John Leverett, who began his term in 

1708. 

Leverett left the curriculum largely intact and sought to keep 

the College independent of the overwhelming influence of any 

single sect.  

During the American Revolution, Loyalist alumni were 

outnumbered seven to one by Patriots—seven alumni died in 

the fighting.  

19th century 

Unitarians 

Throughout the 18th century, Enlightenment ideas of the 

power of reason and free will became widespread among 

Congregational ministers, putting those ministers and their 

congregations in tension with more traditionalist, Calvinist 

parties. 

When the Hollis Professor of Divinity David Tappan died in 

1803 and the president of Harvard Joseph Willard died a year 

later, in 1804 a struggle broke out over their replacements. 

Henry Ware was elected to the chair in 1805 and the liberal 

Samuel Webber was appointed to the presidency of Harvard 

two years later, which signaled the changing of the tide from 

the dominance of traditional ideas at Harvard to the dominance 

of liberal, Arminian ideas (defined by traditionalists as 

Unitarian ideas).  
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Science 

In 1846, the natural history lectures of Louis Agassiz were 

acclaimed both in New York and on his campus at Harvard 

College. Agassiz's approach was distinctly idealist and posited 

Americans' "participation in the Divine Nature" and the 

possibility of understanding "intellectual existences". Agassiz's 

perspective on science combined observation with intuition and 

the assumption that one can grasp the "divine plan" in all 

phenomena. 

When it came to explaining life-forms, Agassiz resorted to 

matters of shape based on a presumed archetype for his 

evidence. This dual view of knowledge was in concert with the 

teachings of Common Sense Realism derived from Scottish 

philosophers Thomas Reid and Dugald Stewart, whose works 

were part of the Harvard curriculum at the time. The 

popularity of Agassiz's efforts to "soar with Plato" probably also 

derived from other writings to which Harvard students were 

exposed, including Platonic treatises by Ralph Cudworth, John 

Norris and in a Romantic vein Samuel Coleridge. The library 

records at Harvard reveal that the writings of Plato and his 

early modern and Romantic followers were almost as regularly 

read during the 19th century as those of the "official 

philosophy" of the more empirical and more deistic Scottish 

school.  

Elitism 

• Between 1830 and 1870, Harvard became 

"privatized". While the Federalists controlled state 

government, Harvard had prospered and the 1824 
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defeat of the Federalist Party in Massachusetts 

allowed the renascent Democratic-Republicans to 

block state funding of private universities. By 1870, 

the politicians and ministers that heretofore had 

made up the university's board of overseers had been 

replaced by Harvard alumni drawn from Boston's 

upper-class business and professional community 

and funded by private endowment. During this 

period, Harvard experienced unparalleled growth 

that securely placed it financially in a league of its 

own among American colleges. Ronald Story notes 

that in 1850, Harvard's total assets were "five times 

that of Amherst and Williams combined, and three 

times that of Yale". Story also notes that "all the 

evidence... points to the four decades from 1815 to 

1855 as the era when parents, in Henry Adams's 

words, began 'sending their children to Harvard 

College for the sake of its social advantages'". Under 

President Eliot's tenure, Harvard earned a reputation 

for being more liberal and democratic than either 

Princeton or Yale in regard to bigotry against Jews 

and other ethnic minorities. In 1870, one year into 

Eliot's term, Richard Theodore Greener became the 

first African-American to graduate from Harvard 

College. Seven years later, Louis Brandeis, the first 

Jewish justice on the Supreme Court, graduated 

from Harvard Law School. Nevertheless, Harvard 

became the bastion of a distinctly Protestant élite – 

the so-called Boston Brahmin class – and continued 

to be so well into the 20th century. 
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The annual undergraduate tuition was $300 in the 1930s and 

$400 in the 1940s, doubling to $800 in 1953. It reached 

$2,600 in 1970 and $22,700 in 2000.  

Eliot 

Charles W. Eliot, president 1869–1909, eliminated the favored 

position of Christianity from the curriculum while opening it to 

student self-direction. While Eliot was the most crucial figure 

in the secularization of American higher education, he was 

motivated not by a desire to secularize education, but by 

transcendentalist Unitarian convictions. Derived from William 

Ellery Channing and Ralph Waldo Emerson, these convictions 

were focused on the dignity and worth of human nature, the 

right and ability of each person to perceive truth and the 

indwelling God in each person.  

Sports 

Football, originally organized by students as an extracurricular 

activity, was banned twice by the university for being a brutal 

and dangerous sport. However, by the 1880s football became a 

dominant force at the college as the alumni became more 

involved in the sport. In 1882, the faculty formed a three-

member athletic committee to oversee all intercollegiate 

athletics, but due to increasing student and alumni pressure 

the committee was expanded in 1885 to include three student 

and three alumni members. The alumni's role in the rise and 

commercialization of football, the leading moneymaker for 

athletics by the 1880s, was evident in the fundraising for the 

first steel-reinforced concrete stadium. The class of 1879 

donated $100,000 – nearly one-third of the cost – to the 
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construction of the 35,000-seat stadium, which was completed 

in 1903, with the remainder to be collected from future ticket 

sales.  

Language Studies 

Programs in the study of French and Spanish languages began 

in 1816 with George Ticknor as its first professor.  

Graduate schools 

Medical School 

The school, the third-oldest medical school in the United 

States, was founded in 1782 as Massachusetts Medical College 

by John Warren, Benjamin Waterhouse and Aaron Dexter. It 

relocated from Cambridge across the river to Boston in 1810. 

The medical school was tied to the rest of the University "only 

by the tenuous thread of degrees", but its strong faculty gave it 

a national reputation by the early 19th century.  

The medical school moved to its current location on Longwood 

Avenue in 1906, where the "Great White Quadrangle" or HMS 

Quad with its five white marble buildings was established.  

The reputation continued to grow into the 20th century, 

especially in terms of scientific research and support from 

regional and national elites. Fifteen scientists won the Nobel 

Prize for work done at the Medical School. Its four major 

flagship teaching hospitals are Beth Israel Deaconess Medical 

Center, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston Children's 

Hospital and Massachusetts General Hospital.  
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Law School 

• The Harvard Law School was established in 1817, 

making it the oldest continuously operating law 

school in the nation. It was a small operation and 

grew slowly. By 1827, it was down to one faculty 

member. Nathan Dane, a prominent alumnus, 

endowed the Dane Professorship of Law and insisting 

that it be given to then Supreme Court Justice 

Joseph Story. For a while, the school was called 

Dane Law School. Story's belief in the need for an 

elite law school based on merit and dedicated to 

public service helped build the school's reputation at 

the time. Enrollment remained low as academic legal 

education was considered to be of little added benefit 

to apprenticeships in legal practice.  

Radical reform came in the 1870s, under Dean Christopher 

Columbus Langdell (1826–1906). Its new curriculum set the 

national standard and was copied widely in the United States. 

Langdell developed the case method of teaching law, based on 

his belief that law could be studied as a "science" gave 

university legal education a reason for being distinct from 

vocational preparation. The school introduced a first-year 

curriculum that was widely imitated, based on classes in 

contracts, property, torts, criminal law and civil procedure.  

Critics bemoaned abandonment of the more traditional lecture 

method, because of its efficiency and the lower workloads it 

placed on faculty and students. Advocates of the case method 

had a sounder theoretical basis in scientific research and the 

inductive method. Langdell's graduates became leading 
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professors at other law schools where they introduced the case 

method. From its founding in 1900, the Association of 

American Law Schools promoted the case method in law 

schools that sought accreditation.  

Graduate school 

As the College modernized in the late 19th century, the faculty 

was organized into departments and began to add graduate 

programs, especially the PhD. Charles William Eliot, president 

from 1869 to 1909, was a chemist who had spent two years in 

Germany studying their universities. Thousands of Americans, 

mostly Harvard and Yale alumni, had attended German 

universities, especially Berlin and Göttingen. Eliot used the 

German model to set up graduate programs at Harvard and he 

formed a graduate department in 1872, which granted its first 

Ph.D. degrees in 1873 to William Byerly in mathematics and 

Charles Whitney in history. Eliot set up the Graduate School of 

Arts and Sciences with its own dean and budget in 1890, which 

dealt with graduate students and funded research programs.  

By 2004, there were 3,200 graduate students in 53 separate 

programs and forty former or current professors had won a 

Nobel Prize, most of them scientists or economists based in the 

Graduate School of Arts and Sciences.  

Business school 

From its beginning in 1908, the Harvard Business School had 

a close relationship with the corporate world. Within a few 

years of its founding many business leaders were its alumni 

and were hiring other alumni for starting positions in their 
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firms. The School used Rockefeller funding in the 1920s to 

launch a major research program under Elton Mayo (1926–

1947) for his "Harvard human relations group". Its findings 

revolutionized human relations in business and raised the 

reputation of the Business School from its initial "low status 

as a trainer of money grabbers into a high prestige educator of 

socially-conscientious administrators". Starting in 1935, the 

school began weekend and short-term leadership training 

workshops for executives of major corporations that further 

expanded its national role.  

By 1949, almost half of all the holders of the MBA degree in 

the U.S. were alumni of the Business School and it was "the 

most influential graduate school of business".  

20th century 

During the 20th century, Harvard's international reputation for 

scholarship grew as a burgeoning endowment and prominent 

professors expanded the university's scope. Explosive growth 

in the student population continued with the addition of new 

graduate schools and the expansion of the undergraduate 

program. It built the largest and finest academic library in the 

world and built up the labs and clinics needed to establish the 

reputation of its science departments and the Medical School. 

The Law School vied with Yale Law for preeminence, while the 

Business School combined a large-scale research program with 

a special appeal to entrepreneurs rather than accountants. The 

different schools maintain their separate endowments, which 

are very large in the case of the College/Faculty of Arts and 

Sciences, and the Business, Law and Medical Schools, but 

quite modest for the Divinity and Education schools.  
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Radcliffe College, established in 1879 as sister school of 

Harvard College, became one of the most prominent schools for 

women in the United States. In the 1920s Edward Harkness 

(1874–1940), a Yale man with oil wealth, was ignored by his 

alma mater and so gave $12,000,000 to Harvard to establish a 

house system like that of Oxford University. Yale later took his 

money and set up a similar system.  

In addition to the usual department, specialized research 

centers proliferated, especially to enable interdisciplinary 

research projects that could not be handled at the department 

level. However, the departments kept jealous control of the 

awarding of tenure; typically tenured professorships went to 

outsiders, and not as promotions to assistant professors. Older 

research centers include the East Asian Research Center, the 

Center for International Affairs, the Center for Eastern 

Studies, the Russian Research Center, the Charles Warren 

Center for Studies in American History and the Joint Center 

for Urban Studies (with MIT). The Centers raised their own 

money, sometimes from endowments, but most often from 

federal and foundation grants, making them increasingly 

independent entities.  

During World War II, Harvard was one of 131 colleges and 

universities nationally that took part in the V-12 Navy College 

Training Program which offered students a path to a Navy 

commission.  

The annual undergraduate tuition was $300 in the 1920s and 

$400 in the 1930s, doubling to $800 in 1953. It reached 

$2,600 in 1970 and $22,700 in 2000.  
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Meritocracy 

James Bryant Conant (president, 1933–1953) pledged to 

reinvigorate creative scholarship at Harvard and reestablish its 

preeminence among research institutions. Viewing higher 

education as a vehicle of opportunity for the talented rather 

than an entitlement for the wealthy, Conant devised programs 

to identify, recruit, and support talented youth. In 1943, 

Conant decided that Harvard's undergraduate curriculum 

needed to be revised so as to place more emphasis on general 

education and called on the faculty make a definitive statement 

about what general education ought to be at the secondary as 

well as the college level. 

The resulting Report, published in 1945, was one of the most 

influential manifestos in the history of American education in 

the 20th century.  

In the decades immediately after 1945, Harvard reformed its 

admissions policies as it sought students from a more diverse 

applicant pool. Whereas Harvard undergraduates had almost 

exclusively been upper-class alumni of select New England 

"feeder schools" such as Exeter, Hotchkiss, Choate Rosemary 

Hall and Milton Academy, increasing numbers of international, 

minority and working-class students had by the late 1960s 

altered the ethnic and socio-economic makeup of the college.  

Not just undergraduates, but the faculty became more diverse, 

especially in its willingness to hire Jews, Catholics and foreign 

scholars. The History Department was among the first to hire 

Jews and how it contributed to the university trend toward 

professionalism from 1920 to 1950. Oscar Handlin became one 
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of the most influential professors, training hundreds of 

graduate students and later serving as head of the University 

Library.  

During the 20th century, Harvard's international reputation 

grew as a burgeoning endowment and prominent professors 

expanded the university's scope. Explosive growth in the 

student population continued with the addition of new 

graduate schools and the expansion of the undergraduate 

program.  

Women 

In 1945, Harvard Medical School admitted its first class of 

women after a special committee concluded that male students 

would benefit from learning to view women as equals, that the 

lower-paid specialties typically shunned by men would benefit 

from the talents of women doctors and that the weakest third 

of each entering class of men could be replaced by a superior 

group of women.  

For its first fifty years the undergraduate Radcliffe College, 

established in 1879 as the "Harvard Annex for Women", paid 

Harvard faculty to repeat their lectures for a female audience. 

During World War II, male and female undergraduates attended 

classes together for the first time, though it was many decades 

before the population of Radcliffe College reached parity with 

that of Harvard. In the 1970s, two agreements between 

Harvard and Radcliffe made Harvard responsible for essentially 

all undergraduate matters for women – including admissions, 

advising, instruction, housing, student life and athletics – 

though women were still formally admitted to and graduated 
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from Radcliffe until a final merger in 1979 made Radcliffe a 

part of Harvard, at the same time creating the Radcliffe 

Institute for Advanced Study.  

In 2006, Lawrence Summers resigned his presidency after 

suggesting that women's underrepresentation in top science 

positions could be due to differences in "intrinsic aptitude".  

In 1984, Harvard severed ties with undergraduate "final clubs" 

because of their refusal to admit women. As of 2016, Harvard 

bars members of single-sex organizations (such as final clubs, 

fraternities and sororities) from campus leadership positions 

such as team captaincies and from receiving recommendation 

letters from Harvard requisite for scholarships and fellowships 

such as the Marshall Scholarship and Rhodes Scholarship.  

Minorities 

Though Harvard ended required chapel in the mid-1880s, the 

school remained culturally Protestant and fears of dilution 

grew as enrollment of immigrants, Catholics and Jews surged 

at the turn of the 20th century. By 1908, Catholics made up 

nine percent of the freshman class and between 1906 and 1922 

Jewish enrollment at Harvard increased from six to 25%. 

President A. Lawrence Lowell tried to impose a 12% quota on 

Jews, but the faculty rejected it even though he managed to 

cut the numbers in half anyway. By the end of World War II, 

the quotas and most of the latent antisemitism had faded 

away.  

Policies of exclusion were not limited to religious minorities. In 

1920, "Harvard University maliciously persecuted and 

harassed" those it believed to be gay via a "Secret Court" led by 
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President Lowell. Summoned at the behest of a wealthy 

alumnus, the inquisitions and expulsions carried out by this 

tribunal, in conjunction with the "vindictive tenacity of the 

university in ensuring that the stigmatization of the expelled 

students would persist throughout their productive lives" led 

to two suicides. Harvard President Lawrence Summers 

characterized the 1920 episode as "part of a past that we have 

rightly left behind" and "abhorrent and an affront to the values 

of our university". As late as the 1950s, Wilbur Bender, then 

the dean of admissions for Harvard College, was seeking better 

ways to "detect homosexual tendencies and serious psychiatric 

problems" in prospective students.  

  



Chapter 21 

New Haven Colony Founded 

The New Haven Colony was a small English colony in North 

America from 1637 to 1664 primarily in parts of what is now 

the state of Connecticut, but also with outposts in modern-day 

New York, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and Delaware.  

The history of the colony was a series of disappointments and 

failures. The most serious problem was that New Haven colony 

never had a charter giving it legal title to exist. The larger, 

stronger colony of Connecticut to the north did have a charter, 

and Connecticut was aggressive in using its military 

superiority to force a takeover. New Haven had other 

weaknesses, as well. The leaders were businessmen and 

traders, but they were never able to build up a large or 

profitable trade because their agricultural base was poor, 

farming the rocky soil was difficult, and the location was 

isolated. New Haven's political system was confined to church 

members only, and the refusal to widen it alienated many 

people.  

Oliver Cromwell recommended that the New Haven colonists all 

migrate to Ireland or to Spanish territories that he planned to 

conquer, but the Puritans of New Haven were committed to 

their new land. One by one in 1662–64, the towns joined 

Connecticut Colony until only three were left, and they 

submitted to Connecticut in 1664. It then became the city of 

New Haven, from which other modern towns in the New Haven 

region were later split off.  
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Founding 

In 1637, a group of London merchants and their families 

moved to Boston with the intention of creating a new 

settlement. The leaders were John Davenport, a Puritan 

minister, and Theophilus Eaton, a wealthy merchant who 

brought £3000 to the venture. Both had experience in fitting 

out vessels for the Massachusetts Bay Company. The two ships 

that they chartered arrived in Boston on June 26, 1637. They 

learned about the area around the Quinnipiac River from 

militia engaged in the Pequot War, so Eaton set sail to view the 

area in late August. The site seemed ideal for trade, with a 

good port lying between Boston and the Dutch city of New 

Amsterdam on Manhattan and good access to the furs of the 

Connecticut River valley settlements of Hartford and 

Springfield.  

Eaton returned to Boston, leaving seven men to remain 

through the winter and make preparations for the arrival of the 

rest of the company. The main body of settlers landed on April 

14, 1638, numbering about 250, with the addition of some 

from Massachusetts. A number of the early dwellings were 

caves or "cellers", partially underground and carved into 

hillsides.  

The settlers had no official charter. Channing says that they 

were squatters, whereas Atwater holds that a land purchase 

from the local natives had been effected sometime before their 

arrival in April, although no written deed was signed until 

November 24, 1638. A second deed was made December 11, 

1638 for a tract north of the first purchase. The Indian deed of 
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Wepowauge (Milford) was executed February 12, 1639, and that 

of Menunkatuck (Guilford) on September 29, 1639.  

Fundamental Agreement 

On October 25, 1639, the colonists adopted a "Fundamental 

Agreement" for self-government, partly as a result of a similar 

action in the Connecticut Colony. According to its terms, a 

court composed of 16 burgesses, i.e. voting citizens, was 

established to appoint a magistrate and officials and to 

conduct the business of the plantation. The only eligible voters 

were "planters" who were members of "some or other of the 

approved Churches of New England". This excluded indentured 

servants, temporary residents, and transient persons, who 

were considered to have no permanent interest in the 

community.  

They further determined "that the word of God shall be the 

only rule to be attended unto in ordering the affairs of 

government in this plantation." Theophilus Eaton was chosen 

as the first Magistrate. As the Bible contains no reference to 

trial by jury, the colonists eliminated it and the magistrate sat 

in judgment.  

The leaders attempted numerous merchandising enterprises, 

but they all failed. Much of the money went into a great ship 

sent to London in 1646, with £5000 in a cargo of grain and 

beaver hides. It never arrived. Minister Davenport was an 

Oxford-educated intellectual, and he set up a grammar school, 

Hopkins School as a step toward establishing a college. Yale 

College was opened in 1701, long after his death.  
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Formation of New Haven Colony 

The Plantation soon had neighboring settlements established 

by other groups of Puritans from England. Additional 

independent towns (called plantations) were established 

adjacent to New Haven Plantation. Milford and Guilford were 

established in 1639, and Stamford in 1640. Southold on the 

North Fork of Long Island was established by settlers from New 

Haven in 1640.  

On October 23, 1643, in the context of the formation of the 

New England Confederation, composed of Massachusetts Bay, 

Plymouth and Connecticut Colonies, for joint military action 

against threats of attack by natives, the New Haven Plantation 

and its subsidiary settlements, Stamford and Southhold on 

Long Island, were combined with the independent towns of 

Milford and Guilford and named the New Haven Colony which 

then joined the Confederation. The town of Branford was 

settled in 1644 by residents from Wethersfield, Connecticut 

Colony, who were dissatisfied with the theocratic rule there. 

They joined the New Haven Colony. Eaton served as governor of 

the new colony until his death in 1658.  

New Jersey, Philadelphia, and the Pacific 

Ocean 

In 1641, the colony claimed the area that is now South Jersey 

and Philadelphia after buying land south of Trenton along the 

Delaware River from the Lenape tribe. Cape May, New Jersey 

and Salem, New Jersey were among the communities that were 

founded.  
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The treaty with the Lenape placed no westward limit on the 

land west of the Delaware, which became the legal basis for a 

Connecticut "sea to sea" claim of owning all the land on both 

sides of the Delaware from the Atlantic Ocean to the Pacific 

Ocean. This set the stage for the Pennamite-Yankee War of 150 

years later.  

In 1642, 50 families on a ship captained by George Lamberton 

settled at the mouth of Schuylkill River to establish the trading 

post at what is today Philadelphia. The Dutch and Swedes who 

were already in the area burned their buildings, and a court in 

New Sweden convicted Lamberton of "trespassing, conspiring 

with the Indians." The New Haven Colony did not get any 

support from its New England patrons, and Puritan Governor 

John Winthrop testified that the "Delaware Colony" "dissolved" 

owing to "sickness and mortality."  

The Phantom Ship 

Initially, the colony had only ships capable of coastal travel, 

and trade with England was done with the Massachusetts Bay 

Colony as the middleman. In 1645, the colony built an 80-ton 

ocean-going ship to be captained by George Lamberton of New 

Haven, a merchant gentleman and a sea captain from London. 

He and others had tried to establish a settlement in Delaware, 

but they were resisted by the Swedes who had settled there. He 

was one of the original founders of the Colony of New Haven. 

He was allotted land in block 7 and owned over 266 acres. 

Captain Lamberton and others from New Haven built one of the 

first ships out of New England for a commercial venture to the 

West Indies. The disaster in Philadelphia, combined with 
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sinking of its only Atlantic ship, weakened the New Haven 

colony's future negotiating position.  

The ship disappeared in 1646, and its fate is the theme of 

Henry Wadsworth Longfellow's 1847 poem "The Phantom Ship". 

According to Longfellow's poem, an apparition of the ship 

appeared on the horizon following a June thunder shower near 

sunset six months after it disappeared. Those on shore were 

said to have recognized their friends on deck. The ship's masts 

then appeared to snap, the ship pitched, the passengers were 

thrown into the sea, and the ship capsized. The poem 

concludes that the vision was sent to "quiet their troubled 

spirits" and the event gave the town closure.  

• A ship sailed from New Haven, 

• And the keen and frosty airs, 

• That filled her sails at parting, 

• Were heavy with good men's prayers. 

• "O Lord! if it be thy pleasure"— 

• Thus prayed the old divine— 

• "To bury our friends in the ocean, 

• Take them, for they are thine!" 

• But Master Lamberton muttered, 

• And under his breath said he, 

• "This ship is so crank and walty 

• I fear our grave she will be!" 

Pursuit of the regicide judges 

Eaton stayed as governor until his death in 1658, when 

leadership of the Colony was given to Francis Newman, 

followed by William Leete in 1660.  
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In 1661, the judges who had signed the death warrant of 

Charles I of England in 1649 were pursued by Charles II. 

Judges Colonel Edward Whalley and Colonel William Goffe both 

fled to New Haven to seek refuge from the king's forces, and 

John Davenport arranged for them to hide in the hills 

northwest of the town. They purportedly took refuge in Three 

Judges' Cave, a rock formation in West Rock park that today 

bears a historical marker in their name. Judge John Dixwell 

joined them at a later time.  

Merger with Connecticut Colony 

New Haven urgently needed a Royal charter, but the colony had 

made enemies in London by hiding and protecting the regicide 

judges. An uneasy competition ruled New Haven's relations 

with the larger and more powerful Connecticut River 

settlements centered on Hartford. New Haven published a 

complete legal code in 1656, but the law remained very much 

church-centered. A major difference between the New Haven 

and Connecticut colonies was that the Connecticut Colony 

permitted other churches to operate on the basis of "sober 

dissent," while the New Haven Colony only permitted the 

Puritan church to exist. A royal charter was issued to 

Connecticut in 1662, ending New Haven's period as a separate 

colony, and its towns were merged into the government of 

Connecticut Colony in 1664.  

Many factors contributed to the loss of independence for New 

Haven, including the loss of her strongest governor in Eaton, 

the economic disasters of losing her only ocean-going ship, the 

Philadelphia disaster, and the regicide case.  
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Newark 

A group of New Haven colonists led by Robert Treat and others 

moved to establish a new community in New Jersey in 1666, 

seeking to maintain the Puritan religious exclusivism and 

theocracy that was lost with the New Haven Colony's merger 

with the more liberal Connecticut Colony. Treat wanted to 

name the new community after Milford, Connecticut. However 

Abraham Pierson was to urge that the new community be 

named "New Ark" or "New Work" which was to evolve into the 

name Newark, New Jersey.  

  



Chapter 22 

Pequot War 

The Pequot War was an armed conflict that took place between 

1636 and 1638 in New England between the Pequot tribe and 

an alliance of the colonists of the Massachusetts Bay, 

Plymouth, and Saybrook colonies and their allies from the 

Narragansett and Mohegan tribes. The war concluded with the 

decisive defeat of the Pequot. At the end, about 700 Pequots 

had been killed or taken into captivity. Hundreds of prisoners 

were sold into slavery to colonists in Bermuda or the West 

Indies; other survivors were dispersed as captives to the 

victorious tribes.  

The result was the elimination of the Pequot tribe as a viable 

polity in Southern New England, and the colonial authorities 

classified them as extinct. Survivors who remained in the area 

were absorbed into other local tribes.  

Etymology 

The name Pequot is a Mohegan term, the meaning of which has 

been disputed among Algonquian-language specialists. Most 

recent sources claim that "Pequot" comes from Paquatauoq (the 

destroyers), relying on the theories of Frank Speck, an early 

20th-century anthropologist and specialist of the Pequot-

Mohegan language in the 1920s–1930s. He had doubts about 

this etymology, believing that another term seemed more 

plausible, after translation relating to the "shallowness of a 

body of water".  
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Origin 

The Pequot and the Mohegan people were at one time a single 

sociopolitical entity. Anthropologists and historians contend 

that they split into the two competing groups sometime before 

contact with the Puritan English colonists. The earliest 

historians of the Pequot War speculated that the Pequot people 

migrated from the upper Hudson River Valley toward central 

and eastern Connecticut sometime around 1500. These claims 

are disputed by the evidence of modern archaeology and 

anthropology finds.  

In the 1630s, the Connecticut River Valley was in turmoil. The 

Pequot aggressively extended their area of control at the 

expense of the Wampanoag to the north, the Narragansett to 

the east, the Connecticut River Valley Algonquian tribes and 

the Mohegan to the west, and the Lenape Algonquian people of 

Long Island to the south. The tribes contended for political 

dominance and control of the European fur trade. A series of 

epidemics over the course of the previous three decades had 

severely reduced the Indian populations, and there was a 

power vacuum in the area as a result.  

The Dutch and the English from Western Europe were also 

striving to extend the reach of their trade into the North 

American interior to achieve dominance in the lush, fertile 

region. The colonies were new at the time, the original 

settlements having been founded in the 1620s. By 1636, the 

Dutch had fortified their trading post, and the English had 

built a trading fort at Saybrook. English Puritans from the 

Massachusetts Bay and Plymouth colonies settled at the four 
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recently established river towns of Windsor (1632), 

Wethersfield (1633), Hartford (1635), and Springfield (1636.)  

Belligerents 

On the side of the Pequot:  

• Pequot: Sachem Sassacus 

• Western Niantic: Sachem Sassious 

On the side of the colonists:  

• Narragansett: Sachem Miantonomo 

• Mohegan: Sachem Uncas 

• Niantic Sagamore Wequash 

• Massachusetts Bay Colony: Governors Henry Vane 

and John Winthrop, Captains John Underhill and 

John Endecott 

• Plymouth Colony: Governors Edward Winslow and 

William Bradford, and Captain Myles Standish 

• Connecticut Colony: Thomas Hooker, Captain John 

Mason, Robert Seeley, Lt. William Pratt (c. 1609–

1670) 

• Saybrook Colony: Lion Gardiner 

Causes for war 

Beginning in the early 1630s, a series of contributing factors 

increased the tensions between English colonists and the 

tribes of Southeastern New England. Efforts to control fur 

trade access resulted in a series of escalating incidents and 

attacks that increased tensions on both sides. Political 
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divisions widened between the Pequots and Mohegans as they 

aligned with different trade sources, the Mohegans with the 

English colonists and the Pequots with the Dutch colonists. 

The peace ended between the Dutch and Pequots when the 

Pequots assaulted a tribe of Indians who had tried to trade in 

the area of Hartford. Tensions grew as the Massachusetts Bay 

Colony became a stronghold for wampum production, which 

the Narragansetts and Pequots had controlled up until the 

mid-1630s.  

Adding to the tensions, John Stone and seven of his crew were 

murdered in 1634 by the Niantics, Western tributary clients of 

the Pequots. According to the Pequots' later explanations, they 

murdered him in reprisal for the Dutch murdering the 

principal Pequot sachem Tatobem, and they claimed to be 

unaware that Stone was English and not Dutch. 

(Contemporaneous accounts claim that the Pequots knew Stone 

to be English.) In the earlier incident, Tatobem had boarded a 

Dutch vessel to trade. Instead of conducting trade, the Dutch 

seized the sachem and demanded a substantial amount of 

ransom for his safe return. 

The Pequots quickly sent bushels of wampum, but received 

only Tatobem's dead body in return. Stone was from the West 

Indies and had been banished from Boston for malfeasance, 

including drunkenness, adultery, and piracy. He had abducted 

two Western Niantic men, forcing them to show him the way up 

the Connecticut River. Soon after, he and his crew were 

attacked and killed by a larger group of Western Niantics. The 

initial reactions in Boston varied from indifference to outright 

joy at Stone's death, but the colonial officials still felt 

compelled to protest the killing. They did not accept the 



Pre–United States History: 1600–1699, Volume 3 

546 

 

Pequots' excuses that they had been unaware of Stone's 

nationality. Pequot sachem Sassacus sent some wampum to 

atone for the killing, but refused the colonists' demands that 

the warriors responsible for Stone's death be turned over to 

them for trial and punishment.  

The Great Colonial Hurricane of 1635 also placed a great deal 

of pressure on the harvests of that year, according to historian 

Katherine Grandjean, increasing competition for winter food 

supplies for several years afterwards throughout much of 

coastal Connecticut, Rhode Island, and Massachusetts. 

This in turn precipitated even greater tensions between the 

Pequots and English colonists who were ill-prepared to face 

periods of famine.  

A more proximate cause of the war was the killing of a trader 

named John Oldham who was attacked on a voyage to Block 

Island on July 20, 1636. He and several of his crew were killed 

and his ship was looted by Narragansett-allied Indians who 

sought to discourage settlers from trading with their Pequot 

rivals. Oldham had a reputation as a trouble maker and had 

been exiled from Plymouth Colony shortly before the incident 

on Block Island. 

In the weeks that followed, officials from Massachusetts Bay, 

Rhode Island, and Connecticut assumed that the Narragansetts 

were the likely culprits. They knew that the Indians of Block 

Island were allies of the Eastern Niantics, who were allied with 

the Narragansetts, and they became suspicious of the 

Narragansetts. The murderers, meanwhile, escaped and were 

given sanctuary with the Pequots.  
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Battles 

News of Oldham's death became the subject of sermons in the 

Massachusetts Bay Colony. In August, Governor Vane sent 

John Endecott to exact revenge on the Indians of Block Island. 

Endecott's party of roughly 90 men sailed to Block Island and 

attacked two apparently abandoned Niantic villages. Most of 

the Niantic escaped, while two of Endecott's men were injured. 

The English claimed to have killed 14, but later Narragansett 

reports claimed that only one Indian was killed on the island. 

The Massachusetts Bay militia burned the villages to the 

ground. They carried away crops which the Niantic had stored 

for winter and destroyed what they could not carry. Endecott 

went on to Fort Saybrook.  

The English at Saybrook were not happy about the raid, but 

agreed that some of them would accompany Endecott as 

guides. Endecott sailed along the coast to a Pequot village, 

where he repeated the previous year's demand for those 

responsible for the death of Stone, and now also for those who 

murdered Oldham. After some discussion, Endecott concluded 

that the Pequots were stalling and attacked, but most escaped 

into the woods. Endecott had his forces burn down the village 

and crops before sailing home.  

Pequot raids 

In the aftermath, the English of Connecticut Colony had to 

deal with the anger of the Pequots. The Pequots attempted to 

get their allies to join their cause, some 36 tributary villages, 

but were only partly effective. The Western Niantic (Nehantic) 

joined them, but the Eastern Niantic (Nehantic) remained 
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neutral. The traditional enemies of the Pequot, the Mohegan 

and the Narragansett, openly sided with the English. The 

Narragansetts had warred with and lost territory to the 

Pequots in 1622. Now their friend Roger Williams urged the 

Narragansetts to side with the English against the Pequots.  

Through the autumn and winter, Fort Saybrook was effectively 

besieged. People who ventured outside were killed. As spring 

arrived in 1637, the Pequots stepped up their raids on 

Connecticut towns. On April 23, Wangunk chief Sequin 

attacked Wethersfield with Pequot help. They killed six men 

and three women, a number of cattle and horses, and took two 

young girls captive. (They were daughters of William Swaine 

and were later ransomed by Dutch traders.) In all, the towns 

lost about thirty settlers.  

In May, leaders of Connecticut river towns met in Hartford, 

raised a militia, and placed Captain John Mason in command. 

Mason set out with ninety militia and seventy Mohegan 

warriors under Uncas; their orders were to directly attack the 

Pequot at their fort. 

At Fort Saybrook, Captain Mason was joined by John Underhill 

with another twenty men. Underhill and Mason then sailed 

from Fort Saybrook to Narragansett Bay, a tactic intended to 

mislead Pequot spies along the shoreline into thinking that the 

English were not intending an attack. After gaining the support 

of 200 Narragansetts, Mason and Underhill marched their 

forces with Uncas and Wequash Cooke approximately twenty 

miles towards Mistick Fort (present-day Mystic). They briefly 

camped at Porter's Rocks near the head of the Mystic River 

before mounting a surprise attack just before dawn.  
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The Mystic massacre 

The Mystic Massacre started in the pre-dawn hours of May 26, 

1637 when Colonial forces led by Captains John Mason and 

John Underhill, along with their allies from the Mohegan and 

Narragansett tribes, surrounded one of two main fortified 

Pequot villages at Mistick. Only 20 soldiers breached the 

palisade's gate and they were quickly overwhelmed, to the 

point that they used fire to create chaos and facilitate their 

escape. The ensuing conflagration trapped the majority of the 

Pequots; those who managed to escape the fire were slain by 

the soldiers and warriors who surrounded the fort.  

Mason later declared that the attack against the Pequots was 

the act of a God who "laughed his Enemies and the Enemies of 

his People to scorn", making the Pequot fort "as a fiery Oven", 

and "thus did the Lord judge among the Heathen." Of the 

estimated 500 Pequots in the fort, seven were taken prisoner 

and another seven escaped to the woods.  

The Narragansetts and Mohegans with Mason and Underhill's 

colonial militia were horrified by the actions and "manner of 

the Englishmen's fight… because it is too furious, and slays 

too many men." 

The Narragansetts attempted to leave and return home but 

were cut off by the Pequots from the other village of 

Weinshauks and had to be rescued by Underhill's men—after 

which they reluctantly rejoined the colonists for protection and 

were utilized to carry the wounded, thereby freeing up more 

soldiers to fend off the numerous attacks along the withdrawal 

route.  
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War's end 

The destruction of people and the village at Mistick Fort and 

losing even more warriors during the withdrawal pursuit broke 

the Pequot spirit, and they decided to abandon their villages 

and flee westward to seek refuge with the Mohawk tribe. 

Sassacus led roughly 400 warriors along the coast; when they 

crossed the Connecticut River, the Pequots killed three men 

whom they encountered near Fort Saybrook.  

In mid-June, John Mason set out from Saybrook with 160 men 

and 40 Mohegan scouts led by Uncas. They caught up with the 

refugees at Sasqua, a Mattabesic village near present-day 

Fairfield, Connecticut. The colonists memorialized this event 

as the Fairfield Swamp Fight (not to be confused with the 

Great Swamp Fight during King Philip's War). The English 

surrounded the swamp and allowed several hundred to 

surrender, mostly women and children, but Sassacus slipped 

out before dawn with perhaps eighty warriors and continued 

west.  

Sassacus and his followers had hoped to gain refuge among the 

Mohawk in present-day New York. However, the Mohawk 

instead murdered him and his bodyguard, afterwards sending 

his head and hands to Hartford (for reasons which were never 

made clear). 

This essentially ended the Pequot War; colonial officials 

continued to call for hunting down what remained of the 

Pequots after war's end, but they granted asylum to any who 

went to live with the Narragansetts or Mohegans.  
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Aftermath 

In September, the Mohegans and Narragansetts met at the 

General Court of Connecticut and agreed on the disposition of 

the Pequot survivors. 

The agreement is known as the first Treaty of Hartford and was 

signed on September 21, 1638. About 200 Pequots survived the 

war; they finally gave up and submitted themselves under the 

authority of the sachem of the Mohegans or Narragansetts:  

There were then given to Onkos, Sachem of Monheag, Eighty; 

to Myan Tonimo, Sachem of Narragansett, Eighty; and to 

Nynigrett, Twenty, when he should satisfy for a Mare of Edward 

Pomroye's killed by his Men. The Pequots were then bound by 

Covenant, That none should inhabit their native Country, nor 

should any of them be called PEQUOTS any more, but Moheags 

and Narragansatts for ever.  

Other Pequots were enslaved and shipped to Bermuda or the 

West Indies, or were forced to become household slaves in 

English households in Connecticut and Massachusetts Bay. 

The Colonies essentially declared the Pequots extinct by 

prohibiting them from using the name any longer.  

The colonists attributed their victory over the hostile Pequot 

tribe to an act of God:  

Let the whole Earth be filled with his glory! Thus the lord was 

pleased to smite our Enemies in the hinder Parts, and to give 

us their Land for an Inheritance.  
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This was the first instance wherein Algonquian peoples of 

southern New England encountered European-style warfare. 

After the Pequot War, there were no significant battles between 

Indians and southern New England colonists for about 38 

years. This long period of peace came to an end in 1675 with 

King Philip's War. According to historian Andrew Lipman, the 

Pequot War introduced the practice of Colonists and Indians 

taking body parts as trophies of battle. Honor and monetary 

reimbursement was given to those who brought back heads and 

scalps of Pequots.  

Historical accounts and controversies 

The earliest accounts of the Pequot War were written within 

one year of the war. Later histories recounted events from a 

similar perspective, restating arguments first used by military 

leaders such as John Underhill and John Mason, as well as 

Puritans Increase Mather and his son Cotton Mather.  

Recent historians and others have reviewed these accounts. In 

2004, an artist and archaeologist teamed up to evaluate the 

sequence of events in the Pequot War. Their popular history 

took issue with events and whether John Mason and John 

Underhill wrote the accounts that appeared under their names. 

The authors have been adopted as honorary members of the 

Lenape Pequots.  

Most modern historians do not debate questions of the 

outcome of the battle or its chronology, such as Alfred A. Cave, 

a specialist in the ethnohistory of colonial America. However, 

Cave contends that Mason and Underhill's eyewitness 

accounts, as well as the contemporaneous histories of Mather 



Pre–United States History: 1600–1699, Volume 3 

553 

 

and Hubbard, were more "polemical than substantive." Alden T. 

Vaughan writes that the Pequots were not "solely or even 

primarily responsible" for the war. "The Bay colony's gross 

escalation of violence… made all-out war unavoidable; until 

then, negotiation was at least conceivable."  

  



Chapter 23 

New Sweden Established Around 

the Southern Delaware River by 

Peter Minuit 

New Sweden (Swedish: Nya Sverige; Finnish: Uusi Ruotsi; 

Latin: Nova Svecia) was a Swedish colony along the lower 

reaches of the Delaware River in America from 1638 to 1655, 

established during the Thirty Years' War when Sweden was a 

great military power. New Sweden formed part of the Swedish 

efforts to colonize the Americas. Settlements were established 

on both sides of the Delaware Valley in the region of Delaware, 

New Jersey, Maryland, and Pennsylvania, often in places where 

Swedish traders had been visiting since about 1610. Fort 

Christina in Wilmington, Delaware was the first settlement, 

named after the reigning Swedish monarch. The settlers were 

Swedes, Finns, and a number of Dutch. New Sweden was 

conquered by the Dutch Republic in 1655 during the Second 

Northern War and incorporated into the Dutch colony of New 

Netherland.  

History 

• By the middle of the 17th century, the Realm of

Sweden had reached its greatest territorial extent

and was one of the great powers of Europe. Sweden

then included Finland and Estonia, along with parts

of modern Russia, Poland, Germany, and Latvia
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under King Gustavus Adolphus and later Christina. 

The Swedes sought to expand their influence by 

creating a plantation (tobacco) and fur-trading 

colony to circumvent French and English merchants. 

The Swedish South Company was founded in 1626 with a 

mandate to establish colonies between Florida and 

Newfoundland for the purposes of trade, particularly along the 

Delaware River. Its charter included Swedish, Dutch, and 

German stockholders led by directors of the New Sweden 

Company, including Samuel Blommaert. The company 

sponsored 11 expeditions in 14 separate voyages to Delaware 

between 1638 and 1655; two did not survive.  

The first Swedish expedition to America sailed from the port of 

Gothenburg in late 1637, organized and overseen by Clas 

Fleming, a Swedish admiral from Finland. Flemish Dutch 

Samuel Blommaert assisted the fitting-out and appointed Peter 

Minuit (the former Governor of New Amsterdam) to lead the 

expedition. The expedition sailed into Delaware Bay aboard the 

Fogel Grip and Kalmar Nyckel, which lay within the territory 

claimed by the Dutch. They passed Cape May and Cape 

Henlopen in late March 1638 and anchored on March 29 at a 

rocky point on the Minquas Kill that is known today as Swedes' 

Landing. They built a fort in Wilmington which they named 

Fort Christina after Queen Christina.  

In the following years, the area was settled by 600 Swedes and 

Finns, a number of Dutchmen, a few Germans, a Dane, and at 

least one Estonian, and Minuit became the first governor of the 

colony of New Sweden. He had been the third Director of New 

Amsterdam, and he knew that the Dutch claimed the area 
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south to the Delaware River and its bay. The Dutch, however, 

had pulled back their settlers from the area after several years 

in order to concentrate on the settlement on Manhattan Island.  

Governor Minuit landed on the west bank of the river and 

gathered the sachems of the Delawares and Susquehannocks. 

They held a conclave in Minuit's cabin on the Kalmar Nyckel, 

and he persuaded them to sign deeds which he had prepared to 

solve any issue with the Dutch. The Swedes claimed that the 

purchased land included land on the west side of the South 

River from just below the Schuylkill River in Philadelphia, 

southeastern Pennsylvania, Delaware, and coastal Maryland. 

Delaware sachem Mattahoon later claimed that the purchase 

only included as much land as was contained within an area 

marked by "six trees", and the rest of the land occupied by the 

Swedes was stolen.  

Willem Kieft objected to the Swedes landing, but Minuit 

ignored him since he knew that the Dutch were militarily weak 

at the moment. Minuit completed Fort Christina in 1638, then 

sailed for Stockholm to bring the second group of settlers. He 

made a detour to the Caribbean to pick up a shipment of 

tobacco to sell in Europe in order to make the voyage 

profitable. However, he died on this voyage during a hurricane 

at St. Christopher in the Caribbean. The official duties of the 

governor of New Sweden were carried out by Captain Måns 

Nilsson Kling, until a new governor was selected and arrived 

from Sweden two years later.  

The company expanded along the river from Fort Christina 

under the leadership of Johan Björnsson Printz, governor from 

1643 to 1653. They established Fort Nya Elfsborg on the east 
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bank of the Delaware near Salem, New Jersey and Fort Nya 

Gothenborg on Tinicum Island to the immediate southwest of 

Philadelphia. He also built his manor house The Printzhof at 

Fort Nya Gothenborg, and the Swedish colony prospered for a 

time. In 1644, New Sweden supported the Susquehannocks in 

their war against Maryland colonists. In May 1654, soldiers 

from New Sweden led by Governor Johan Risingh captured Fort 

Casimir and renamed it Fort Trinity (Trefaldigheten in 

Swedish).  

Sweden opened the Second Northern War in the Baltic by 

attacking the Polish–Lithuanian Commonwealth, and the Dutch 

sent an armed squadron of ships under Director-General Peter 

Stuyvesant to seize New Sweden. In the summer of 1655, the 

Dutch marched an army to the Delaware River, easily 

capturing Fort Trinity and Fort Christina. The Swedish 

settlement was formally incorporated into Dutch New 

Netherland on September 15, 1655, although the Swedish and 

Finnish settlers were allowed local autonomy. They retained 

their own militia, religion, court, and lands. This lasted until 

the English conquest of New Netherland, launched on June 24, 

1664. The Duke of York sold New Jersey to John Berkeley and 

George Carteret to become a proprietary colony, separate from 

the projected colony of New York. The invasion began on 

August 29, 1664 with the capture of New Amsterdam and 

ended with the capture of Fort Casimir (New Castle, Delaware) 

in October. This took place at the beginning of the Second 

Anglo-Dutch War.  

New Sweden continued to exist unofficially, and some 

immigration and expansion continued. The first settlement at 

Wicaco began with a Swedish log blockhouse located on Society 
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Hill in Philadelphia in 1669. It was later used as a church 

until about 1700, when Gloria Dei (Old Swedes') Church of 

Philadelphia was built on the site. New Sweden finally came to 

an end when its land was included in William Penn's charter 

for Pennsylvania on August 24, 1682.  

Hoarkill, New Amstel, and Upland 

The start of the Third Anglo-Dutch War resulted in the Dutch 

recapture of New Netherland in August 1673. They restored the 

status which predated the English capture, and codified it in 

the establishment of three counties: Hoarkill County, New 

Amstel County, and Upland County, which was later 

partitioned between New Castle County, Delaware, and the 

Colony of Pennsylvania. The three counties were created on 

September 12, 1673, the first two on the west shore of the 

Delaware River and the third on both sides of the river.  

The Treaty of Westminster of 1674 ended the second period of 

Dutch control and required them to return all of New 

Netherland to the English on June 29, including the three 

counties which they created. After taking stock, the English 

declared on November 11 that settlements on the west side of 

the Delaware River and Delaware Bay were to be dependent on 

the Province of New York, including the three Counties. This 

declaration was followed by a declaration that renamed New 

Amstel as New Castle. The other counties retained their Dutch 

names.  

The next step in the assimilation of New Sweden into New York 

was the extension of the Duke's laws into the region on 

September 22, 1676. This was followed by the partition of some 
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Upland Counties to conform to the borders of Pennsylvania and 

Delaware, with most of the Delaware portion going to New 

Castle County on November 12, 1678. The remainder of Upland 

continued in place under the same name. On June 21, 1680, 

New Castle and Hoarkill Counties were partitioned to produce 

St. Jones County.  

On March 4, 1681, what had been the colony of New Sweden 

was formally partitioned into the colonies of Delaware and 

Pennsylvania. The border was established 12 miles north of 

New Castle, and the northern limit of Pennsylvania was set at 

42 degrees north latitude. The eastern limit was the border 

with New Jersey at the Delaware River, while the western limit 

was undefined. In June 1681, Upland ceased to exist as the 

result of the reorganization of the Colony of Pennsylvania, with 

the Upland government becoming the government of Chester 

County, Pennsylvania.  

On August 24, 1682, the Duke of York transferred the western 

Delaware River region to William Penn, including Delaware, 

thus transferring Deale County and St. Jones County from New 

York to Delaware. St. Jones County was renamed Kent County, 

Deale County was renamed Sussex County, and New Castle 

County retained its name.  

Significance and legacy 

Historian H. Arnold Barton has suggested that the greatest 

significance of New Sweden was the strong and lasting interest 

in America that the colony generated in Sweden, although 

major Swedish immigration did not occur until the late 19th 

century. From 1870 to 1910, more than one million Swedes 
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arrived in America, settling particularly in Minnesota and 

other states of the Upper Midwest. Traces of New Sweden 

persist in the lower Delaware Valley, including Holy Trinity 

Church in Wilmington, Delaware, Gloria Dei Church and St. 

James Kingsessing Church in Philadelphia, Trinity Episcopal 

Church in Swedesboro, New Jersey, and Christ Church in 

Swedesburg, Pennsylvania. All of those churches are commonly 

known as "Old Swedes' Church". Christiana, Delaware is one of 

the few settlements in the area with a Swedish name, and 

Upland survives as Upland, Pennsylvania. Swedesford Road is 

still found in Chester and Montgomery Counties, Pennsylvania, 

although Swedesford has long since become Norristown. The 

American Swedish Historical Museum in South Philadelphia 

houses many exhibits, documents, and artifacts from the New 

Sweden colony.  

Perhaps the greatest contribution of New Sweden to the 

development of the New World is the traditional Finnish forest 

house building technique. The colonists of New Sweden 

brought with them the log cabin, which became such an icon of 

the American frontier that it is commonly thought of as an 

American structure. The C. A. Nothnagle Log House on 

Swedesboro-Paulsboro Road in Gibbstown, New Jersey is one of 

the oldest surviving log houses in the United States.  

Finnish influence 

The settlers came from all over the Swedish realm. The 

percentage of Finns in New Sweden grew especially towards the 

end of the period of colonization. Finns composed 22 percent of 

the population during Swedish rule, and rose to about 50 

percent after the colony came under Dutch rule. A contingent 



Pre–United States History: 1600–1699, Volume 3 

561 

 

of 140 Finns arrived in 1664. The ship Mercurius sailed to the 

colony in 1665, and 92 of the 106 passengers were listed as 

Finns. Memory of the early Finnish settlement lived on in place 

names near the Delaware River such as Finland (Marcus Hook), 

Torne, Lapland, Finns Point, Mullica Hill, and Mullica River.  

A portion of these Finns were known as Forest Finns, people of 

Finnish descent who had been living in the forest areas of 

Central Sweden. The Forest Finns had moved from Savonia in 

Eastern Finland to Dalarna, Bergslagen and other provinces in 

central Sweden during the late-16th to mid-17th century. Their 

relocation had started as part of an effort by Swedish King 

Gustav Vasa to expand agriculture to these uninhabited parts 

of the country. The Finns in Savonia traditionally farmed with 

a slash-and-burn method which was better suited to pioneering 

agriculture in vast forest areas. This was also the farming 

method used by the American Indians of Delaware.  

Forts 

• Fort Christina (1638) – at the Brandywine Creek and 

Christina River in Wilmington, Delaware, later 

renamed Fort Altena (1655) 

• Fort Mecoponacka (1641) – in Chester, near 

Finlandia or Upland in Delaware County, 

Pennsylvania 

• Fort Nya Elfsborg (1643) – between present-day 

Salem Creek and Alloway Creek near Bridgeport, New 

Jersey 

• Fort Nya Gothenborg (1643) – on Tinicum Island near 

the site of The Printzhof in Essington, Delaware 

County, Pennsylvania 
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• Fort Nya Vasa (1646) – at Kingsessing, on the 

eastern-side of Cobbs Creek in Philadelphia 

• Fort Nya Korsholm (1647) – on the Schuylkill River 

near the South River in Philadelphia 

• Fort Casimir (1654) – also known as Fort Trinity (in 

Swedish, Trefaldigheten), located at the end of 

Chestnut Street near Harmony & 2nd streets in New 

Castle, Delaware. 

Permanent settlements 

• Christina (1638 and 1641; modern Wilmington, 

Delaware) 

• Finland, Finlandia, or Chamassungh (1641 and 

1643; modern Marcus Hook, Pennsylvania) 

• Upland or Uppland (1641 and 1643; modern Chester, 

Pennsylvania) 

• Varkens Kill (1641; modern Salem County, New 

Jersey) 

• Printztorp (1643; modern Chester, Pa.) 

• Tequirassy (1643; modern Eddystone, Pennsylvania) 

• Tenakonk or Tinicum (1643; modern Tinicum 

Township, Delaware County, Pennsylvania) 

• Provins, Druweeÿland, or Manaiping (1643; modern 

southwest Philadelphia, on Province Island on the 

Schuylkill River) 

• Minquas or Minqua's Island (1644; modern 

southwest Philadelphia, Pennsylvania) 

• Kingsessing (1644; modern southwest Philadelphia, 

Pennsylvania) 

• Mölndal (1645; modern Yeadon, Pennsylvania) 
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• Torne (1647; modern West Philadelphia) 

• Sveaborg (c. 1649; modern Swedesboro, New Jersey) 

• Nya Stockholm (c. 1649; modern Bridgeport, New 

Jersey) 

• Sidoland (1654; modern Wilmington, Del.) 

• Översidolandet (1654; modern Wilmington, Del.) 

• Timmerön or Timber Island (1654; modern 

Wilmington) 

• Strandviken (1654; modern Wilmington) 

• Ammansland (1654; modern Darby, Pennsylvania) 

Rivers and creeks 

• Delaware River: "South River" (Södre Rivier; as 

opposed to the Hudson), "Swedish River" (Swenskes 

Rivier ), "New Sweden River" (Nya Sweriges Rivier ) 

• Schuylkill River: "Schuyl Creek" (Schuylen Kÿl) 

meaning hidden river 

• Brandywine Creek: "Fish Creek" (Fiske Kÿl) 

• Christina River: "Susquehanna" (Minquas) or 

"Christina Creek" (Christina Kÿl) 

• Raccoon Creek: "Narraticon" (Lenape) meaning 

Raccoon 

• Salem River: Varkens Kill (Hogg Creek) 

• Mullica River, named for an early Finnish settler, 

Eric Pålsson Mullica 

Peter Minuit 

Peter Minuit (between 1580 and 1585 – August 5, 1638) was 

from Tournai, in present-day Belgium. He was the 3rd Director 
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of the Dutch North American colony of New Netherland from 

1626 until 1631, and 3rd Governor of New Netherland. He 

founded the Swedish colony of New Sweden on the Delaware 

Peninsula in 1638.  

Minuit is generally credited with orchestrating the purchase of 

Manhattan Island for the Dutch from the Lenape Native 

Americans. Manhattan later became the site of the Dutch city 

of New Amsterdam, and the borough of Manhattan of modern-

day New York City. A common account states that Minuit 

purchased Manhattan for $24 worth of trinkets. A letter 

written by Dutch merchant Peter Schaghen to directors of the 

Dutch East India Company stated that Manhattan was 

purchased for "60 guilders worth of trade,"  an amount worth 

approximately $1,143 in 2020 dollars.  

Biography 

Early life 

Peter Minuit was born at Wesel between 1580 and 1585 into a 

Calvinist family that had moved from the city of Tournai 

(presently part of Wallonia, Belgium) in the Southern 

Netherlands, to Wesel in Germany, in order to avoid Spanish 

Catholic colonials, who were not favorably disposed toward 

Protestants. His surname means "midnight" in French.  

His father, Johann, died in 1609 and Peter took over 

management of the household and his father's business. Peter 

had a good reputation in Wesel, attested by the fact that he 

was several times appointed a guardian. He also assisted the 

poor during the Spanish occupation of 1614–1619.  
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Minuit married Gertrude Raedts on August 20, 1613. Gertrude 

was from a wealthy family and she probably helped Peter 

Minuit establish himself as a broker. A will drawn up in 1615 

in the Dutch city of Utrecht, mentions "Peter Minnewit" as a 

diamond cutter. Whether he traded in other items is unknown.  

By 1624, the city was in an economic decline and in 1625, he 

had left Wesel and like others, went to Holland. At first, 

Gertrude went to stay with her relatives in Cleve.  

As director of New Netherland 

Minuit joined the Dutch West India Company, probably in the 

mid-1620s, and was sent with his family to New Netherland in 

1625 to search for tradable goods other than the animal pelts 

that then were the major product coming from New Netherland. 

He returned in the same year, and in 1626 was appointed the 

new director of New Netherland, taking over from Willem 

Verhulst. He sailed to North America and arrived in the colony 

on May 4, 1626.  

Minuit is credited with purchasing the island of Manhattan 

from the Native Americans in exchange for traded goods valued 

at 60 guilders. According to the writer Nathaniel Benchley, 

Minuit conducted the transaction with Seyseys, chief of the 

Canarsees, who were only too happy to accept valuable 

merchandise in exchange for an island that was mostly 

controlled by the Weckquaesgeeks.  

The figure of 60 guilders comes from a letter by a 

representative of the Dutch States-General and member of the 

board of the Dutch West India Company, Pieter Janszoon 

Schagen, to the States-General in November 1626. In 1846, 
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New York historian John Romeyn Brodhead converted the 

figure of Fl 60 (or 60 guilders) to US$23. The popular account 

rounds this off to $24. By 2006 sixty guilders in 1626 was 

worth approximately $1,000 in current dollars, according to 

the Institute for Social History of Amsterdam.  

According to researchers at the National Library of the 

Netherlands, "The original inhabitants of the area were 

unfamiliar with the European notions and definitions of 

ownership rights. For the Indians, water, air and land could 

not be traded. Such exchanges would also be difficult in 

practical terms because many groups migrated between their 

summer and winter quarters. It can be concluded that both 

parties probably went home with totally different 

interpretations of the sales agreement."  

A contemporary purchase of rights in nearby Staten Island, to 

which Minuit also was party, involved duffel cloth, iron kettles, 

axe heads, hoes, wampum, drilling awls, "Jew's harps", and 

"diverse other wares". "If similar trade goods were involved in 

the Manhattan arrangement", Burrows and Wallace surmise, 

"then the Dutch were engaged in high-end technology transfer, 

handing over equipment of enormous usefulness in tasks 

ranging from clearing land to drilling wampum."  

Minuit conducted politics in a measure of democracy in the 

colony during his time in New Netherland. He was highest 

judge in the colony, but in both civil and criminal affairs he 

was assisted by a council of five colonists. This advisory body 

would advise the director and jointly with him would develop, 

administer, and adjudicate a body of laws to help govern the 

colony. In addition there was a schout-fiscal, half-sheriff, half-
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attorney-general, and the customs officer. During Minuit's 

administration, several mills were built, trade grew 

exponentially, and the population grew to almost 300.  

In 1631, the Dutch West India Company (WIC) suspended 

Minuit from his post for reasons that are unclear, but probably 

for (perhaps unintentionally) abetting the landowning patroons 

who were engaging in illegal fur trade and otherwise enriching 

themselves against the interests and orders of the West India 

Company. He arrived back in Europe in August 1632 to explain 

his actions, but was dismissed  and was succeeded as director 

by Wouter van Twiller. It is possible that Minuit had become 

the victim of the internal disputes over the rights that the 

board of directors had given to the patroons.  

Establishing the New Sweden colony 

After having lived in Cleves, Germany for several years, Minuit 

made arrangements with Samuel Blommaert and the Swedish 

government in 1636 or 1637 to create the first Swedish colony 

in the New World. Located on the lower Delaware River within 

territory earlier claimed by the Dutch, it was called New 

Sweden. Minuit and his company arrived on the Fogel Grip and 

Kalmar Nyckel at Swedes' Landing (now Wilmington, Delaware), 

in the spring of 1638. They constructed Fort Christina later 

that year, then returned to Stockholm for a second load of 

colonists, and made a side trip to the Caribbean on the return 

to pick up a shipment of tobacco for resale in Europe to make 

the voyage profitable. During this voyage, Minuit drowned 

when the ship he was visiting (at the invitation of its Dutch 

captain, a friend of Minuit), The Flying Deer, was lost with all 

hands during a hurricane at St. Christopher (today's St. Kitts) 
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colonists, and Minuit, caused irreversible damage to Sweden's 

colonization attempts. Two years later, Swedish Lt. Måns 

Nilsson Kling, whose rank was raised to captain, replaced him 

as governor. Nine expeditions to the colony were carried out 

before the Dutch captured it in 1655.  

Legacy 

Places named after Minuit 

• The Staten Island Ferry Whitehall Terminal's Peter

Minuit Plaza, north of the South Ferry – Whitehall

Street station (1,N, R, and W trains). Following the

400th anniversary celebrations of Henry Hudson's

voyage to Manhattan, a pavilion was opened there to

honor the Dutch. Each night at midnight, LED lights

around the pavilion's perimeter glow in honor of

Minuit.

• A marker in Inwood Hill Park at the supposed site of

the purchase of Manhattan

• A granite flagstaff base in Battery Park, which

depicts the historic purchase

• A school and playground in East Harlem, which are

named for him.

• An apartment building at 25 Claremont Avenue in

Manhattan, which bears his name above the front

entrance

• The Peter Minuit Chapter of the Daughters of the

American Revolution

• A memorial on Moltkestraße in Wesel, North Rhine-

Westphalia, Germany



Pre–United States History: 1600–1699, Volume 3 

569 

 

In popular culture 

• The beginning lines of Rodgers and Hart's 1939 song 

"Give It Back to the Indians" recount the sale of 

Manhattan: "Old Peter Minuit had nothing to lose 

when he bought the isle of Manhattan / For twenty-

six dollars and a bottle of booze, and they threw in 

the Bronx and Staten / Pete thought he had the best 

of the bargain, but the poor red man just grinned / 

And he grunted "ugh!" (meaning "okay" in his jargon) 

for he knew poor Pete was skinned." 

• Minuit was played by Groucho Marx in the 1957 

comedy film The Story of Mankind. 

• Minuit was played by Michael Landon in the 1970 

film Swing Out, Sweet Land. 

• Minuit is mentioned on the HBO drama Boardwalk 

Empire, where the character Edward Bader tells a 

joke featuring the line, "'50 bucks?' the fella says. 

'Peter Stuyvesant only paid 24 for the entire island 

of Manhattan!'", while Steve Buscemi's' character 

Enoch 'Nucky' Thompson has to correct Bader and 

inform him that it was in fact Peter Minuit who 

bought Manhattan, not Stuyvesant. 

• Bob Dylan mentions Minuit in his song "Hard Times 

in New York Town" (released on The Bootleg Series 

Volume 1) in the following line: Mister Hudson come 

a-sailing down the stream, / and old Mister Minuit 

paid for his dream. In the released recording of the 

song, however, Dylan spoonerizes "Mister Minuit" by 

mispronouncing his name as "Minnie Mistuit." The 

official lyrics have the correct version of the name, 

except that Minuit is spelled "Minuet." 
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• Minuit is mentioned in the first episode, Uno, of the 

AMC drama Better Call Saul. Jimmy McGill (the later 

titular Saul), while confronting lawyers at his 

brother's law firm, accuses them of being "like Peter 

Minuit" and suggests that they "throw in some beads 

and shells" to the $26,000.00 being given to his 

brother. 

• In Manahatta, a play by Mary Kathryn Nagle, Minuit 

is a featured character, depicted in his involvement 

in the colonization of Turtle Island. 

  



Chapter 24 

French and Iroquois Wars Escalate 

to Full Warfare 

The Beaver Wars (Mohawk: Tsianì kayonkwere), also known as 

the Iroquois Wars or the French and Iroquois Wars (French: 

Guerres franco-iroquoises), encompass a series of conflicts 

fought intermittently during the 17th century in North 

America. They were battles for economic dominance throughout 

the Saint Lawrence River valley in Canada and the lower Great 

Lakes region which pitted the Iroquois against the northern 

Algonquians and the Algonquians' French allies. From medieval 

times, 

Europeans had obtained furs from Muscovy and Scandinavia. 

American pelts came on the European market during the 16th 

century, decades before the French, English, and Dutch 

established permanent settlements and trading posts on the 

continent. Basque fishermen chasing cod off Newfoundland's 

Grand Banks bartered with local Indigenous peoples for beaver 

robes to help fend off the Atlantic chill. By virtue of their 

location, the tribes wielded considerable influence in 

European–Indian relations from the early seventeenth century 

onwards.  

The Iroquois sought to expand their territory into the Ohio 

Country and to monopolize the fur trade with European 

markets. They originally were a confederacy of the Mohawk, 

Oneida, Onondaga, Cayuga, and Seneca tribes inhabiting the 
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lands in Upstate New York along the shores of Lake Ontario 

east to Lake Champlain and Lake George on the Hudson river, 

and the lower-estuary of the Saint Lawrence River. The 

Iroquois Confederation led by the Mohawks mobilized against 

the largely Algonquian-speaking tribes and Iroquoian-speaking 

Huron and related tribes of the Great Lakes region. The 

Iroquois were supplied with arms by their Dutch and English 

trading partners; the Algonquians and Hurons were backed by 

the French, their chief trading partner.  

The Iroquois effectively destroyed several large tribal 

confederacies, including the Mahicans, Huron (Wyandot), 

Neutral, Erie, Susquehannock (Conestoga), and northern 

Algonquins. They became dominant in the region and enlarged 

their territory, realigning the American tribal geography. The 

Iroquois gained control of the New England frontier and Ohio 

River valley lands as hunting ground from about 1670 onward.  

Both Algonquian and Iroquoian societies were greatly disrupted 

by these wars. The conflict subsided when the Iroquois lost 

their Dutch allies in the colony of New Netherland after the 

English took it over in 1664, along with Fort Amsterdam and 

the town of New Amsterdam on the island of Manhattan. The 

French then attempted to gain the Iroquois as an ally against 

the English, but the Iroquois refused to break their alliance, 

and frequently fought against the French in the 18th-century. 

The Anglo-Iroquois alliance would reach its zenith during the 

French and Indian War of 1754, which saw the French being 

largely expelled from North America.  

The wars and subsequent killings of beavers were devastating 

for the local beaver population. The natural ecosystems that 
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came to rely on the beavers for dams, water and other vital 

needs were also devastated leading to ecological destruction, 

environmental change, and drought in certain areas. Following 

this beaver populations in North America would take centuries 

to recover in some areas, while others would never recover.  

Background 

French explorer Jacques Cartier in the 1540s made the first 

written records of the Indians in America, although French 

explorers and fishermen had traded in the region near the 

mouth of the Saint Lawrence River estuary a decade before 

then for valuable furs. Cartier wrote of encounters with the St. 

Lawrence Iroquoians, also known as the Stadaconan or 

Laurentian people who occupied several fortified villages, 

including Stadacona and Hochelaga. He recorded an on-going 

war between the Stadaconans and another tribe known as the 

Toudaman.  

Wars and politics in Europe distracted French efforts at 

colonization in the St. Lawrence Valley until the beginning of 

the 17th century, when they founded Quebec in 1608. When 

the French returned to the area, they found both sites 

abandoned by the Stadacona and Hochelaga and completely 

destroyed, and they found no inhabitants in this part of the 

upper river valley—although the Iroquois and the Huron used 

it as hunting ground. 

The causes remain unclear, although some anthropologists and 

historians have suggested that the Mohawk Nation of the 

Iroquois Confederacy destroyed or drove out the St. Lawrence 

Iroquoians.  
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Before 1603, Champlain had formed an alliance against the 

Iroquois, as he decided that the French would not trade 

firearms to them. The northern Indigenous provided the French 

with valuable furs, and the Iroquois interfered with that trade. 

The first battle with the Iroquois in 1609 was fought at 

Champlain's initiative. Champlain wrote, "I had come with no 

other intention than to make war". He and his Huron and 

Algonkin allies fought a pitched battle against the Mohawks on 

the shores of Lake Champlain. Champlain single-handedly 

killed two chiefs with his arquebus despite the war chiefs 

"arrowproof body armor made of plaited sticks", after which the 

Mohawk withdrew in disarray.  

In 1610, Champlain and his French companions helped the 

Algonquins and the Hurons defeat a large Iroquois raiding 

party. In 1615, he joined a Huron raiding party and took part 

in a siege on an Iroquois town, probably among the Onondaga 

south of Lake Ontario in New York. The attack ultimately 

failed, and Champlain was injured.  

Dutch competition 

In 1610-1614, the Dutch established a series of seasonal 

trading posts on the Hudson and Delaware rivers, including 

one on Castle Island at the eastern edge of Mohawk territory 

near Albany. This gave the Iroquois direct access to European 

markets via the Mohawks. The Dutch trading efforts and 

eventual colonies in New Jersey and Delaware soon also 

established trade with the coastal Delaware tribe (Lenape) and 

the more southerly Susquehannock tribe. The Dutch founded 

Fort Nassau in 1614 and its 1624 replacement Fort Orange 

(both at Albany) which removed the Iroquois' need to rely on 
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the French and their allied tribes or to travel through southern 

tribal territories to reach European traders. The Dutch 

supplied the Mohawks and other Iroquois with guns. In 

addition, the new post offered valuable tools that the Iroquois 

could receive in exchange for animal pelts. they began large-

scale hunting for furs to satisfy demand among their peoples 

for new products.  

At this time, conflict began to grow between the Iroquois 

Confederacy and the tribes supported by the French. The 

Iroquois inhabited the region of New York south of Lake 

Ontario and west of the Hudson River. 

Their lands were surrounded on all sides but the south by 

Algonquian-speaking tribes, all traditional enemies, including 

the Shawnee to the west in the Ohio Country, the Neutral 

Nation and Huron confederacies on the western shore of Lake 

Ontario and southern shore of Lake Huron to the west, and the 

Susquehannock to their south. These tribes were historically 

competitive with and sometimes enemies of the Iroquois, who 

had Five Nations in their confederacy.  

Beaver Wars begin 

In 1628, the Mohawks defeated the Mahicans, pushing them 

east of the Hudson River and establishing a monopoly of trade 

with the Dutch at Fort Orange, New Netherland. The 

Susquehannocks were also well armed by Dutch traders, and 

they effectively reduced the strength of the Delawares and 

managed to win a protracted war with Maryland colonists. By 

the 1630s, the Iroquois had become fully armed with European 

weaponry through their trade with the Dutch.  
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The Iroquois relied on the trade for firearms and other highly 

valued European goods for their livelihood and survival. They 

used their growing expertise with the arquebus to good effect 

in their continuing wars with the Algonquins and Hurons, and 

other traditional enemies. The French, meanwhile, outlawed 

the trading of firearms to their Indian allies, though they 

occasionally gave arquebuses as gifts to individuals who 

converted to Christianity. The Iroquois attacked their 

traditional enemies the Algonquins, Mahicans, Montagnais, 

and Hurons, and the alliance of these tribes with the French 

quickly brought the Iroquois into conflict directly with them.  

The expansion of the fur trade with Europe brought a decline 

in the beaver population in the region, and the animal had 

largely disappeared from the Hudson Valley by 1640. American 

Heritage Magazine notes that the growing scarcity of the beaver 

in the lands controlled by the Iroquois in the middle 17th 

century accelerated the wars. The center of the fur trade 

shifted north to the colder regions of southern Ontario, an area 

controlled by the Neutral and Huron tribes who were close 

trading partners with the French.  

Course of war 

With the decline of the beaver population, the Iroquois began 

to conquer their smaller neighbors. They attacked the Wenro in 

1638 and took all of their territory, and survivors fled to the 

Hurons for refuge. The Wenro had served as a buffer between 

the Iroquois and the Neutral tribe and their Erie allies. The 

Neutral and Erie tribes were considerably larger and more 

powerful than the Iroquois, so the Iroquois turned their 

attention to the north and the Dutch encouraged them in this 
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strategy. At that time, the Dutch were the Iroquois' primary 

European trading partners, with their goods passing through 

Dutch trading posts down the Hudson River. As the Iroquois' 

sources of furs declined, however, so did the income of the 

trading posts.  

In 1641, the Mohawks traveled to Trois-Rivières in New France 

to propose peace with the French and their allied tribes, and 

they asked the French to set up a trading post in Iroquoia. 

Governor Montmagny rejected this proposal because it would 

imply abandonment of their Huron allies.  

In the early 1640s, the war began in earnest with Iroquois 

attacks on frontier Huron villages along the St. Lawrence River 

in order to disrupt the trade with the French. In 1645, the 

French called the tribes together to negotiate a treaty to end 

the conflict, and Iroquois leaders Deganaweida and Koiseaton 

traveled to New France to take part in the negotiations. The 

French agreed to most of the Iroquois demands, granting them 

trading rights in New France. The next summer, a fleet of 80 

canoes traveled through Iroquois territory carrying a large 

harvest of furs to be sold in New France. When they arrived, 

however, the French refused to purchase the furs and told the 

Iroquois to sell them to the Hurons, who would act as a 

middleman. The Iroquois were outraged and resumed the war.  

The French decided to become directly involved in the conflict. 

The Huron and the Iroquois had an estimated 25,000 to 30,000 

members each. The Hurons and Susquehannocks formed an 

alliance to counter Iroquois aggression in 1647, and their 

warriors greatly outnumbered those of the Iroquois. The 

Hurons tried to break the Iroquois Confederacy by negotiating 
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a separate peace with the Onondaga and Cayuga tribes, but 

the other tribes intercepted their messengers and put an end 

to the negotiations. 

During the summer of 1647, there were several small 

skirmishes between the tribes, but a more significant battle 

occurred in 1648 when the two Algonquin tribes passed a fur 

convoy through an Iroquois blockade. They succeeded and 

inflicted high casualties on the Iroquois. In the early 1650s, 

the Iroquois began attacking the French themselves, although 

some of the Iroquois tribes had peaceful relations with them, 

notably the Oneida and Onondaga tribes. They were under 

control of the Mohawks, however, who were the strongest tribe 

in the Confederation and had animosity towards the French 

presence. After a failed peace treaty negotiated by Chief 

Canaqueese, 

Iroquois moved north into New France along Lake Champlain 

and the Richelieu River, attacking and blockading Montreal. By 

1650, they controlled the area from the Virginia Colony in the 

south up to the St. Lawrence. In the west, the Iroquois had 

driven the Algonquin-speaking Shawnee out of the Ohio 

Country and seized control of the Illinois Country as far west 

as the Mississippi River. In January 1666, the French invaded 

the Iroquois and took Chief Canaqueese prisoner. 

In September, they proceeded down the Richelieu but were 

unable to find an Iroquois army, so they burned their crops 

and homes. Many Iroquois died from starvation in the following 

winter. During the following years, the Iroquois strengthened 

their confederacy to work more closely and create an effective 

central leadership, and the five tribes ceased fighting among 
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themselves by the 1660s. They also easily coordinated military 

and economic plans, and they increased their power as a 

result.  

Indian raids were not constant, but they terrified the 

inhabitants of New France, and some of the heroes of French-

Canadian folklore are individuals who stood up to such 

attacks. Dollard des Ormeaux, for example, died in May 1660 

while resisting an Iroquois raiding force at the Battle of Long 

Sault, the confluence of the St. Lawrence and the Ottawa 

Rivers, but saved Montreal by his actions. In 1692, 14 year-old 

Marie-Madeleine Jarret successfully frustrated an Iroquois 

attack on Fort Verchères.  

Defeat of the Huron 

• In 1648, the Dutch authorized selling guns directly 

to the Mohawks rather than through traders, and 

promptly sold 400 to the Iroquois. The Confederacy 

sent 1,000 newly armed warriors through the woods 

to Huron territory with the onset of winter, and they 

launched a devastating attack into the heart of 

Huron territory, destroying several key villages, 

killing many warriors, and taking thousands of 

people captive for later adoption into the tribe. 

Among those killed were Jesuit missionaries Jean 

Brebeuf, Charles Garnier, and Gabriel Lallemant, 

each of whom is considered a martyr of the Roman 

Catholic Church. The surviving Hurons fled their 

territory to seek assistance from the Anishinaabeg 

Confederacy in the northern Great Lakes region. The 

Ottawa tribe temporarily halted Iroquois expansion 
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further northwest, but the Iroquois controlled a fur-

rich region and had no more tribes blocking them 

from the French settlements in Canada. 

Diseases had taken their toll on the Iroquois and neighbors in 

the years preceding the war, however, and their populations 

had drastically declined. To replace lost warriors, they worked 

to integrate many of their captured enemies by adoption into 

their own tribes. They invited Jesuits into their territory to 

teach those who had converted to Christianity. The Jesuits 

also reached out to the Iroquois, many of whom converted to 

Roman Catholicism or intermingled its teachings with their 

own traditional beliefs.  

Defeat of the Erie and Neutral 

The Iroquois attacked the Neutrals in 1650, and they 

completely drove the tribe from traditional territory by the end 

of 1651, killing or assimilating thousands. The Neutrals had 

inhabited a territory ranging from the Niagara Peninsula 

westward to the Grand River valley.  

In 1654, the Iroquois attacked the Erie tribe, but with less 

success. The war lasted for two years, and the Iroquois 

destroyed the Erie confederacy by 1656, whose members 

refused to flee to the west. 

The Erie territory was located on the southeastern shore of 

Lake Erie and was estimated to have 12,000 members in 1650. 

The Iroquois were greatly outnumbered by the tribes that they 

subdued, but they achieved their victories through the use of 

firearms purchased from the Dutch.  
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French counterattack 

The Iroquois continued to control the countryside of New 

France, raiding to the edges of the walled settlements of 

Quebec and Montreal. In May 1660, an Iroquois force of 160 

warriors attacked Montreal and captured 17 French colonists. 

The following year, 250 warriors attacked and took ten 

captives. In 1661 and 1662, the Iroquois made several raids 

against the Abenakis who were allied with the French. The 

French Crown ordered a change to the governing of Canada. 

They put together a small military force made up of 

Frenchmen, Hurons, and Algonquins to counter the Iroquois 

raids, but the Iroquois attacked them when they ventured into 

the countryside. Only 29 of the French survived and escaped; 

five were captured and tortured to death by the Iroquois. 

Despite their victory, the Iroquois also suffered a significant 

number of casualties, and their leaders began to consider 

negotiating for peace with the French.  

The tide of war began to turn in the mid-1660s with the arrival 

of the Carignan-Salières Regiment, a small contingent of 

regular troops from France and the first group of uniformed 

professional soldiers in Canada. A change in administration led 

the New France government to authorize direct sale of arms 

and other military support to their Indian allies. In 1664, the 

Dutch allies of the Iroquois lost control of their colony of New 

Netherland to the English. In the immediate years after the 

Dutch defeat, European support waned for the Iroquois.  

In January 1666, the French invaded the Iroquois homeland in 

New York. The first invasion force of 400 to 500 men was led 

by Daniel de Rémy de Courcelle. His men were greatly 
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outnumbered by the Iroquois and were forced to withdraw 

before any significant action could take place, but they took 

Chief Canaqueese prisoner.  

The second invasion force was led by Alexandre de Prouville, 

the "Marquis de Tracy" and viceroy of New France, from his 

base in Quebec City. The invasion force of about 1,300 men 

moved out in the fall of 1666. They found the Mohawk villages 

deserted, so they destroyed the villages and their crops. 

Prouville de Tracy seized all the Mohawk lands in the name of 

the king of France and forced the Mohawks to accept the 

Roman Catholic faith and to adopt the French language, as 

taught by Jesuit missionaries. The Iroquois sued for peace and 

France agreed.  

Peace with France and Iroquois expansion 

Once peace was achieved with the French, the Iroquois 

returned to their westward conquest in their continued attempt 

to take control of all the land between the Algonquins and the 

French. Eastern tribes such as the Lakotas were pushed across 

the Mississippi onto the Great Plains in the early 18th century, 

where they adopted the horse culture and nomadic lifestyle for 

which they later became known. Other refugees flooded the 

Great Lakes area, resulting in a conflict with existing tribes in 

the region. In the Ohio Country, the Shawnee and Miami tribes 

were dominant. The Iroquois quickly overran Shawnee holdings 

in central Ohio, forcing them to flee into Miami territory. The 

Miamis were a powerful tribe and brought together a 

confederacy of their neighboring allies, including the 

Pottawatomie and the Illini confederation who inhabited 
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Michigan and Illinois. The majority of the fighting was between 

the Anishinaabeg Confederacy and the Iroquois Confederacy.  

The Iroquois improved on their warfare as they continued to 

attack even farther from their home. War parties often traveled 

by canoes at night, and they would sink their canoes and fill 

them with rocks to hold them on the river bottom. They would 

then move through the woods to a target and burst from the 

wood to cause the greatest panic. After the attack, they 

returned to their boats and left before any significant 

resistance could be put together. 

The lack of firearms caused the Algonquin tribes the greatest 

disadvantage. Despite their larger numbers, they were not 

centralized enough to mount a united defense and were unable 

to withstand the Iroquois. Several tribes ultimately moved west 

beyond the Mississippi River, leaving much of the Ohio Valley, 

southern Michigan, and southern Ontario depopulated. Several 

Anishinaabe forces numbering in the thousands remained to 

the north of Lakes Huron and Superior, and they were later 

decisive in rolling back the Iroquois advance. From west of the 

Mississippi, displaced groups continued to arm war parties and 

attempt to retake their land.  

Beginning in the 1670s, the French began to explore and settle 

the Ohio and Illinois Country from the Mississippi and Ohio 

rivers, and they established the post of Tassinong to trade with 

the western tribes. 

The Iroquois destroyed it to retain control of the fur trade with 

the Europeans. The Iroquois also drove the Mannahoac tribe 

out of the northern Virginia Piedmont region in 1670, and they 

claimed the land by right of conquest as a hunting ground. The 
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English acknowledged this claim in 1674 and again in 1684, 

but they acquired the land from the Iroquois by a 1722 treaty.  

During a raid into the Illinois Country in 1689, the Iroquois 

captured numerous prisoners and destroyed a sizable Miami 

settlement. 

The Miami asked for aid from others in the Anishinaabeg 

Confederacy, and a large force gathered to track down the 

Iroquois. Using their new firearms, the Confederacy laid an 

ambush near South Bend, Indiana, and they attacked and 

destroyed most of the Iroquois party, and a large part of the 

region was left depopulated. The Iroquois were unable to 

establish a permanent presence, as their tribe was unable to 

colonize the large area, and the Iroquois' brief control over the 

region was lost. Many of the former inhabitants of the territory 

began to return.  

Defeat of the Susquehannocks 

With the tribes destroyed to the north and west, the Iroquois 

turned their attention southward to the Susquehannocks. They 

attained the peak of their influence in 1660, and they were 

able to use that to their advantage in the following decades. 

The Susquehannocks had become allied with the colony of 

Maryland in 1661, as the colonists had grown fearful of the 

Iroquois and hoped that an alliance would help block the 

northern tribes' advance on the colonies. In 1663, the Iroquois 

sent 800 warriors into the Susquehannock territory. The 

Susquehannocks repulsed them, but the unprovoked attack 

prompted the colony of Maryland to declare war on the 

Iroquois.  
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By supplying Susquehannock forts with artillery, the Maryland 

colonists turned the tables on the Iroquois. The 

Susquehannocks took the upper hand and began to invade 

Iroquois territory, where they caused significant damage. This 

warfare continued intermittently for 11 years. In 1674, the 

Maryland colonists changed their Indian policy, negotiated 

peace with the Iroquois, and terminated their alliance with the 

Susquehannocks. 

In 1675, the militias of Virginia and Maryland captured and 

executed the Susquehannock chiefs, whose growing power they 

feared. The Iroquois drove the warriors from traditional 

territory and absorbed the survivors in 1677.  

Resumption of war with France 

• English settlers began to move into the former Dutch 

territory of upper New York State, and the colonists 

began to form close ties with the Iroquois as an 

alliance in the face of French colonial expansion. 

They began to supply the Iroquois with firearms as 

the Dutch had. At the same time, New France's 

governor Louis de Buade tried to revive the western 

fur trade. His efforts competed with those of the 

Iroquois to control the traffic and they started 

attacking the French again. The war lasted ten years.  

In 1681, René-Robert Cavelier, Sieur de La Salle negotiated a 

treaty with the Miami and Illinois tribes. France lifted the ban 

on the sale of firearms to the Indians, and colonists quickly 

armed the Algonquin tribes, evening the odds between the 

Iroquois and their enemies.  
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With the renewal of hostilities, the militia of New France was 

strengthened after 1683 by a small force of regular French 

navy troops in the Compagnies Franches de la Marine, who 

constituted the longest serving unit of French regular troops in 

New France. In June 1687, Governor Denonville and Pierre de 

Troyes set out with a well organized force to Fort Frontenac, 

where they met with the 50 sachems of the Iroquois 

Confederacy from their Onondaga council. These 50 chiefs 

constituted the top leaders of the Iroquois, and Denonville 

captured them and shipped them to Marseilles, France to be 

galley slaves. He then travelled down the shore of Lake Ontario 

and built Fort Denonville at the site where the Niagara River 

meets Lake Ontario. 

This site was previously used by La Salle for Fort Conti from 

1678 to 1679, and was later used for Fort Niagara which still 

exists. The Iroquois retaliated by destroying farmsteads and 

slaughtering entire families. They burned Lachine to the 

ground on August 4, 1689. Frontenac replaced Denonville as 

governor for the next nine years (1689–1698), and he 

recognized the danger created by the imprisonment of the 

sachems. He located the 13 surviving leaders and returned 

with them to New France in October 1698.  

During King William's War (1688–1697), the French formed 

raiding parties with Indian allies to attack English settlements, 

(as the English had allied themselves with the Iroquois against 

the French) perpetrating the Schenectady massacre in the 

colony of New York, the Raid on Salmon Falls in New 

Hampshire, and the Battle of Fort Loyal in Portland, Maine. 

The French and their allies killed settlers in the raids and 

kidnapped some and took them back to Canada. Settlers in 
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New England raised money to redeem the captives, but some 

were adopted into the tribes. The French government generally 

did not intervene when the Indians kept the captives. 

Throughout the 1690s, the French and their allies also 

continued to raid deep into Iroquois territory, destroying 

Mohawk villages in 1692 and raiding Seneca, Oneida, and 

Onondaga villages. The English and Iroquois banded together 

for operations aimed against the French, but these were largely 

ineffective. The most successful incursion resulted in the 1691 

Battle of La Prairie. The French offensive was not halted by the 

1697 Treaty of Ryswick that brought peace between France and 

England, ending English participation in that conflict.  

Peace 

The Iroquois eventually began to see the emerging Thirteen 

Colonies as a greater threat than the French in 1698. The 

colony of Pennsylvania was founded in 1681, and the 

continued growth there began to encroach on the southern 

border of the Iroquois. 

The French policy began to change towards the Iroquois after 

nearly fifty years of warfare, and they decided that befriending 

them would be the easiest way to ensure their monopoly on the 

northern fur trade. The Thirteen Colonies heard of the treaty 

and immediately set about to prevent it from being agreed 

upon. These conflicts would result in the loss of Albany's fur 

trade with the Iroquois and, without their protection, the 

northern flank of the Thirteen Colonies would be open to 

French attack. Nevertheless, the French and Indians signed the 

treaty.  
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The French and 39 Indian chiefs signed the Great Peace of 

Montreal in 1701. The Iroquois agreed to stop marauding and 

to allow refugees from the Great Lakes to return east. The 

Shawnee eventually regained control of the Ohio Country and 

the lower Allegheny River. The Miami tribe returned to take 

control of Indiana and northwest Ohio. The Pottawatomie went 

to Michigan, and the Illinois tribe to Illinois. The peace lasted 

into the 1720s.  

Aftermath 

In 1768, several of the Thirteen Colonies purchased the 

"Iroquois claim" to the Ohio and Illinois Country and created 

the Indiana Land Company to hold the claim to all of the 

Northwest. It maintained a claim to the region using the 

Iroquois right of conquest until the company was dissolved in 

1798 by the United States Supreme Court.  

Many of the Iroquois people allied with the British during the 

American Revolutionary War, particularly warriors from the 

Mohawk, Cayuga, Onondaga and Seneca nations. These nations 

had longstanding trade relations with the British and hoped 

they might stop American encroachment on their lands. 

After the Americans emerged triumphant, the British 

parliament agreed to ceded control over much of its territory in 

North America to the newly-formed United States and worked 

to resettle American loyalists in Canada and provide some 

compensation for lands the Loyalists and Native Americans had 

lost to the United States. Mohawk Chief Joseph Brant led a 

large group of Iroquois out of New York to what became the 

reserve of the Six Nations of the Grand River in Ontario. The 
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new lands granted to Six Nations reserves were all near 

Canadian military outposts and placed along the border to 

prevent any American incursions.  

The coalition of Native American tribes, known as the Western 

Confederacy, was forced to cede extensive territory, including 

much of present-day Ohio, in the Treaty of Greenville in 1795.  

  



Chapter 25 

Beginning of the English Civil 

War—Montreal Founded 

The English Civil War (1642–1651) was a series of civil wars 

and political machinations between Parliamentarians 

("Roundheads") and Royalists ("Cavaliers"), mainly over the 

manner of England's governance and issues of religious 

freedom. It was part of the wider Wars of the Three Kingdoms. 

The first (1642–1646) and second (1648–1649) wars pitted the 

supporters of King Charles I against the supporters of the Long 

Parliament, while the third (1649–1651) saw fighting between 

supporters of King Charles II and supporters of the Rump 

Parliament. The wars also involved the Scottish Covenanters 

and Irish Confederates. The war ended with Parliamentarian 

victory at the Battle of Worcester on 3 September 1651.  

Unlike other civil wars in England, which were mainly fought 

over who should rule, these conflicts were also concerned with 

how the three Kingdoms of England, Scotland and Ireland 

should be governed. The outcome was threefold: the trial and 

the execution of Charles I (1649); the exile of his son, Charles 

II (1651); and the replacement of English monarchy with the 

Commonwealth of England, which from 1653 (as the 

Commonwealth of England, Scotland, and Ireland) unified the 

British Isles under the personal rule of Oliver Cromwell (1653–

1658) and briefly his son Richard (1658–1659). In England, the 

monopoly of the Church of England on Christian worship was 

ended, and in Ireland, the victors consolidated the established 
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Protestant Ascendancy. Constitutionally, the wars established 

the precedent that an English monarch cannot govern without 

Parliament's consent, but the idea of Parliamentary sovereignty 

was legally established only as part of the Glorious Revolution 

in 1688.  

Terminology 

The term "English Civil War" appears most often in the 

singular, but historians often divide the conflict into two or 

three separate wars. They were not restricted to England, as 

Wales was part of England and was affected accordingly. The 

conflicts also involved wars with Scotland and Ireland and civil 

wars within them.  

The wars spanning all four countries are known as the Wars of 

the Three Kingdoms. In the early 19th century, Sir Walter Scott 

referred to it as "the Great Civil War". The 1911 Encyclopædia 

Britannica called the series of conflicts the "Great Rebellion". 

Some historians, notably Marxists such as Christopher Hill 

(1912–2003), have long favoured the term "English Revolution".  

Geography 

Each side had a geographical stronghold, such that minority 

elements were silenced or fled. The Royalist areas included the 

countryside, the shires, the cathedral city of Oxford, and the 

less economically developed areas of northern and western 

England. 

Parliament's strengths spanned the industrial centres, ports, 

and economically advanced regions of southern and eastern 
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England, including the remaining cathedral cities (except York, 

Chester, Worcester). Lacey Baldwin Smith says, "the words 

populous, rich, and rebellious seemed to go hand in hand".  

Strategy and tactics 

Many officers and veteran soldiers had fought in European 

wars, notably the Eighty Years' War between the Spanish and 

the Dutch, which began in 1568, as well as earlier phases of 

the Thirty Years War which began in 1618 and concluded in 

1648.  

The main battle tactic came to be known as pike and shot 

infantry. The two sides would line up opposite one another, 

with infantry brigades of musketeers in the centre. These 

carried matchlock muskets, an inaccurate weapon which 

nevertheless could be lethal at a range of up to 300 yards. 

Musketeers would assemble three rows deep, the first kneeling, 

second crouching, and third standing, allowing all to fire a 

volley simultaneously. At times, troops divided into two 

groups, allowing one to reload while the other fired. Among the 

musketeers were pike men, carrying pikes of 12 feet (4 m) to 18 

feet (5 m) long, whose main purpose was to protect the 

musketeers from cavalry charges. Positioned on each side of 

the infantry were cavalry, with a right wing led by the 

lieutenant-general and left by the commissary general. Its main 

aim was to rout the opponents' cavalry, then turn and 

overpower their infantry.  

The Royalist cavaliers' skill and speed on horseback led to 

many early victories. Prince Rupert, commanding the king's 

cavalry, used a tactic learned while fighting in the Dutch army, 
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where cavalry would charge at full speed into the opponent's 

infantry, firing their pistols just before impact.  

However, with Oliver Cromwell and the introduction of the 

more disciplined New Model Army, a group of disciplined pike 

men would stand its ground, which could have a devastating 

effect. The Royalist cavalry had a tendency to chase down 

individual targets after the initial charge, leaving their forces 

scattered and tired, whereas Cromwell's cavalry was slower but 

better disciplined. Trained to operate as a single unit, it went 

on to win many decisive victories.  

Background 

The King's rule 

The English Civil War broke out in 1642, less than 40 years 

after the death of Queen Elizabeth I. Elizabeth had been 

succeeded by her first cousin twice-removed, King James VI of 

Scotland, as James I of England, creating the first personal 

union of the Scottish and English kingdoms. As King of Scots, 

James had become accustomed to Scotland's weak 

parliamentary tradition since assuming control of the Scottish 

government in 1583, so that upon assuming power south of the 

border, the new King of England was affronted by the 

constraints the English Parliament attempted to place on him 

in exchange for money. In spite of this, James's personal 

extravagance meant he was perennially short of money and had 

to resort to extra-parliamentary sources of income.  

This extravagance was tempered by James's peaceful 

disposition, so that by the succession of his son Charles I in 
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1625 the two kingdoms had both experienced relative peace, 

internally and in their relations with each other. Charles 

followed his father's dream in hoping to unite the kingdoms of 

England, Scotland and Ireland into a single kingdom. Many 

English Parliamentarians were suspicious of such a move, 

fearing that such a new kingdom might destroy old English 

traditions that had bound the English monarchy. As Charles 

shared his father's position on the power of the crown (James 

had described kings as "little gods on Earth", chosen by God to 

rule in accordance with the doctrine of the "Divine Right of 

Kings"), the suspicions of the Parliamentarians had some 

justification.  

Parliament in an English constitutional framework 

At the time, the Parliament of England did not have a large 

permanent role in the English system of government. Instead, 

it functioned as a temporary advisory committee and was 

summoned only if and when the monarch saw fit. Once 

summoned, a Parliament's continued existence was at the 

king's pleasure since it was subject to dissolution by him at 

any time.  

Yet in spite of this limited role, Parliament had acquired over 

the centuries de facto powers of enough significance that 

monarchs could not simply ignore them indefinitely. For a 

monarch, Parliament's most indispensable power was its ability 

to raise tax revenues far in excess of all other sources of 

revenue at the Crown's disposal. 

By the 17th century, Parliament's tax-raising powers had come 

to be derived from the fact that the gentry was the only 
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stratum of society with the ability and authority to collect and 

remit the most meaningful forms of taxation then available at 

the local level. So if the king wanted to ensure smooth revenue 

collection, he needed gentry co-operation. For all of the 

Crown's legal authority, its resources were limited by any 

modern standard to an extent that if the gentry refused to 

collect the king's taxes on a national scale, the Crown lacked a 

practical means of compelling them.  

From the thirteenth century, monarchs ordered the election of 

representatives to sit in the House of Commons, with most 

voters being the owners of property, although in some 

potwalloper boroughs every male householder could vote. When 

assembled along with the House of Lords, these elected 

representatives formed a Parliament. So the concept of 

Parliaments allowed representatives of the property-owning 

class to meet, primarily, at least from the point of view of the 

monarch, to sanction whatever taxes the monarch wished to 

collect. In the process, the representatives could debate and 

enact statutes, or acts. 

However, Parliament lacked the power to force its will upon the 

monarch; its only leverage was the threat of withholding the 

financial means required to implement his plans.  

Parliamentary concerns and the Petition of Right 

Many concerns were raised over Charles's marriage in 1625 to 

a Roman Catholic French princess: Henrietta Maria. Parliament 

refused to assign him the traditional right to collect customs 

duties for his entire reign, deciding instead to grant it only on 

a provisional basis and negotiate with him.  
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Charles, meanwhile, decided to send an expeditionary force to 

relieve the French Huguenots, whom French royal troops held 

besieged in La Rochelle. Such military support for Protestants 

on the Continent potentially alleviated concerns about the 

King's marriage to a Catholic. However, Charles's insistence on 

giving command of the English force to his unpopular royal 

favourite George Villiers, the Duke of Buckingham, undermined 

that support. Unfortunately for Charles and Buckingham, the 

relief expedition proved a fiasco (1627), and Parliament, 

already hostile to Buckingham for his monopoly on royal 

patronage, opened impeachment proceedings against him. 

Charles responded by dissolving Parliament. This saved 

Buckingham but confirmed the impression that Charles wanted 

to avoid Parliamentary scrutiny of his ministers.  

Having dissolved Parliament and unable to raise money 

without it, the king assembled a new one in 1628. (The elected 

members included Oliver Cromwell, John Hampden, and 

Edward Coke.) The new Parliament drew up a Petition of Right, 

which Charles accepted as a concession to obtain his subsidy. 

The Petition made reference to Magna Carta, but did not grant 

him the right of tonnage and poundage, which Charles had 

been collecting without Parliamentary authorisation since 

1625. Several more active members of the opposition were 

imprisoned, which caused outrage; one, John Eliot, 

subsequently died in prison and came to be seen as a martyr 

for the rights of Parliament.  

Personal rule 

Charles avoided calling a Parliament for the next decade, a 

period known as the "personal rule of Charles I", or the "Eleven 
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Years' Tyranny". During this period, Charles's policies were 

determined by his lack of money. First and foremost, to avoid 

Parliament, the King needed to avoid war. Charles made peace 

with France and Spain, effectively ending England's 

involvement in the Thirty Years' War. However, that in itself 

was far from enough to balance the Crown's finances.  

Unable to raise revenue without Parliament and unwilling to 

convene it, Charles resorted to other means. One was to revive 

conventions, often outdated. For example, a failure to attend 

and receive knighthood at Charles's coronation became a 

finable offence with the fine paid to the Crown. The King also 

tried to raise revenue through ship money, demanding in 

1634–1636 that the inland English counties pay a tax for the 

Royal Navy to counter the threat of privateers and pirates in 

the English Channel. Established law supported the policy of 

coastal counties and inland ports such as London paying ship 

money in times of need, but it had not been applied to inland 

counties before. Authorities had ignored it for centuries, and 

many saw it as yet another extra-Parliamentary, illegal tax, 

which prompted some prominent men to refuse to pay it. 

Charles issued a writ against John Hampden for his failure to 

pay, and although five judges including Sir George Croke 

supported Hampden, seven judges found in favour of the King 

in 1638. The fines imposed on people who refused to pay ship 

money and standing out against its illegality aroused 

widespread indignation.  

During his "Personal Rule", Charles aroused most antagonism 

through his religious measures. He believed in High 

Anglicanism, a sacramental version of the Church of England, 

theologically based upon Arminianism, a creed shared with his 
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main political adviser, Archbishop William Laud. In 1633, 

Charles appointed Laud Archbishop of Canterbury and started 

making the Church more ceremonial, replacing the wooden 

communion tables with stone altars. Puritans accused Laud of 

reintroducing Catholicism, and when they complained he had 

them arrested. In 1637, John Bastwick, Henry Burton, and 

William Prynne had their ears cut off for writing pamphlets 

attacking Laud's views – a rare penalty for gentlemen, and one 

that aroused anger. Moreover, the Church authorities revived 

statutes from the time of Elizabeth I about church attendance 

and fined Puritans for not attending Anglican services.  

Rebellion in Scotland 

The end of Charles's independent governance came when he 

attempted to apply the same religious policies in Scotland. The 

Church of Scotland, reluctantly episcopal in structure, had 

independent traditions. Charles wanted one uniform Church 

throughout Britain and introduced a new, High Anglican 

version of the English Book of Common Prayer to Scotland in 

the middle of 1637. This was violently resisted. A riot broke 

out in Edinburgh, which may have been started in St Giles' 

Cathedral, according to legend, by Jenny Geddes. In February 

1638, the Scots formulated their objections to royal policy in 

the National Covenant. This document took the form of a "loyal 

protest", rejecting all innovations not first tested by free 

Parliaments and General Assemblies of the Church.  

In the spring of 1639, King Charles I accompanied his forces to 

the Scottish border to end the rebellion known as the Bishops' 

War, but after an inconclusive campaign, he accepted the 

offered Scottish truce: the Pacification of Berwick. This truce 
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proved temporary, and a second war followed in mid-1640. A 

Scots army defeated Charles's forces in the north, then 

captured Newcastle. Charles eventually agreed not to interfere 

in Scotland's religion and paid the Scots' war expenses.  

Recall of the English Parliament 

Charles needed to suppress the rebellion in Scotland, but had 

insufficient funds to do so. He needed to seek money from a 

newly elected English Parliament in 1640. Its majority faction, 

led by John Pym, used this appeal for money as a chance to 

discuss grievances against the Crown and oppose the idea of 

an English invasion of Scotland. Charles took exception to this 

lèse-majesté (offense against the ruler) and dissolved the 

Parliament after only a few weeks; hence its name, "the Short 

Parliament".  

Without Parliament's support, Charles attacked Scotland 

again, breaking the truce at Berwick, and suffered 

comprehensive defeat. The Scots went on to invade England, 

occupying Northumberland and Durham. Meanwhile, another 

of Charles's chief advisers, Thomas Wentworth, 1st Viscount 

Wentworth, had risen to the role of Lord Deputy of Ireland in 

1632, and brought in much-needed revenue for Charles by 

persuading the Irish Catholic gentry to pay new taxes in return 

for promised religious concessions.  

In 1639, Charles had recalled Wentworth to England and in 

1640 made him Earl of Strafford, attempting to have him 

achieve similar results in Scotland. This time he proved less 

successful and the English forces fled the field at their second 

encounter with the Scots in 1640. Almost the whole of 
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Northern England was occupied and Charles forced to pay 

£850 per day to keep the Scots from advancing. Had he not 

done so they would have pillaged and burnt the cities and 

towns of Northern England. 

All this put Charles in a desperate financial state. As King of 

Scots, he had to find money to pay the Scottish army in 

England; as King of England, he had to find money to pay and 

equip an English army to defend England. His means of raising 

English revenue without an English Parliament fell critically 

short of achieving this. Against this backdrop, and according 

to advice from the Magnum Concilium (the House of Lords, but 

without the Commons, so not a Parliament), Charles finally 

bowed to pressure and summoned another English Parliament 

in November 1640.  

The Long Parliament 

The new Parliament proved even more hostile to Charles than 

its predecessor. It immediately began to discuss grievances 

against him and his government, with Pym and Hampden (of 

ship money fame) in the lead. They took the opportunity 

presented by the King's troubles to force various reforming 

measures – including many with strong "anti-Papist" themes – 

upon him. The members passed a law stating that a new 

Parliament would convene at least once every three years – 

without the King's summons if need be. Other laws passed 

making it illegal for the king to impose taxes without 

Parliamentary consent and later gave Parliament control over 

the king's ministers. Finally, the Parliament passed a law 

forbidding the King to dissolve it without its consent, even if 

the three years were up. Ever since, this Parliament has been 
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known as the Long Parliament. However, Parliament did 

attempt to avert conflict by requiring all adults to sign The 

Protestation, an oath of allegiance to Charles.  

Early in the Long Parliament, the house overwhelmingly 

accused Thomas Wentworth, Earl of Strafford of high treason 

and other crimes and misdemeanors.  

Henry Vane the Younger supplied evidence of Strafford's 

claimed improper use of the army in Ireland, alleging that he 

had encouraged the King to use his Ireland-raised forces to 

threaten England into compliance. This evidence was obtained 

from Vane's father, Henry Vane the Elder, a member of the 

King's Privy council, who refused to confirm it in Parliament 

out of loyalty to Charles. On 10 April 1641, Pym's case 

collapsed, but Pym made a direct appeal to the Younger Vane 

to produce a copy of the notes from the King's Privy Council, 

discovered by the Younger Vane and secretly turned over to 

Pym, to the great anguish of the Elder Vane. These notes 

contained evidence that Strafford had told the King, "Sir, you 

have done your duty, and your subjects have failed in theirs; 

and therefore you are absolved from the rules of government, 

and may supply yourself by extraordinary ways; you have an 

army in Ireland, with which you may reduce the kingdom."  

Pym immediately launched a Bill of Attainder stating 

Strafford's guilt and demanding that he be put to death. Unlike 

a guilty verdict in a court case, attainder did not require a 

legal burden of proof, but it did require the king's approval. 

Charles, however, guaranteed Strafford that he would not sign 

the attainder, without which the bill could not be passed. 

Furthermore, the Lords opposed the severity of a death 
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sentence on Strafford. Yet increased tensions and a plot in the 

army to support Strafford began to sway the issue. On 21 

April, the Commons passed the Bill (204 in favour, 59 opposed, 

and 250 abstained), and the Lords acquiesced. Charles, still 

incensed over the Commons' handling of Buckingham, refused 

his assent. Strafford himself, hoping to head off the war he saw 

looming, wrote to the king and asked him to reconsider. 

Charles, fearing for the safety of his family, signed on 10 May. 

Strafford was beheaded two days later. In the meantime both 

Parliament and the King agreed to an independent 

investigation into the king's involvement in Strafford's plot.  

The Long Parliament then passed the Triennial Act, also known 

as the Dissolution Act in May 1641, to which the Royal Assent 

was readily granted. The Triennial Act required Parliament to 

be summoned at least once in three years. When the King 

failed to issue a proper summons, the members could assemble 

on their own. 

This act also forbade ship money without Parliament's consent, 

fines in distraint of knighthood, and forced loans. Monopolies 

were cut back sharply, the Courts of the Star Chamber and 

High Commission abolished by the Habeas Corpus Act 1640, 

and the Triennial Act respectively. All remaining forms of 

taxation were legalised and regulated by the Tonnage and 

Poundage Act. On 3 May, Parliament decreed The Protestation, 

attacking the 'wicked counsels' of Charles's government, 

whereby those who signed the petition undertook to defend 'the 

true reformed religion', Parliament, and the king's person, 

honour and estate. Throughout May, the House of Commons 

launched several bills attacking bishops and Episcopalianism 

in general, each time defeated in the Lords.  
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Charles and his Parliament hoped that the execution of 

Strafford and the Protestation would end the drift towards war, 

but in fact, they encouraged it. Charles and his supporters 

continued to resent Parliament's demands, and 

Parliamentarians continued to suspect Charles of wanting to 

impose episcopalianism and unfettered royal rule by military 

force. Within months, the Irish Catholics, fearing a resurgence 

of Protestant power, struck first, and all Ireland soon 

descended into chaos. Rumors circulated that the King 

supported the Irish, and Puritan members of the Commons 

soon started murmuring that this exemplified the fate that 

Charles had in store for them all.  

In early January 1642, Charles, accompanied by 400 soldiers, 

attempted to arrest five members of the House of Commons on 

a charge of treason. This attempt failed. When the troops 

marched into Parliament, Charles enquired of William Lenthall, 

the Speaker, as to the whereabouts of the five. Lenthall 

replied, "May it please your Majesty, I have neither eyes to see 

nor tongue to speak in this place but as the House is pleased 

to direct me, whose servant I am here." So the Speaker 

proclaimed himself a servant of Parliament, rather than the 

King.  

Local grievances 

In the summer of 1642, these national troubles helped to 

polarise opinion, ending indecision about which side to 

support or what action to take. Opposition to Charles also 

arose from many local grievances. For example, imposed 

drainage schemes in The Fens disrupted the livelihood of 

thousands after the King awarded a number of drainage 
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contracts. Many saw the King as indifferent to public welfare, 

and this played a role in bringing much of eastern England 

into the Parliamentarian camp. This sentiment brought with it 

such people as the Earl of Manchester and Oliver Cromwell, 

each a notable wartime adversary of the King. Conversely, one 

of the leading drainage contractors, the Earl of Lindsey, was to 

die fighting for the King at the Battle of Edgehill.  

First English Civil War (1642–1646) 

In early January 1642, a few days after failing to capture five 

members of the House of Commons, Charles feared for the 

safety of his family and retinue and left the London area for 

the north country. Further frequent negotiations by letter 

between the King and the Long Parliament, through to early 

summer, proved fruitless. As the summer progressed, cities 

and towns declared their sympathies for one faction or the 

other: for example, the garrison of Portsmouth commanded by 

Sir George Goring declared for the King, but when Charles 

tried to acquire arms from Kingston upon Hull, the weaponry 

depository used in the previous Scottish campaigns, Sir John 

Hotham, the military governor appointed by Parliament in 

January, refused to let Charles enter the town, and when 

Charles returned with more men later, Hotham drove them 

off.Wedgwood 1970, p. 100 Charles issued a warrant for 

Hotham's arrest as a traitor but was powerless to enforce it. 

Throughout the summer, tensions rose and there was brawling 

in several places, the first death from the conflict taking place 

in Manchester.Wedgwood 1970, p. 100  

At the outset of the conflict, much of the country remained 

neutral, though the Royal Navy and most English cities 
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favoured Parliament, while the King found marked support in 

rural communities. Historians estimate that both sides had 

only about 15,000 men between them, but the war quickly 

spread and eventually involved every level of society. Many 

areas attempted to remain neutral. Some formed bands of 

Clubmen to protect their localities from the worst excesses of 

the armies of both sides, but most found it impossible to 

withstand both King and Parliament. On one side, the King and 

his supporters fought for traditional government in church and 

state, while on the other, most Parliamentarians initially took 

up arms to defend what they saw as a traditional balance of 

government in church and state, which the bad advice the King 

received from his advisers had undermined before and during 

the "Eleven Years' Tyranny". 

The views of the members of Parliament ranged from 

unquestioning support of the King – at one point during the 

First Civil War, more members of the Commons and Lords 

gathered in the King's Oxford Parliament than at Westminster 

— through to radicals who sought major reforms in religious 

independence and redistribution of power at a national level. 

However, even the most radical Parliamentarian supporters 

still favoured keeping Charles on the throne.  

After the debacle at Hull, Charles moved on to Nottingham, 

raising the royal standard there on 22 August 1642. At the 

time, Charles had with him about 2,000 cavalry and a small 

number of Yorkshire infantrymen, and using the archaic 

system of a Commission of Array, his supporters started to 

build a larger army around the standard. Charles moved in a 

westerly direction, first to Stafford, then on to Shrewsbury, as 

support for his cause seemed particularly strong in the Severn 
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valley area and in North Wales. While passing through 

Wellington, he declared in what became known as the 

"Wellington Declaration" that he would uphold the "Protestant 

religion, the laws of England, and the liberty of Parliament".  

The Parliamentarians who opposed the King did not remain 

passive in this pre-war period. As in Hull, they took measures 

to secure strategic towns and cities by appointing to office men 

sympathetic to their cause. On 9 June they voted to raise an 

army of 10,000 volunteers and appointed Robert Devereux, 3rd 

Earl of Essex its commander three days later. He received 

orders "to rescue His Majesty's person, and the persons of the 

Prince [of Wales] and the Duke of York [James II] out of the 

hands of those desperate persons who were about them." The 

Lords Lieutenant whom Parliament appointed used the Militia 

Ordinance to order the militia to join Essex's army.  

Two weeks after the King had raised his standard at 

Nottingham, Essex led his army north towards Northampton, 

picking up support along the way (including a detachment of 

Huntingdonshire cavalry raised and commanded by Oliver 

Cromwell). By mid-September Essex's forces had grown to 

21,000 infantry and 4,200 cavalry and dragoons. On 14 

September he moved his army to Coventry and then to the 

north of the Cotswolds,Wedgwood 1970, p. 115 a strategy that 

placed it between the Royalists and London. With the size of 

both armies now in the tens of thousands and only 

Worcestershire between them, it was inevitable that cavalry 

reconnaissance units would meet sooner or later. This 

happened in the first major skirmish of the Civil War, when a 

troop of about 1,000 Royalist cavalry under Prince Rupert, a 

German nephew of the King and one of the outstanding cavalry 



Pre–United States History: 1600–1699, Volume 3 

607 

 

commanders of the war, defeated a Parliamentary cavalry 

detachment under Colonel John Brown at the Battle of Powick 

Bridge, which crossed the River Teme close to Worcester.  

Rupert withdrew to Shrewsbury, where a council-of-war 

discussed two courses of action: whether to advance towards 

Essex's new position near Worcester, or march down the now 

open road towards London. The Council decided on the London 

route, but not to avoid a battle, for the Royalist generals 

wanted to fight Essex before he grew too strong, and the 

temper of both sides made it impossible to postpone the 

decision. In the Earl of Clarendon's words, "it was considered 

more counsellable to march towards London, it being morally 

sure that the earl of Essex would put himself in their way." So 

the army left Shrewsbury on 12 October, gaining two days' 

start on the enemy, and moved south-east. This had the 

desired effect of forcing Essex to move to intercept them.  

The first pitched battle of the war, at Edgehill on 23 October 

1642, proved inconclusive, both Royalists and 

Parliamentarians claiming victory. The second field action, the 

stand-off at Turnham Green, saw Charles forced to withdraw to 

Oxford, which would serve as his base for the rest of the war.  

In 1643, Royalist forces won at Adwalton Moor, gaining control 

of most of Yorkshire. In the Midlands, a Parliamentary force 

under Sir John Gell besieged and captured the cathedral city 

of Lichfield, after the death of the original commander, Lord 

Brooke. This group then joined forces with Sir William 

Brereton at the inconclusive Battle of Hopton Heath (19 March 

1643), where the Royalist commander, the Earl of 

Northampton, was killed. John Hampden died after being 
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wounded in the Battle of Chalgrove Field (18 June 1643). 

Subsequent battles in the west of England at Lansdowne and 

Roundway Down also went to the Royalists. Prince Rupert 

could then take Bristol. In the same year, however, Cromwell 

formed his troop of "Ironsides", a disciplined unit that 

demonstrated his military leadership ability. With their 

assistance he won a victory at the Battle of Gainsborough in 

July.  

At this stage, from 7 to 9 August 1643, there were some 

popular demonstrations in London – both for and against war. 

They were protesting at Westminster. A peace demonstration by 

London women, which turned violent, was suppressed; the 

women were beaten and fired upon with live ammunition, 

leaving several dead. Many were arrested and incarcerated in 

Bridewell and other prisons. After these August events, the 

Venetian ambassador in England reported to the doge that the 

London government took considerable measures to stifle 

dissent.  

• In general, the early part of the war went well for the 

Royalists. The turning point came in the late summer 

and early autumn of 1643, when the Earl of Essex's 

army forced the king to raise the Siege of Gloucester 

and then brushed the Royalists aside at the First 

Battle of Newbury (20 September 1643), to return 

triumphantly to London. Parliamentarian forces led 

by the Earl of Manchester besieged the port of King's 

Lynn, Norfolk, which under Sir Hamon L'Estrange 

held out until September. Other forces won the 

Battle of Winceby, giving them control of Lincoln. 

Political manœuvring to gain an advantage in 
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numbers led Charles to negotiate a ceasefire in 

Ireland, freeing up English troops to fight on the 

Royalist side in England, while Parliament offered 

concessions to the Scots in return for aid and 

assistance.  

Helped by the Scots, Parliament won at Marston Moor (2 July 

1644), gaining York and the north of England. Cromwell's 

conduct in the battle proved decisive, and showed his potential 

as a political and as an important military leader. The defeat at 

the Battle of Lostwithiel in Cornwall, however, marked a 

serious reverse for Parliament in the south-west of England. 

Subsequent fighting around Newbury (27 October 1644), 

though tactically indecisive, strategically gave another check to 

Parliament.  

In 1645, Parliament reaffirmed its determination to fight the 

war to a finish. It passed the Self-denying Ordinance, by which 

all members of either House of Parliament laid down their 

commands and re-organized its main forces into the New Model 

Army, under the command of Sir Thomas Fairfax, with 

Cromwell as his second-in-command and Lieutenant-General of 

Horse. In two decisive engagements – the Battle of Naseby on 

14 June and the Battle of Langport on 10 July – the 

Parliamentarians effectively destroyed Charles's armies.  

In the remains of his English realm, Charles tried to recover a 

stable base of support by consolidating the Midlands. He began 

to form an axis between Oxford and Newark-on-Trent in 

Nottinghamshire. These towns had become fortresses and 

showed more reliable loyalty to him than others. He took 

Leicester, which lies between them, but found his resources 
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exhausted. Having little opportunity to replenish them, in May 

1646 he sought shelter with a Presbyterian Scottish army at 

Southwell in Nottinghamshire. Charles was eventually handed 

over to the English Parliament by the Scots and imprisoned. 

This marked the end of the First English Civil War.  

Interbellum 

The end of the First Civil War, in 1646, left a partial power 

vacuum in which any combination of the three English 

factions, Royalists, Independents of the New Model Army ("the 

Army"), and Presbyterians of the English Parliament, as well as 

the Scottish Parliament allied with the Scottish Presbyterians 

(the "Kirk"), could prove strong enough to dominate the rest. 

Armed political Royalism was at an end, but despite being a 

prisoner, Charles I was considered by himself and his 

opponents (almost to the last) as necessary to ensure the 

success of whichever group could come to terms with him. 

Thus he passed successively into the hands of the Scots, the 

Parliament and the Army. 

The King attempted to reverse the verdict of arms by 

"coquetting" with each in turn. On 3 June 1647, Cornet George 

Joyce of Thomas Fairfax's horse seized the King for the Army, 

after which the English Presbyterians and the Scots began to 

prepare for a fresh civil war, less than two years after the 

conclusion of the first, this time against "Independency", as 

embodied in the Army. After making use of the Army's sword, 

its opponents attempted to disband it, to send it on foreign 

service and to cut off its arrears of pay. The result was that the 

Army leadership was exasperated beyond control, and, 

remembering not merely their grievances but also the principle 
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for which the Army had fought, it soon became the most 

powerful political force in the realm. From 1646 to 1648 the 

breach between Army and Parliament widened day by day until 

finally the Presbyterian party, combined with the Scots and the 

remaining Royalists, felt itself strong enough to begin a Second 

Civil War.  

Second English Civil War (1648–1649) 

Charles I took advantage of the deflection of attention away 

from himself to negotiate on 28 December 1647 a secret treaty 

with the Scots, again promising church reform. Under the 

agreement, called the "Engagement", the Scots undertook to 

invade England on Charles's behalf and restore him to the 

throne on condition of the establishment of Presbyterianism 

within three years.  

A series of Royalist uprisings throughout England and a 

Scottish invasion occurred in the summer of 1648. Forces loyal 

to Parliament put down most of those in England after little 

more than a skirmish, but uprisings in Kent, Essex and 

Cumberland, the rebellion in Wales, and the Scottish invasion 

involved pitched battles and prolonged sieges.  

In the spring of 1648, unpaid Parliamentarian troops in Wales 

changed sides. Colonel Thomas Horton defeated the Royalist 

rebels at the Battle of St Fagans (8 May) and the rebel leaders 

surrendered to Cromwell on 11 July after a protracted two-

month siege of Pembroke. Sir Thomas Fairfax defeated a 

Royalist uprising in Kent at the Battle of Maidstone on 1 June. 

Fairfax, after his success at Maidstone and the pacification of 

Kent, turned north to reduce Essex, where, under an ardent, 
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experienced and popular leader, Sir Charles Lucas, the 

Royalists had taken up arms in great numbers. Fairfax soon 

drove the enemy into Colchester, but his first attack on the 

town met with a repulse and he had to settle down to a long 

siege.  

In the North of England, Major-General John Lambert fought a 

successful campaign against several Royalist uprisings, the 

largest being that of Sir Marmaduke Langdale in Cumberland. 

Thanks to Lambert's successes, the Scottish commander, the 

Duke of Hamilton, had to take a western route through Carlisle 

in his pro-Royalist Scottish invasion of England. The 

Parliamentarians under Cromwell engaged the Scots at the 

Battle of Preston (17–19 August). The battle took place largely 

at Walton-le-Dale near Preston, Lancashire, and resulted in a 

victory for Cromwell's troops over the Royalists and Scots 

commanded by Hamilton. This victory marked the end of the 

Second English Civil War.  

Nearly all the Royalists who had fought in the First Civil War 

had given their word not to bear arms against Parliament, and 

many, like Lord Astley, were therefore bound by oath not to 

take any part in the second conflict. So the victors in the 

Second Civil War showed little mercy to those who had brought 

war into the land again. On the evening of the surrender of 

Colchester, Parliamentarians had Sir Charles Lucas and Sir 

George Lisle shot. Parliamentary authorities sentenced the 

leaders of the Welsh rebels, Major-General Rowland Laugharne, 

Colonel John Poyer and Colonel Rice Powel to death, but 

executed only Poyer (25 April 1649), having selected him by 

lot. Of five prominent Royalist peers who had fallen into 

Parliamentary hands, three – the Duke of Hamilton, the Earl of 
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Holland, and Lord Capel, one of the Colchester prisoners and a 

man of high character – were beheaded at Westminster on 9 

March.  

Trial of Charles I for treason 

Charles's secret pacts and encouragement of supporters to 

break their parole caused Parliament to debate whether to 

return the King to power at all. Those who still supported 

Charles's place on the throne, such as the army leader and 

moderate Fairfax, tried again to negotiate with him. The Army, 

furious that Parliament continued to countenance Charles as a 

ruler, then marched on Parliament and conducted "Pride's 

Purge" (named after the commanding officer of the operation, 

Thomas Pride) in December 1648. Troops arrested 45 members 

and kept 146 out of the chamber. 

They allowed only 75 members in, and then only at the Army's 

bidding. This Rump Parliament received orders to set up, in 

the name of the people of England, a High Court of Justice for 

the trial of Charles I for treason. Fairfax, a constitutional 

monarchist, declined to have anything to do with the trial. He 

resigned as head of the army, so clearing Cromwell's road to 

power.  

At the end of the trial the 59 Commissioners (judges) found 

Charles I guilty of high treason as a "tyrant, traitor, murderer 

and public enemy". His beheading took place on a scaffold in 

front of the Banqueting House of the Palace of Whitehall on 30 

January 1649. After the Restoration in 1660, nine of the 

surviving regicides not living in exile were executed and most 

others sentenced to life imprisonment.  
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After the regicide, Charles, Prince of Wales as the eldest son 

was publicly proclaimed King Charles II in the Royal Square of 

St. Helier, Jersey, on 17 February 1649 (after a first such 

proclamation in Edinburgh on 5 February 1649). It took longer 

for the news to reach the trans-Atlantic colonies, with the 

Somers Isles (also known as Bermuda) becoming the first to 

proclaim Charles II King on 5 July, 1649.  

Third English Civil War (1649–1651) 

Ireland 

Ireland had undergone continual war since the rebellion of 

1641, with most of the island controlled by the Irish 

Confederates. Increasingly threatened by the armies of the 

English Parliament after Charles I's arrest in 1648, the 

Confederates signed a treaty of alliance with the English 

Royalists. The joint Royalist and Confederate forces under the 

Duke of Ormonde tried to eliminate the Parliamentary army 

holding Dublin by laying siege, but their opponents routed 

them at the Battle of Rathmines (2 August 1649). As the former 

Member of Parliament Admiral Robert Blake blockaded Prince 

Rupert's fleet in Kinsale, Cromwell could land at Dublin on 15 

August 1649 with an army to quell the Royalist alliance.  

Cromwell's suppression of the Royalists in Ireland in 1649 is 

still remembered by many Irish people. After the Siege of 

Drogheda, the massacre of nearly 3,500 people – around 2,700 

Royalist soldiers and 700 others, including civilians, prisoners 

and Catholic priests (Cromwell claimed all had carried arms) – 

became one of the historical memories that has driven Irish-

English and Catholic-Protestant strife during the last three 
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centuries. The Parliamentarian conquest of Ireland ground on 

for another four years until 1653, when the last Irish 

Confederate and Royalist troops surrendered. In the wake of 

the conquest, the victors confiscated almost all Irish Catholic-

owned land and distributed it to Parliament's creditors, to 

Parliamentary soldiers who served in Ireland, and to English 

who had settled there before the war.  

Scotland 

• The execution of Charles I altered the dynamics of 

the Civil War in Scotland, which had raged between 

Royalists and Covenanters since 1644. By 1649, the 

struggle had left the Royalists there in disarray and 

their erstwhile leader, the Marquess of Montrose, 

had gone into exile. At first, Charles II encouraged 

Montrose to raise a Highland army to fight on the 

Royalist side. However, when the Scottish 

Covenanters (who did not agree with the execution of 

Charles I and who feared for the future of 

Presbyterianism under the new Commonwealth) 

offered him the crown of Scotland, Charles 

abandoned Montrose to his enemies. However, 

Montrose, who had raised a mercenary force in 

Norway, had already landed and could not abandon 

the fight. He did not succeed in raising many 

Highland clans and the Covenanters defeated his 

army at the Battle of Carbisdale in Ross-shire on 27 

April 1650. The victors captured Montrose shortly 

afterwards and took him to Edinburgh. On 20 May 

the Scottish Parliament sentenced him to death and 

had him hanged the next day. 
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Charles II landed in Scotland at Garmouth in Morayshire on 23 

June 1650 and signed the 1638 National Covenant and the 

1643 Solemn League and Covenant shortly after coming 

ashore. With his original Scottish Royalist followers and his 

new Covenanter allies, Charles II became the greatest threat 

facing the new English republic. In response to the threat, 

Cromwell left some of his lieutenants in Ireland to continue the 

suppression of the Irish Royalists and returned to England.  

He arrived in Scotland on 22 July 1650 and proceeded to lay 

siege to Edinburgh. By the end of August, disease and a 

shortage of supplies had reduced his army, and he had to 

order a retreat towards his base at Dunbar. 

A Scottish army under the command of David Leslie tried to 

block the retreat, but Cromwell defeated them at the Battle of 

Dunbar on 3 September. Cromwell's army then took 

Edinburgh, and by the end of the year his army had occupied 

much of southern Scotland.  

In July 1651, Cromwell's forces crossed the Firth of Forth into 

Fife and defeated the Scots at the Battle of Inverkeithing (20 

July 1651). The New Model Army advanced towards Perth, 

which allowed Charles, at the head of the Scottish army, to 

move south into England. Cromwell followed Charles into 

England, leaving George Monck to finish the campaign in 

Scotland. Monck took Stirling on 14 August and Dundee on 1 

September. The next year, 1652, saw a mopping up of the 

remnants of Royalist resistance, and under the terms of the 

"Tender of Union", the Scots received 30 seats in a united 

Parliament in London, with General Monck as the military 

governor of Scotland.  
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England 

Although Cromwell's New Model Army had defeated a Scottish 

army at Dunbar, Cromwell could not prevent Charles II from 

marching from Scotland deep into England at the head of 

another Royalist army. They marched to the west of England 

where English Royalist sympathies were strongest, but 

although some English Royalists joined the army, they were far 

fewer in number than Charles and his Scottish supporters had 

hoped. Cromwell finally engaged and defeated the new Scottish 

king at Worcester on 3 September 1651.  

Immediate aftermath 

After the Royalist defeat at Worcester, Charles II escaped via 

safe houses and an oak tree to France, and Parliament was left 

in de facto control of England. Resistance continued for a time 

in the Channel Islands, Ireland and Scotland, but with the 

pacification of England, resistance elsewhere did not threaten 

the military supremacy of the New Model Army and its 

Parliamentary paymasters.  

Political control 

During the Wars, the Parliamentarians established a number of 

successive committees to oversee the war effort. The first, the 

Committee of Safety set up in July 1642, comprised 15 

members of Parliament. 

After the Anglo-Scottish alliance against the Royalists, the 

Committee of Both Kingdoms replaced the Committee of Safety 

between 1644 and 1648. Parliament dissolved the Committee of 
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Both Kingdoms when the alliance ended, but its English 

members continued to meet as the Derby House Committee. A 

second Committee of Safety then replaced it.  

Episcopacy 

During the English Civil War, the role of bishops as wielders of 

political power and upholders of the established church 

became a matter of heated political controversy. John Calvin of 

Geneva had formulated a doctrine of Presbyterianism, which 

held that the offices of presbyter and episkopos in the New 

Testament were identical; he rejected the doctrine of apostolic 

succession. Calvin's follower John Knox brought 

Presbyterianism to Scotland when the Scottish church was 

reformed in 1560. In practice, Presbyterianism meant that 

committees of lay elders had a substantial voice in church 

government, as opposed to merely being subjects to a ruling 

hierarchy.  

This vision of at least partial democracy in ecclesiology 

paralleled the struggles between Parliament and the King. A 

body within the Puritan movement in the Church of England 

sought to abolish the office of bishop and remake the Church 

of England along Presbyterian lines. 

The Martin Marprelate tracts (1588–1589), applying the 

pejorative name of prelacy to the church hierarchy, attacked 

the office of bishop with satire that deeply offended Elizabeth I 

and her Archbishop of Canterbury John Whitgift. The 

vestments controversy also related to this movement, seeking 

further reductions in church ceremony, and labelling the use 

of elaborate vestments as "unedifying" and even idolatrous.  
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King James I, reacting against the perceived contumacy of his 

Presbyterian Scottish subjects, adopted "No Bishop, no King" 

as a slogan; he tied the hierarchical authority of the bishop to 

the absolute authority he sought as King, and viewed attacks 

on the authority of the bishops as attacks on his authority. 

Matters came to a head when Charles I appointed William Laud 

as Archbishop of Canterbury; Laud aggressively attacked the 

Presbyterian movement and sought to impose the full Book of 

Common Prayer. The controversy eventually led to Laud's 

impeachment for treason by a bill of attainder in 1645 and 

subsequent execution. Charles also attempted to impose 

episcopacy on Scotland; the Scots' violent rejection of bishops 

and liturgical worship sparked the Bishops' Wars in 1639–

1640.  

During the height of Puritan power under the Commonwealth 

and the Protectorate, episcopacy was formally abolished in the 

Church of England on 9 October 1646. The Church of England 

remained Presbyterian until the Restoration of the monarchy 

under Charles II in 1660.  

English overseas possessions 

During the English Civil War, the English overseas possessions 

became highly involved. In the Channel Islands, the island of 

Jersey and Castle Cornet in Guernsey supported the King until 

a surrender with honour in December 1651.  

Although the newer, Puritan settlements in North America, 

notably Massachusetts, were dominated by Parliamentarians, 

the older colonies sided with the Crown. Friction between 

Royalists and Puritans in Maryland came to a head in the 
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Battle of the Severn. The Virginia Company's settlements, 

Bermuda and Virginia, as well as Antigua and Barbados, were 

conspicuous in their loyalty to the Crown. Bermuda's 

Independent Puritans were expelled, settling the Bahamas 

under William Sayle as the Eleutheran Adventurers. Parliament 

passed An Act for prohibiting Trade with the Barbadoes, 

Virginia, Bermuda and Antego in October, 1650, which stated 

that  

due punishment [be] inflicted upon the said Delinquents, do 

Declare all and every the said persons in Barbada's, Antego, 

Bermuda's and Virginia, that have contrived, abetted, aided or 

assisted those horrid Rebellions, or have since willingly joyned 

with them, to be notorious Robbers and Traitors, and such as 

by the Law of Nations are not to be permitted any manner of 

Commerce or Traffic with any people whatsoever; and do forbid 

to all manner of persons, Foreigners, and others, all manner of 

Commerce, Traffic and Correspondence whatsoever, to be used 

or held with the said Rebels in the Barbados, Bermuda's, 

Virginia and Antego, or either of them. 

The Act also authorised Parliamentary privateers to act against 

English vessels trading with the rebellious colonies:  

All Ships that Trade with the Rebels may be surprized. Goods 

and tackle of such ships not to be embezeled, till judgement in 

the Admiralty.; Two or three of the Officers of every ship to be 

examined upon oath. 

The Parliament began assembling a fleet to invade the Royalist 

colonies, but many of the English islands in the Caribbean 

were captured by the Dutch and French in 1651 during the 

Second Anglo-Dutch War. Far to the North, Bermuda's 
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regiment of Militia and its coastal batteries prepared to resist 

an invasion that never came. Built-up inside the natural 

defence of a nearly impassable barrier reef, to fend off the 

might of Spain, these defences were would have been a 

formidable obstacle for the Parliamentary fleet sent in 1651 

under the command of Admiral Sir George Ayscue to subdue 

the trans-Atlantic colonies, but after the fall of Barbados the 

Bermudians made a separate peace that respected the internal 

status quo. The Parliament of Bermuda avoided the Parliament 

of England's fate during The Protectorate, becoming one of the 

oldest continuous legislatures in the world.  

Virginia's population swelled with Cavaliers during and after 

the English Civil War. Even so, Virginia Puritan Richard 

Bennett was made Governor answering to Cromwell in 1652, 

followed by two more nominal "Commonwealth Governors". The 

loyalty of Virginia's Cavaliers to the Crown was rewarded after 

the 1660 Restoration of the Monarchy when Charles II dubbed 

it the Old Dominion.  

Casualties 

Figures for casualties during this period are unreliable, but 

some attempt has been made to provide rough estimates.  

In England, a conservative estimate is that roughly 100,000 

people died from war-related disease during the three civil 

wars. Historical records count 84,830 combat dead from the 

wars themselves. Counting in accidents and the two Bishops' 

wars, an estimate of 190,000 dead is achieved, out of a total 

population of about five million. It is estimated that from 1638 

to 1651, 15–20% of all adult males in England and Wales 
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served in the military, and around 4% of the total population 

died from war-related causes, compared to 2.23% in World War 

I.  

An anecdotal example of perception of high casualties in 

England is to be found in the posthumously published writing 

(generally titled The History of Myddle), by a Shropshire man, 

Richard Gough (lived 1635–1723) of Myddle near Shrewsbury, 

who, writing in about 1701, commented of men from his rural 

home parish who joined the Royalist forces: "And out of these 

three townes [sic - ie townships], Myddle, Marton and Newton, 

there went noe less than twenty men, of which number thirteen 

were kill'd in the warrs". 

After listing those he recalled did not return home, four of 

whose exact fates were unknown, he concluded: "And if soe 

many dyed out of these 3 townes [townships] wee may 

reasonably guess that many thousands dyed in England in that 

warre."  

Figures for Scotland are less reliable and should be treated 

with caution. Casualties include the deaths of prisoners-of-war 

in conditions that accelerated their deaths, with estimates of 

10,000 prisoners not surviving or not returning home (8,000 

captured during and immediately after the Battle of Worcester 

were deported to New England, Bermuda and the West Indies 

to work for landowners as indentured labourers). 

There are no figures to calculate how many died from war-

related diseases, but if the same ratio of disease to battle 

deaths from English figures is applied to the Scottish figures, a 

not unreasonable estimate of 60,000 people is achieved, from a 

population of about one million.  
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Figures for Ireland are described as "miracles of conjecture". 

Certainly the devastation inflicted on Ireland was massive, 

with the best estimate provided by Sir William Petty, the father 

of English demography. Petty estimated that 112,000 

Protestants and 504,000 Catholics were killed through plague, 

war and famine, giving an estimated total of 616,000 dead, out 

of a pre-war population of about one and a half million. 

Although Petty's figures are the best available, they are still 

acknowledged as tentative; they do not include an estimated 

40,000 driven into exile, some of whom served as soldiers in 

European continental armies, while others were sold as 

indentured servants to New England and the West Indies. Many 

of those sold to landowners in New England eventually 

prospered, but many sold to landowners in the West Indies 

were worked to death.  

These estimates indicate that England suffered a 4 percent loss 

of population, Scotland a loss of 6 percent, while Ireland 

suffered a loss of 41 percent of its population. Putting these 

numbers into the context of other catastrophes helps to 

understand the devastation of Ireland in particular. The Great 

Famine of 1845–1852 resulted in a loss of 16 percent of the 

population, while during the Soviet famine and Holodomor of 

1932–33 the population of the Soviet Ukraine fell by 14 

percent.  

Popular gains 

Ordinary people took advantage of the dislocation of civil 

society in the 1640s to gain personal advantages. The 

contemporary guild democracy movement won its greatest 

successes among London's transport workers, notably the 
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Thames watermen. Rural communities seized timber and other 

resources on the sequestrated estates of Royalists and 

Catholics, and on the estates of the royal family and church 

hierarchy. Some communities improved their conditions of 

tenure on such estates. The old status quo began a 

retrenchment after the end of the First Civil War in 1646, and 

more especially after the Restoration in 1660, but some gains 

were long-term. 

The democratic element introduced into the watermen's 

company in 1642, for example, survived with vicissitudes until 

1827.  

Aftermath 

The wars left England, Scotland, and Ireland among the few 

countries in Europe without a monarch. In the wake of victory, 

many of the ideals (and many idealists) became sidelined. The 

republican government of the Commonwealth of England ruled 

England (and later all of Scotland and Ireland) from 1649 to 

1653 and from 1659 to 1660. 

Between the two periods, and due to in-fighting among various 

factions in Parliament, Oliver Cromwell ruled over the 

Protectorate as Lord Protector (effectively a military dictator) 

until his death in 1658.  

On Oliver Cromwell's death, his son Richard became Lord 

Protector, but the Army had little confidence in him. After 

seven months the Army removed Richard, and in May 1659 it 

re-installed the Rump. However, military force shortly 

afterward dissolved this as well. After the second dissolution of 
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the Rump, in October 1659, the prospect of a total descent into 

anarchy loomed as the Army's pretense of unity finally 

dissolved into factions.  

Into this atmosphere General George Monck, Governor of 

Scotland under the Cromwells, marched south with his army 

from Scotland. On 4 April 1660, in the Declaration of Breda, 

Charles II made known the conditions of his acceptance of the 

Crown of England. Monck organised the Convention 

Parliament, which met for the first time on 25 April 1660. On 8 

May 1660, it declared that Charles II had reigned as the lawful 

monarch since the execution of Charles I in January 1649. 

Charles returned from exile on 23 May 1660. On 29 May 1660, 

the populace in London acclaimed him as king. His coronation 

took place at Westminster Abbey on 23 April 1661. These 

events became known as the Restoration.  

Although the monarchy was restored, it was still only with the 

consent of Parliament. So the civil wars effectively set England 

and Scotland on course towards a parliamentary monarchy 

form of government. 

The outcome of this system was that the future Kingdom of 

Great Britain, formed in 1707 under the Acts of Union, 

managed to forestall the kind of revolution typical of European 

republican movements which generally resulted in total 

abolition of monarchy. Thus the United Kingdom was spared 

the wave of revolutions that occurred in Europe in the 1840s. 

Specifically, future monarchs became wary of pushing 

Parliament too hard, and Parliament effectively chose the line 

of royal succession in 1688 with the Glorious Revolution and 

in the 1701 Act of Settlement.  
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Historical interpretations 

In the early decades of the 20th century, the Whig school was 

the dominant theoretical view. It explained the Civil War as 

resulting from centuries of struggle between Parliament 

(notably the House of Commons) and the Monarchy, with 

Parliament defending the traditional rights of Englishmen, 

while the Stuart monarchy continually attempted to expand its 

right to dictate law arbitrarily. The major Whig historian, S. R. 

Gardiner, popularised the idea that the English Civil War was 

a "Puritan Revolution", which challenged the repressive Stuart 

Church and prepared the way for religious toleration. So 

Puritanism was seen as the natural ally of a people preserving 

their traditional rights against arbitrary monarchical power.  

The Whig view was challenged and largely superseded by the 

Marxist school, which became popular in the 1940s, and saw 

the English Civil War as a bourgeois revolution. According to 

Marxist historian Christopher Hill:  

The Civil War was a class war, in which the despotism of 

Charles I was defended by the reactionary forces of the 

established Church and conservative landlords, Parliament 

beat the King because it could appeal to the enthusiastic 

support of the trading and industrial classes in town and 

countryside, to the yeomen and progressive gentry, and to 

wider masses of the population whenever they were able by free 

discussion to understand what the struggle was really about. 

In the 1970s, revisionist historians challenged both the Whig 

and the Marxist theories, notably in the 1973 anthology The 

Origins of the English Civil War (Conrad Russell ed.). These 
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historians focused on the minutiae of the years immediately 

before the civil war, returning to the contingency-based 

historiography of Clarendon's History of the Rebellion and Civil 

Wars in England. This, it was claimed, demonstrated that 

patterns of war allegiance did not fit either Whig or Marxist 

theories. Parliament was not inherently progressive, nor the 

events of 1640 a precursor for the Glorious Revolution. 

Furthermore, Puritans did not necessarily ally themselves with 

Parliamentarians. Many members of the bourgeoisie fought for 

the King, while many landed aristocrats supported Parliament.  

From the 1990s, a number of historians replaced the historical 

title "English Civil War" with "Wars of the Three Kingdoms" and 

"British Civil Wars", positing that the civil war in England 

cannot be understood apart from events in other parts of 

Britain and Ireland. King Charles I remains crucial, not just as 

King of England, but through his relationship with the peoples 

of his other realms. For example, the wars began when Charles 

forced an Anglican Prayer Book upon Scotland, and when this 

was met with resistance from the Covenanters, he needed an 

army to impose his will. 

However, this need of military funds forced Charles I to call an 

English Parliament, which was not willing to grant the needed 

revenue unless he addressed their grievances. By the early 

1640s, 

Charles was left in a state of near-permanent crisis 

management, confounded by the demands of the various 

factions. For example, Charles finally made terms with the 

Covenanters in August 1641, but although this might have 

weakened the position of the English Parliament, the Irish 
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Rebellion of 1641 broke out in October 1641, largely negating 

the political advantage he had obtained by relieving himself of 

the cost of the Scottish invasion.  

Hobbes' Behemoth 

Thomas Hobbes gave a much earlier historical account of the 

English Civil War in his Behemoth, written in 1668 and 

published in 1681. He assessed the causes of the war to be the 

conflicting political doctrines of the time. Behemoth offered a 

uniquely historical and philosophical approach to naming the 

catalysts for the war. It also attempted to explain why Charles 

I could not hold his throne and maintain peace in his kingdom. 

Hobbes analysed in turn the following aspects of English 

thought during the war: the opinions of divinity and politics 

that spurred rebellion; rhetoric and doctrine used by the rebels 

against the king; and how opinions about "taxation, the 

conscription of soldiers, and military strategy" affected the 

outcomes of battles and shifts of sovereignty.  

Hobbes attributed the war to the novel theories of intellectuals 

and divines spread for their own pride of reputation. He held 

that clerical pretensions had contributed significantly to the 

troubles — "whether those of puritan fundamentalists, papal 

supremacists or divine right Episcopalians". Hobbes wanted to 

abolish the independence of the clergy and bring it under the 

control of the civil state.  

Some scholars suggest that Hobbes's Behemoth has not 

received its due as an academic work, being comparatively 

overlooked and under-rated in the shadow of the same author's 

Leviathan. Its scholarly reputation may have suffered because 
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it takes the form of a dialogue, which, while common in 

philosophy, is rarely adopted by historians. Other factors that 

hindered its success include Charles II's refusing its 

publication and Hobbes' lack of empathy with views different 

from his own.  

Re-enactments 

Two large historical societies exist, The Sealed Knot and The 

English Civil War Society, which regularly re-enact events and 

battles of the Civil War in full period costume.  

Montreal 

• Montrealis the second-most populous city in Canada 

and most populous city in the Canadian province of 

Quebec. Founded in 1642 as Ville-Marie, or "City of 

Mary", it is named after Mount Royal, the triple-

peaked hill in the heart of the city. The city is 

centred on the Island of Montreal, which obtained its 

name from the same origin as the city, and a few 

much smaller peripheral islands, the largest of which 

is Île Bizard. The city is situated 196 km (122 mi) 

east of the national capital Ottawa, and 258 km 

(160 mi) south-west of the provincial capital, Quebec 

City. 

In 2016, the city had a population of 1,704,694, with a 

population of 1,942,247 in the urban agglomeration, including 

all of the other municipalities on the Island of Montreal. The 

broader metropolitan area had a population of 4,098,247. 

French is the city's official language and in 2016 was the home 
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language of 61.2% of the population, while 26.4% spoke non-

official languages at home and English was spoken by 23.1% of 

the inhabitants (multi-language responses were included in 

these figures). In the larger Montreal Census Metropolitan 

Area, 71.2% of the population spoke at least French at home, 

compared to 19.0% who spoke English. Still in 2016, 87.4% of 

the population of the city of Montreal considered themselves 

fluent in French while 91.4% could speak it in the 

metropolitan area. Montreal is one of the most bilingual cities 

in Quebec and Canada, with 57.4% of the population able to 

speak both English and French. Montreal is the second-largest 

primarily French-speaking city in the developed world, after 

Paris.  

Historically the commercial capital of Canada, Montreal was 

surpassed in population and in economic strength by Toronto 

in the 1970s. It remains an important centre of commerce, 

aerospace, transport, finance, pharmaceuticals, technology, 

design, education, art, culture, tourism, food, fashion, video 

game development, film, and world affairs. Montreal has the 

second-highest number of consulates in North America, serves 

as the location of the headquarters of the International Civil 

Aviation Organization, and was named a UNESCO City of 

Design in 2006. In 2017, Montreal was ranked the 12th-most 

liveable city in the world by the Economist Intelligence Unit in 

its annual Global Liveability Ranking, and the best city in the 

world to be a university student in the QS World University 

Rankings.  

Montreal has hosted multiple international conferences and 

events, including the 1967 International and Universal 

Exposition and the 1976 Summer Olympics. It is the only 
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Canadian city to have held the quadrennial Summer Olympics. 

In 2018, Montreal was ranked as an Alpha− world city. The city 

hosts the Canadian Grand Prix of Formula One since 1978, as 

well as the Montreal International Jazz Festival, the largest 

jazz festival in the world, the Just for Laughs festival, the 

largest comedy festival in the world, and Les Francos de 

Montréal, which is the largest event devoted exclusively to 

French-language music anywhere in the world. It is also home 

to ice hockey team Montreal Canadiens, the franchise with the 

most Stanley Cup wins.  

The history of Montreal, located in the province of Quebec, 

Canada, spans about 8,000 years. At the time of European 

contact, the area was inhabited by the St. Lawrence 

Iroquoians, a discrete and distinct group of Iroquoian-speaking 

indigenous people. 

They spoke Laurentian. Jacques Cartier became the first 

European to reach the area now known as Montreal in 1535 

when he entered the village of Hochelaga on the Island of 

Montreal while in search of a passage to Asia during the Age of 

Exploration. Seventy years later, Samuel de Champlain 

unsuccessfully tried to create a fur trading post but the 

Mohawk of the Iroquois defended what they had been using as 

their hunting grounds.  

A fortress named Ville Marie was built in 1642 as part of a 

project to create a French colonial empire. Ville Marie became 

a centre for the fur trade and French expansion into New 

France until 1760, when it was surrendered to the British 

army, following the Montreal Campaign. British immigration 
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expanded the city. The city's golden era of fur trading began 

with the advent of the locally owned North West Company.  

Montreal officially became a city in 1832. The city's growth was 

spurred by the opening of the Lachine Canal and Montreal was 

the capital of the United Province of Canada from 1844 to 

1849. Growth continued and by 1860 Montreal was the largest 

city in British North America and the undisputed economic and 

cultural centre of Canada. Annexation of neighbouring towns 

between 1883 and 1918 changed Montreal back to a mostly 

Francophone city. The Great Depression in Canada brought 

unemployment to the city, but this waned in the mid-1930s, 

and skyscrapers began to be built.  

World War II brought protests against conscription and caused 

the Conscription Crisis of 1944. Montreal's population 

surpassed one million in the early 1950s. A new metro system 

was added, Montreal's harbour was expanded, and the St. 

Lawrence Seaway was opened during this time. More 

skyscrapers were built along with museums. Montreal's 

international status was cemented by Expo 67 and the 1976 

Summer Olympics. A major league baseball team, the Expos, 

played in Montreal from 1969 to 2004 when the team relocated 

to Washington, DC. Historically, business and finance in 

Montreal were under the control of Anglophones. With the rise 

of Quebec nationalism in the 1970s, many institutions 

relocated their headquarters to Toronto.  

Pre-contact 

The area known today as Montreal had been inhabited by 

indigenous peoples for some 8,000 years, while the oldest 
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known artifact found in Montreal proper is about 4,000 years 

old. By about 1000 A.D., nomadic Iroquoian and other peoples 

around the Great Lakes began to adopt the cultivation of maize 

and more settled lifestyles. Some settled along the fertile St. 

Lawrence River, where fishing and hunting in nearby forests 

supported a full diet. By the 14th century, the people had built 

fortified villages similar to those described by Cartier on his 

later visit.  

Historians and anthropologists have had many theories about 

the people encountered by Cartier, as well as the reasons for 

their disappearance from the valley about 1580. Since the 

1950s, archaeological and linguistic comparative studies have 

established many facts about the people. They are now called 

the St. Lawrence Iroquoians and recognized by scholars as 

distinct from other Iroquoian-language people, such as the 

Huron or Iroquois of the Haudenosaunee, although sharing 

some cultural characteristics. Their language has been called 

Laurentian, a distinct branch of the family.  

Montreal during the French colonial period 

• The first European to reach the area was Jacques 

Cartier on October 2, 1535. Cartier visited the 

villages of Hochelaga (on Montreal Island) and 

Stadacona (near modern Quebec City), and noted 

others in the valley which he did not name. He 

recorded about 200 words of the people's language.  

Seventy years after Cartier, explorer Samuel de Champlain 

travelled to Hochelaga, but the village no longer existed, nor 

was there sign of any human habitation in the valley. At times 
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historians theorized that the people migrated west to the Great 

Lakes (or were pushed out by conflict with other tribes, 

including the Huron), or suffered infectious disease. Since the 

1950s, other theories have been proposed. The Mohawk had 

most to gain by moving up from New York into the Tadoussac 

area, at the confluence of the Saguenay and St. Lawrence 

rivers, which was controlled by local Montagnais.  

Champlain decided to establish a fur trading post at Place 

Royal on the Island of Montreal, but the Mohawk, based mostly 

in present-day New York, successfully defended what had by 

then become their hunting grounds and paths for their war 

parties. It was not until 1639 that the French created a 

permanent settlement on the Island of Montreal, started by tax 

collector Jérôme le Royer de la Dauversière. Under the 

authority of the Roman Catholic Société Notre-Dame de 

Montréal, missionaries Paul Chomedey de Maisonneuve, Jeanne 

Mance and a few French colonists set up a mission named Ville 

Marie on May 17, 1642 as part of a project to create a colony 

dedicated to the Virgin Mary. In 1644, Jeanne Mance founded 

the Hôtel-Dieu, the first hospital in North America north of 

Mexico.  

Paul Chomedey de Maisonneuve was governor of the colony and 

on January 4, 1648, he granted Pierre Gadois (who was in his 

fifties) the first concession of land - some 40 acres 

(160,000 m). In 1650, Grou family, the lineage of historian 

Lionel Groulx, arrived from Rouen, France, and established a 

land holding known as Coulée Grou which is today 

encompassed by the borough Rivière-des-Prairies–Pointe-aux-

Trembles. In November 1653, another 140 Frenchmen arrived 

to enlarge the settlement.  
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By 1651, Ville-Marie had been reduced to less than 50 

inhabitants by repeated attacks by the Mohawk. Maisonneuve 

returned to France that year to recruit 100 men to bolster the 

failing colony. He had already decided that should he fail to 

recruit these settlers, he would abandon Ville-Marie and move 

everyone back downriver to Quebec City. (Even 10 years after 

its founding, the people of Quebec City still thought of 

Montreal as "une folle entreprise" - a crazy undertaking.) These 

recruits arrived on 16 November 1653 and essentially 

guaranteed the evolution of Ville Marie and of all New France. 

In 1653 Marguerite Bourgeoys arrived to serve as a teacher. 

She founded Montreal's first school that year, as well as the 

Congrégation de Notre-Dame, which became mostly a teaching 

order. In 1663, the Sulpician seminary became the new 

Seigneur of the island.  

The first water well was dug in 1658 by settler Jacques 

Archambault, on the orders of Maisonneuve.  

Ville Marie would become a centre for the fur trade and the 

town was fortified in 1725. The French and Iroquois Wars 

threatened the survival of Ville-Marie until a peace treaty (see 

the Great Peace of Montreal) was signed at Montreal in 1701. 

With the Great Peace, Montreal and the surrounding 

seigneuries (Terrebonne, Lachenaie, Boucherville, Lachine, 

Longueuil, ...) could develop without the fear of Iroquois raids.  

Though Quebec was the capital and thus the centre of 

government activity, Montreal also served a key administrative 

function in New France. Along with Quebec and Trois-Rivières, 

Montreal was considered a district of the colony. Before the 

cour de la jurisdiction royale was established in 1693, the 
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seminary of St Sulpice had administered justice. Montreal also 

had a local governor who represented the governor general and 

a commissaire de la marine who acted as the intendant's 

representative. While most government positions were 

appointed, Montreal and the other districts did have some 

element of democracy, if only briefly. Syndics were elected 

representatives who attended meetings of the council of 

Quebec and the Sovereign Council. However, the syndics had 

little authority and could only raise the concerns of their 

district's residents. 

This office existed from 1647 until it was eliminated in the 

1670s due to government fears over the potential formation of 

political factions; in lieu of syndics, citizens brought their 

issues to the commissaire de la marine. Because of their 

importance to Montreal and New France, merchants were 

allowed to establish chambers of commerce called bourses and 

meet regularly to discuss their concerns. A bourse would have 

collectively chosen a representative to address these issues 

with the governor and commissaire de la marine.  

Population of Montreal 

• The Population of the Island of the Montreal during 

French rule consisted of both native peoples and the 

French. When the first census was conducted in the 

colony in 1666, the French population was 659 with 

an estimated native population of 1000. According to 

the sources, this was the only point when the native 

population was higher than the French population on 

the Island of Montreal. By 1716, the French 

population had grown to 4,409 people while the 
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native population was 1,177. The French Population 

of Montreal began slowly through migration. In 1642 

a party of 50 Frenchmen representing the Societe de 

Notre Dame de Montreal pour la conversion des 

Sauvages de la Nouvelle France set foot on the island 

that the Compagnie des Cent Associes donated. The 

initial settlement had 150 individuals in the first ten 

years; few remained for long because the site of 

Montreal was vulnerable to Iroquois attacks. 

Migration to Montreal increased thereafter; between 

1653 and 1659, 200 persons arrived. Eventually 

approximately 1200 to 1500 migrants settled on the 

island of Montreal between 1642 and 1714; 75% 

remained and half of them came before 1670. 

Migrants came from different regions of France: 65 

percent of the migrants were rural; 25 percent of the 

migrants were from the largest cities of France; 10 

percent from smaller urban communities. 

These migrants came from different groups the largest of which 

were indentured servants, they were half of the males, 

excluding those still in service that potentially could go home. 

By 1681, indentured labour had seen its heyday in both the 

colony and in Montreal, only religious communities and the 

richest supported engages who performed agricultural labour. 

Another prominent group of French migrants was soldiers who 

accounted for a fifth of all migrants. Soldiers who came in the 

early part of the colony's history became the notable residents 

of Ville-Marie, and eventually Montreal. Migrants from a 

miscellaneous background, who paid their own way to the 

colony, were an additional fifth of the migrants to Montreal. 

Women also came to the colony, ¾ of all women were single, 



Pre–United States History: 1600–1699, Volume 3 

638 

 

and looking for a husband, these were truly permanent 

residents since single women and whole families did not intend 

to return to France. The thirty-one girls who arrived in 

Montreal with the 1653 and 1659 married within the year, 

some within weeks of landing. Between 1646 and 1717, 178 

French girls were married on the Island of Montreal, 20 

percent of the overall permanent settlers. During this period 

the merchant population was relatively small, a hundred came. 

This was because Quebec City was the primary place for 

merchants to migrate to; all the merchants who came to 

Montreal were related to a resident or another merchant.  

During the 17th century there were drastic changes in the 

demographics of Montreal. In 1666, 56 percent of the 

population were newcomers to Montreal; by 1681, 66% of 

Montreal was native-born. There was a male to female sex ratio 

of 163:100 in 1666, by 1681 it was 133:100. Although, the 

population of Montreal was still dominated by males, the 

female population grew. 

The rural proportion represented two-thirds in the first 40 

years. However, by 1715-1730 the urban proportion was about 

45 percent. Data from 1681 to 1739 show that the point of 

equilibrium was reached around 1695, with males accounting 

for 51.6 percent of the population. This percent of the 

population was maintained until 1710, through migration that 

was predominantly male. The infant mortality rates in Montreal 

grew from 9.8% in 1676 to 18.0% to 1706–1715. Illegitimacy 

rate for Montreal was 1.87 percent higher than the rest of 

colony due to the status of the Montreal as a garrison town; 

some unwed mothers from the countryside would abandon 

their children in the town. Despite some differences in the 
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pattern of population in comparison to the rest of the colony, 

Montreal's population developed at approximately the same 

rhythm as that of the whole colony. In the 18th century, the 

population grew at an even rate of 2.5 percent per annum until 

1725 when the growth rate decreased to 0.7 percent per 

annum.  

Economy of Montreal 

In the 17th century, Montreal acted as a point of trans-

shipment and a stopover on the passage to the interior. Due to 

the rapids upriver from Montreal, free sailing through the 

Saint-Laurence ended in Montreal. Portages inland were then 

taken. This effectively made Montreal a major distribution 

centre rather than a mere trading post. Pelts and merchandise 

were stocked for distribution inland and out. Montreal lacked 

moorings in the 17th century, forcing trans-Atlantic vessels 

with larger capacity to unload at Quebec. Goods from Quebec 

had to be transported by river between the two towns until the 

construction of a road in 1735. Montreal remained subservient 

to Quebec due to its isolation. Trade between Montreal and 

France remained indirect.  

Not long after its establishment, Montreal provided for its own 

subsistence. However, the colony was still dependent on 

France for a range of finished products, iron, and salt. 

Montreal's principal import, before the end of the 17th 

century, was finished fabric. The seigneurs of Montreal who 

owned large flock organized the manufacture and sale of their 

wool to compensate for the imports. To the contrary, in the 

early 18th century, for peasants who kept their own sheep and 

grew flax, production was limited to their own needs. This led 
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to few weavers and a left no more than 5% of textiles sold in 

Montreal to be manufactured locally. Louise Dechene states: 

"There was no market-oriented production of fabrics and, 

understandably no import of raw materials."  

Guns, shot, bullets, and powder represented 15% of imported 

cargo. The presence of guns meant that colonies retained the 

services of blacksmiths, or arquebusiers, to repair guns, 

manufacture bullets, and perform other duties to relieve 

dependence on imports. 4-5% of imports were kettles. The 

kettle at this time took the form of an "easily transportable 

large copper cauldron". Knives, scissors, and awls had to be 

imported. Local production of these items did not begin until 

approximately 1660. By 1720, all iron tools could be purchased 

exclusively from colonial blacksmiths. Small stocks of 

glassware, porcelain, and china were imported as well.  

Soon after the founding of the Montreal, when the population 

numbered 8, the Company of One Hundred Associates gave the 

city's trading rights up to the colonial merchants. The colonial 

merchants at Montreal formed the "Communaute des 

Habitants". Both Indians and Coureurs de Bois supplied furs. 

The company remained profitable until the Iroquois Wars, 

where it slipped into semi-bankruptcy. In 1664, The 

Communaute des Habitants" at Montreal was taken over by the 

French West India Company. The "compagnie de la colonie" (as 

the French West India Company were referred to) had 

significant scale of operations and capital. While the Iroquois 

Wars did limit trade for a time the Natives were still a lot of 

trade to be had with them. For example, the Island of Montreal 

did not have a large native population, but 80,000 natives lived 

within an 800-kilometre radius of Montreal.  
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These natives would come to Montreal on occasion to 

participate in economic activity. One of these occasions 

happened every August, as Montreal welcomed hundreds of 

member of various nations to an annual fur fair which 

dwindled after 1680; as many as 500 to 1000 natives would 

attend to get better prices than the voyageurs would offer, and 

the governor would meet them for a ceremony. They would stay 

outside of town until late September. There were also some 

natives who lived on the island and in the settlement of 

Montreal as permanent residents. There were a couple 

missions founded in Montreal for natives, such as the 1671 La 

Montagne Mission by the Sulpicians and the Jesuit at Sault-

Saint-Louis (Kahnawake). 

The mission population rose in the 18th century through 

natural increase and some newcomers; between 1735 and 

1752, Kahnawake contained about 1000 people, as did Lac-

des-duex-Montagnes. Montreal had some natives residing 

within the settlement, even if it was temporary, the Jesuits 

recorded 76 baptisms in 1643 of native children, and this 

continued to be recorded until 1653. Despite the presence of 

natives in the settlement of Montreal there seems to be very 

little intermixing with only seven registered mixed marriages in 

Montreal, though the number of actually mixed marriages was 

probably slightly higher. Native slaves were also a reality in 

Montreal, there were about 50 or so slaves recorded on the 

island of Montreal in 1716. Therefore, the presence of Natives 

was definitely necessary for trade, but the Natives were never 

really integrated into the city of Montreal itself.  

Very little information exists on how the colony of Montreal 

obtained foodstuffs before 1663. The town of Montreal was too 
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small to act as an important internal market. Though 

habitants came to Montreal to sell their goods (such as eggs, 

chickens, vegetables, and other goods), it was never a regional 

distribution centre for grain. Furthermore, despite a surplus of 

unsold wheat at the colony, flour and lard were still regularly 

imported to feed French troops during the seventeenth century. 

The ineffective use of the wheat surplus remained a 

contentious issue for the habitants in Montreal and the royalty 

in France. An intendant explained that: "The habitants do not 

grow hemp because they get nothing for it. Wool is plentiful, 

but there is no market. 

They have enough to ensure their subsistence, but since they 

are all in the same position, the cannot make any money, and 

this prevents them from meeting other needs and keeps them 

so poor in winter that we have been told that there are men 

and women who wander about practically naked."  

In the eighteenth century, Montreal was central to the illegal 

trade of furs. The illegal fur trade can be defined as the "export 

of furs to any destination other than France". French 

merchants carried furs were carried down the Richelieu River 

to English, Dutch, and the converted Jesuit Iroquois at Albany. 

The contraband was buried outside the walls of Montreal at the 

request of merchants in order to avoid more loyal French eyes. 

Furs were traded illegally between Quebec and Albany, however 

these instances were less extensive than the illegal trade 

between Quebec and France or Boston. Some estimates place 

the furs being illegally traded from Montreal to roughly half or 

two-thirds of total fur-production at the beginning of the 

1700s. Later in the century, records appear to be silent. The 

presence of English supplies amongst the Iroquois during the 
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period, among other reasons, is given as proof of a continued 

existence of the illegal fur trade between colonies.  

The design of Montreal 

• The organization and building of towns in New 

France attempted to continue the history of France 

and had similar designs to the homes and buildings 

of France. Originally with the lack of stone and the 

plentiful number of lumber cites like Montreal were 

almost completely made with wooden buildings 

designed in the French style. These buildings 

completely relied on the use of classic French 

building techniques and many of the craftsmen 

refused to use anything other than sawn and 

squared lumber. This caused the natives such as the 

Iroquoians to view the building methods of the 

colonists as odd as almost all of their building was 

done with unfinished materials such as branches, 

bark and tree trunks. The buildings in the city of 

Montreal remained wooden until the year 1664 when 

Louis XIV declared the colony an officially recognized 

province.  

This declaration led to the introduction of ‘king’s engineers’ to 

New France and to Montreal. This led to actual city layout 

planning and a shift to stone buildings as well. The 

government of Montreal helped plan the layout of the city; 

several aspects of the design of the city in the French colonial 

period are still present. The Sulpicians, who became the 

seigneurs of Montreal in 1663, perhaps played the largest role 

in the early formation of the city. The Sulpicians helped design 
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Montreal's chequerboard city plan decided upon in 1671 and 

with the help of the king's engineers the establishment of stone 

buildings also began. For example, Father Superior of the 

Sulpicians Dollier de Casson and surveyor Bénigne Basset 

originally planned Rue Notre Dame to be the main street of 

Montreal in 1672. The designers themselves were all similar to 

the Father Superior not architects by profession and so the 

engineers worked closely with the religious order to design and 

build Montreal. Casson for example also designed the Old 

Sulpician Seminary, the oldest standing building in Montreal 

and home to the oldest gardens in North America, in 1684.  

The lack of architects led to the lack of classical metropolitan 

form common in France and so many buildings had more basic 

designs. The workers did improve however and as stonemasons 

became more skilled and stone more available stone buildings 

became more common. Stonemasons became the men in charge 

when in came to building as their resource was of the highest 

demand and what ever could be done without stone was, this 

had some unfortunate side effects though as fires in Montreal 

became common. When more stone was used, the issue arose 

of cracking as the cold and heat expansion stressed the stone 

this led to the discovery of a basic plan, which worked for the 

environment and uniformity in buildings. 

The roofs in Montreal were designed to be of a sharp pitch and 

they were topped not with slate, which common in France, but 

were uncommon in Montreal, and they used cedar shingles and 

the cheaper method of Canadian-style sheet metal roofing. The 

Château Ramezay, which was built in 1705 as the residence for 

then-Governor Claude de Ramezay was built with these 

building styles.  
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Canadian-specific architecture in Montreal began to evolve and 

form after the fire ordinances in 1721, as wood was removed as 

much as possible from dwellings and left buildings almost 

completely stone. This also eliminated the common wooden 

fashionable extras and designs common in France. This caused 

only churches truly to have any form of decoration on them 

and caused many of the colonial buildings to be plain. This 

lack of artistic expression to demonstrate wealth caused many 

of the wealthy simply to build larger buildings to demonstrate 

their greatness. This caused a large boom in the demand for 

stone and an increase in the size of Montreal.  

French military history of Montreal 

• In 1645, a fort was established on the island of 

Montreal and this was the beginning of Montreal's 

military history. The fort was key and effective in 

repelling the raids of the Iroquois and would become 

a station for soldiers for years to come. After the 

arrival of Maisonneuve in the Second Foundation in 

1653, Montreal became a front for activity 

throughout New France and a key launching point 

for expeditions into the frontier. Montreal did not 

become reinforced however until after the 

establishment of New France as a province and the 

welcoming of the ‘king’s engineers’ who came with 

the military reinforcements. Many of the expeditions 

who went out to explore Ontario and the Ohio River 

Valley would start in Montreal, but much of the time 

in the beginning they would not make it far or they 

would be forced to return by hostile native 

forces.During the early 1700s, many military 
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expeditions left from Montreal to finally deal with the 

Hostile natives and to strengthen alliances with the 

Native allies. This led to one of the most significant 

events to occur in Montreal during this period was 

the Great Peace of 1701. The conference took place 

in August and was between the French and 

representatives of thirty-nine different Aboriginal 

nations. For the conference an estimated 2000-3000 

people (including roughly 1300 native delegates) 

entered a theatre south of Pointe-à-Callière to listen 

to speeches given by French leaders and native 

chiefs. The French engaged in many Aboriginal 

gestures of peace, including the burying of hatchets, 

the exchange of wampum belts, and the use of peace 

pipes. While the French signed their names using 

their alphabet, the Aboriginal leaders notably used 

totem symbols to sign the treaty. 

The Great Peace resulted in an end to the Iroquois Wars and, 

according to historian Gilles Havard, "ostensibly (brought) 

peace to the vast territory extending from Acadia in the East to 

the Mississippi in the west, and from James Bay in the north 

to Missouri in the south". 

The French had hoped to form a military frontier with their 

Native allies along the borders on New France against the 

advancing British colonies. The military thus established many 

forts along the ‘borders’ down the Ohio Valley into New 

Orleans. Many of these such as Detroit relied on Montreal to 

reinforce them with supplies and military men furthering 

Montreal's military involvement and development.  
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Due to the importance of Montreal to New France the city 

walls, a double wall 6.4 metres tall and over three kilometres 

long was erected in 1737 (after twenty years of construction) to 

protect the city. Only some of the base of the wall remains 

today. This helped make Montreal the most militarily capable 

town in New France, and so when the seven years war started 

Montreal was declared the military headquarters for operations 

in the North American Theatre. As the military headquarters, 

the number of military men in Montreal began to increase and 

the town itself was further expanded and stressed Montreal for 

supplies.  

In 1757 the number of soldiers and natives stationed in 

Montreal had gotten so great that Pierre de Rigaud de 

Vaudreuil the Governor of New France realized they needed to 

take action on a campaign or the army and the town would 

begin to suffer from starvation. This led to the great campaign 

of 1757 and with his large force of native allies and the 

bronzed soldiery of France General Louis-Joseph de Montcalm 

moved the large force out of Montreal and left a garrison in its 

place, relieving the pressure on the city to supply the military 

slightly. Montcalm was very successful in his military efforts 

keeping spirits in Montreal high and the people hopeful. After 

his victory at Carillon, 

Montcalm returned to Montreal; having just defeated 16,000 

British forces Montcalm seemed to be in a good position. This 

would prove false, because of Montcalm's lack of troops in 

comparison to the British. Learning of an invasion coming over 

the Saint Laurence, Montcalm took his forces to reinforce 

Quebec City. Montcalm would die there and Quebec City would 

be lost, which caused a major shock in Montreal as it now 
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seemed they were doomed and though the city was also briefly 

established as the capital, but with three British armies 

headed for it, the town would not last long. In September 1760, 

the French forces finally capitulated to the British and the 

French colonial rule ended in Montreal.  

British rule and the American Revolution 

Ville-Marie remained a French settlement until 1760, when 

Pierre de Rigaud, marquis de Vaudreuil-Cavagnial surrendered 

it to the British army under Jeffery Amherst after a two month 

campaign. With Great Britain's victory in the Seven Years' War, 

the Treaty of Paris in 1763 marked its end, with the French 

being forced to cede Canada and all its dependencies to the 

other nation.  

As a British colony, and with immigration no longer limited to 

members of the Roman Catholic religion, the city began to grow 

from British immigration. American Revolutionists under 

General Richard Montgomery briefly captured the city during 

the 1775 invasion of Canada but left when it became obvious 

they could not hold Canada. Often having suffered loss of 

property and personal attacks during hostilities, thousands of 

English-speaking Loyalists migrated to Canada from the 

American colonies during and after the American Revolution. 

In 1782, John Molson estimated the population of the city at 

6,000. The government provided most with land, settling them 

in what became Upper Canada (Ontario) to the west, as well as 

Nova Scotia and New Brunswick to the east. The first 

Protestant church in Montreal was St. Gabriel's, established by 

a Presbyterian missionary in 1792. With 19th-century 

immigration, more and more English-speaking merchants and 
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residents continued to arrive in what had by then become 

known as Montreal. Soon the main language of commerce in 

the city was English. The golden era of fur trading began in the 

city with the advent of the locally owned North West Company, 

the main rival to the primarily British Hudson's Bay Company. 

The first machine shop in Montreal, owned by one George Platt, 

was in operation before 1809. The census of 1821 numbered 

18,767 residents.  

The town's population was majority Francophones until around 

the 1830s. From the 1830s, to about 1865, it was inhabited by 

a majority of Anglophones, most of recent immigration from the 

British Isles or other parts of British North America. Fire 

destroyed one quarter of the town on May 18, 1765.  

Scottish contributions 

Scottish immigrants constructed Montreal's first bridge across 

the Saint Lawrence River and founded many of the city's great 

industries, including Morgan's, the first department store in 

Canada, incorporated within the Hudson's Bay Company in the 

1970s; the Bank of Montreal; Redpath Sugar; and both of 

Canada's national railroads. The city boomed as railways were 

built to New England, Toronto, and the west, and factories 

were established along the Lachine Canal. Many buildings from 

this time period are concentrated in the area known today as 

Old Montreal. Noted for their philanthropic work, Scots 

established and funded numerous Montreal institutions, such 

as McGill University, the Literary and Historical Society of 

Quebec, the High School of Montreal, and the Royal Victoria 

Hospital.  
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The City of Montreal 

Montreal was incorporated as a city in 1832. The city's growth 

was spurred by the opening of the Lachine Canal, which 

permitted ships to pass by the unnavigable Lachine Rapids 

south of the island. As the capital of the United Province of 

Canada from 1844 to 1849, Montreal attracted more English-

speaking immigrants: Late Loyalists, Irish, Scottish, and 

English. The population of Montreal grew from 40,000 in 1841 

to 57,000 a decade later.  

Riots led by Tories led to the burning of the Provincial 

Parliament. Rather than rebuild, the government chose Toronto 

as the new capital of the colony. In Montreal the Anglophone 

community continued to build McGill, one of Canada's first 

universities, and the wealthy continued to build large 

mansions at the foot of Mount Royal as the suburbs expanded.  

Long before the Royal Military College of Canada was 

established in 1876, there were proposals for military colleges 

in Canada. Staffed by British Regulars, adult male students 

underwent a 3-month-long military course in Montreal in 1865 

at the School of Military Instruction in Montreal. 

Established by Militia General Order in 1865, the school 

enabled Officers of Militia or Candidates for Commission or 

promotion in the Militia to learn Military duties, drill and 

discipline, to command a Company at Battalion Drill, to Drill a 

Company at Company Drill, the internal economy of a Company 

and the duties of a Company's Officer. The school was retained 

at Confederation, in 1867. In 1868, The School of Artillery was 

formed in Montreal.  
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American Civil War 

Montréal's status as a major inland port with direct 

connections to Britain and France made it a valuable asset for 

both sides of the American Civil War. While Confederate troops 

secured arms and supplies from the friendly British, 

Union soldiers and agents spied on their activity while 

similarly arranging for weapons shipments from France. John 

Wilkes Booth spent some time in Montréal prior to 

assassinating President Lincoln, and in one case was said to 

have drunkenly gallivanted throughout the city telling anyone 

who would listen of his plan to kill Lincoln. Almost all took 

him to be a fool. After the War, President of the Confederacy 

Jefferson Davis stayed at a manor house located at the current 

site of The Bay on Sainte-Catherine's Street West; a plaque 

commemorating the site was installed on the West wall of the 

building, on Union Avenue, in 1957 by the United Daughters of 

the Confederacy. The plaque was removed in 2017.  

Industrialization 

The Lachine Canal and major new businesses linked the 

established port of Montreal with continental markets and led 

to rapid industrialization during the mid-19th century. The 

economic boom attracted French Canadian labourers from the 

surrounding countryside to factories in satellite cities such as 

Saint-Henri and Maisonneuve. Irish immigrants settled in 

tough working-class neighbourhoods such as Pointe-Saint-

Charles and Griffintown, making English and French linguistic 

groups roughly equal in size. The growing city also attracted 

immigrants from Italy, and Eastern Europe.  
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In 1852, Montreal had 58,000 inhabitants and by 1860, 

Montreal was the largest city in British North America, and it 

was the undisputed economic and cultural centre of Canada. 

From 1861 to the Great Depression of 1930, Montreal 

developed in what some historians call its Golden Age. Saint 

Jacques Street became the most important economic centre of 

the Dominion of Canada. 

The Canadian Pacific Railway made its headquarters there in 

1880, and the Canadian National Railway in 1919. At the time 

of its construction in 1928, the new head office of the Royal 

Bank of Canada at 360 St. James Street was the tallest 

building in the British Empire. With the annexation of 

neighbouring towns between 1883 and 1918, Montreal became 

a mostly Francophone city again. The tradition of alternating 

between a francophone and an anglophone mayor began, 

lasting until 1914.  

Montreal shared control of the Canadian securities market with 

Toronto from the 1850s to the 1970s causing a persistent 

rivalry between the two. The financiers were Anglophones. 

However both cities were overshadowed by London and later 

New York, for they had easy access to these much larger 

financial centres.  

1914–1939 

Montrealers volunteered to serve in the army in the early days 

of World War I, but most French Montrealers opposed 

mandatory conscription and enlistment fell off. After the war, 

the Prohibition movement in the United States turned Montreal 

into a destination for Americans looking for alcohol. Americans 
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went to Montreal for its drinking, gambling, and prostitution, 

unrivalled in North America at this time, which earned the city 

the nickname "Sin City".  

Montreal had a population of 618,000 in 1921, growing to 

903,000 in 1941.  

The twenties saw many changes in the city and the 

introduction of new technologies continued to have a 

prominent impact. The introduction of the car in large 

numbers began to transform the nature of the city. The world's 

first commercial radio station, XWA began broadcasting in 

1920. 

A huge mooring mast for dirigibles was constructed in St. 

Hubert in anticipation of trans-Atlantic lighter-than-air 

passenger service, but only one craft, the R-100, visited in 

1930 and the service never developed. However, Montreal 

became the eastern hub of the Trans-Canada Airway in 1939.  

Film production became a part of the city activity. Associated 

Screen News of Canada in Montreal produced two notable 

newsreel series, "Kinograms" in the twenties and "Canadian 

Cameo" from 1932 to 1953. 

The making of documentary films grew tremendously during 

World War II with the creation of the National Film Board of 

Canada, in Montreal, in 1939. By 1945 it was one of the major 

film production studios in the world with a staff of nearly 800 

and over 500 films to its credit including the very popular, 

"The World in Action" and "Canada Carries On", series of 

monthly propaganda films. Other developments in the cultural 

field included the founding of Université de Montréal in 1919 
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and the Montreal Symphony Orchestra in 1934. The Montreal 

Forum, built in 1924 became the home ice rink of the fabled 

Montreal Canadiens hockey team.  

Dr. Wilder Penfield, with a grant from the US Rockefeller 

Foundation founded the Montreal Neurological Institute at the 

Royal Victoria Hospital (Montreal), in 1934 to study and treat 

epilepsy and other neurological diseases. Research into the 

design of nuclear weapons was conducted at the Montreal 

Laboratory of the National Research Council of Canada during 

World War II.  

Great Depression 

Unemployment was high during the Great Depression in 

Canada in the 1930s. Canada began to recover from the Great 

Depression in the mid-1930s, and real estate developers began 

to build skyscrapers, changing Montreal's skyline. The Sun Life 

Building, built in 1931, was for a time the tallest building in 

the British Commonwealth. During World War II its vaults were 

used as the hiding place for the gold bullion of the Bank of 

England and the British Crown Jewels.  

With so many men unemployed women had to scrimp on 

spending to meet the reduced family budget. About a fourth of 

the workforce were women, but most women were housewives. 

Denyse Baillargeon uses oral histories to discover how 

Montreal housewives handled shortages of money and 

resources during the depression years. Often they updated 

strategies their mothers used when they were growing up in 

poor families. Cheap foods were used, such as soups, beans 

and noodles. They purchased the cheapest cuts of meat—
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sometimes even horse meat and recycled the Sunday roast into 

sandwiches and soups. They sewed and patched clothing, 

traded with their neighbours for outgrown items, and kept the 

house colder. New furniture and appliances were postponed 

until better days. 

These strategies, Baillargeon finds, show that women's 

domestic labour—cooking, cleaning, budgeting, shopping, 

childcare—was essential to the economic maintenance of the 

family and offered room for economies. Most of her informants 

also worked outside the home, or took boarders, did laundry 

for trade or cash, and did sewing for neighbours in exchange 

for something they could offer. Extended families used mutual 

aid—extra food, spare rooms, repair-work, cash loans—to help 

cousins and in-laws. Half of the Catholic women defied Church 

teachings and used contraception to postpone births—the 

number of births nationwide fell from 250,000 in 1930 to 

about 228,000 and did not recover until 1940.  

Second World War 

Canada declared war on Germany in September 1939, and the 

result was an economic boom that ended the last traces of 

depression. Mayor Camillien Houde protested against 

conscription. 

He urged Montrealers to ignore the federal government's 

registry of all men and women because he believed it would 

lead to conscription. The federal government at Ottawa, 

considering Houde's actions treasonable, incarcerated him in a 

prison camp in Petawawa, Ontario, for over four years, from 

1940 until 1944. That year the government instituted 
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conscription in order to expand the armed forces to confront 

the Axis Powers. (see Conscription Crisis of 1944).  

The Quiet Revolution and 

the modernization of Montreal 

By the beginning of the 1960s, a new political movement was 

rising in Quebec. The newly elected Liberal government of Jean 

Lesage made reforms that helped francophone Quebecers gain 

more influence in politics and in the economy, thus changing 

the city. More francophones began to own businesses as 

Montreal became the centre of French culture in North 

America.  

From 1962 to 1964, four of Montreal's ten tallest buildings 

were completed: Tour de la Bourse, Place Ville-Marie, the CIBC 

Building and CIL House. Montreal gained an increased 

international status due to the World's Fair of 1967, known as 

Expo 67, for which innovative construction such as Habitat 

was completed. During the 1960s, mayor Jean Drapeau carried 

upgraded infrastructure throughout the city, such as the 

construction of the Montreal Metro, while the provincial 

government built much of what is today's highway system. Like 

many other North American cities during these years, Montreal 

had developed so rapidly that its infrastructure was lagging 

behind its needs.  

In 1969, a police strike resulted in 16 hours of unrest, known 

as the Murray Hill riot. Police were motivated to strike because 

of difficult working conditions caused by disarming separatist-

planted bombs and patrolling frequent protests and wanting 
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higher pay. The National Assembly of Quebec passed an 

emergency law forcing the police back to work. By the time 

order was restored, 108 people had been arrested.  

The 1976 Summer Olympics, officially known as the "Games of 

the XXI Olympiad", held in Montreal, was the first Olympics in 

Canada. The Games helped introduce Quebec and Canada to 

the rest of the world. The entire province of Quebec prepared 

for the games and associated activities, generating a 

resurgence of interest in amateur athletics across the province. 

The spirit of Québec nationalism helped motivate the 

organizers; however, the city went $1 billion into debt.  

Quebec Independence Movement 

At the end of the 1960s, the independence movement in 

Quebec was in full swing due to a constitutional debate 

between the Ottawa and Quebec governments. Radical groups 

formed, most notably the Front de libération du Québec (FLQ). 

In October 1970, members of the FLQ's "Liberation Cell" 

kidnapped and murdered Pierre Laporte, a minister in the 

National Assembly, and also kidnapped James Cross, a British 

diplomat, who was later released. The Prime Minister of 

Canada, Pierre Trudeau, ordered the military occupation of 

Montreal and invoked the War Measures Act, giving 

unprecedented peacetime powers to police. The social unrest 

and related events became known as the October Crisis of 

1970.  

Sovereignty was addressed through the ballot box. The Parti 

Québécois held two referendums on the question, in 1980 and 

in 1995. During those decades, about 300,000 English-
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speaking Quebecers left Quebec. The uncertain political 

climate caused substantial social and economic impacts, as a 

significant number of Montrealers, mostly Anglophone, took 

their businesses and migrated to other provinces. The extent of 

the transition was greater than the norm for major urban 

centres. With the passage of Bill 101 in 1977, the government 

gave primacy to French as the only official language for all 

levels of government in Quebec, the main language of business 

and culture, and the exclusive language for public signage and 

business communication. In the rest of Canada, the 

government adopted a bilingual policy, producing all 

government materials in both French and English. The success 

of the separatist Parti Québécois caused uncertainty over 

Quebec's economic future, leading to an exodus of corporate 

headquarters to Toronto and Calgary.  

In recent years, Quebecois Independence has had a surge of 

popularity as the Bloc Québécois, the leading Quebecois 

separatist party, won 7.7% of the vote in the 2019 election 

which is a 63% increase from the 2015 election.  

Economic recovery 

During the 1980s and early 1990s, Montreal experienced a 

slower rate of economic growth than many other major 

Canadian cities. By the late 1990s, however, Montreal's 

economic climate had improved, as new firms and institutions 

began to fill the traditional business and financial niches.  

As the city celebrated its 350th anniversary in 1992, 

construction began on two new skyscrapers: 1000 de La 

Gauchetière and 1250 René-Lévesque. Montreal's improving 
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economic conditions allowed further enhancements of the city 

infrastructure, with the expansion of the metro system, 

construction of new skyscrapers, and the development of new 

highways, including the start of a ring road around the island. 

The city attracted several international organisations that 

moved their secretariats into Montreal's Quartier International: 

International Air Transport Association (IATA), International 

Council of Societies of Industrial Design (Icsid), 

International Council of Graphic Design Associations 

(Icograda), International Bureau for Children's Rights (IBCR), 

International Centre for the Prevention of Crime (ICPC) and the 

UNESCO Institute for Statistics (UIS). With developments such 

as Centre de Commerce Mondial (World Trade Centre), Quartier 

International, Square Cartier, and proposed revitalization of 

the harbourfront, Montreal is regaining its international 

position as a world-class city. 
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